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KHD HUMBOLDT WEDAG INTERNATIONAL LTD.  

DEAR FELLOW SHAREHOLDERS  

The year 2005 was a year of transition for KHD Humboldt Wedag International Ltd. (“KHD”). We have been transforming ourselves from a 
financial services company to a global industrial plant engineering company. Given the more attractive multiples of publicly traded companies 
in the engineering and industrial plant equipment field, we believe this change will realize the greatest value for our shareholders. Accordingly, 
we have now set out to better align KHD with this peer group. Our strategy is to establish KHD as a competitive, financially strong global 
industrial plant engineering company well positioned for sustainable growth, with low-cost bases of operations in India and China to service 
our markets, and a focus on matching the capital market ratings of our peers.  
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PEER GROUP  
                                  
Company comparison   Andritz AG     FLSmidth & Co. A/S     Sinoma International     KHD Humboldt Wedag   
                Co. Ltd     International Ltd   
    FY 31.12.     FY 31.12.     6 MNS.     FY 31.12.   
FOR THE YEAR ENDED   31.12.2005     31.12.2005     30.06.2005     31.12.2005   
  

Shares outstanding      12,839,237       53,200,000       168,000,000       13,635,384 (2) 

Shareholders’  equity (’000 US$)      389,328       378,235       85,611       244,259 (2) 

Sales (’000 US$)      2,065,699       1,663,412       199,577       819,976   
Net income (’000 US$)      95,023       77,453       9,428       29,332   
Market capitalization (1) (’000 US$)      1,779,748       1,992,351       335,432       298,615   
Book value per share (US$)      30.32       7.11       0.51       17.91   
Price / Book value per share (1)      4.57       5.85       4.03       1.22   
Price / Earnings per share (1)      18.85       25.72       35.58       10.23   

(1)   Market share value as of March 24, 2006 
  

(2)   The table does not reallocate 1,571,128 KHD shares held by Mass through its subsidiaries. 
  

    The shares had a book value of US $9.3 million, which had been eliminated and deducted from shareholders’  equity. 
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BUSINESS SEGMENTS AND RESULTS  

As a combined company, before the distribution of our subsidiary, Mass Financial Corp. (“Mass”), we had two reportable business segments: 
industrial and engineering services, and financial services. These segments became independent as of January 31, 2006. The following data 
summarize our combined results for the year ended December 31, 2005. We have also summarized our results for the industrial and 
engineering business segment. The financial statement amounts in US dollars have been translated from the audited financial statements which 
are reported in Canadian dollars. All dollar amounts presented here are US dollars. For easy comparison, all amounts were translated from 
euros to dollars at an exchange rate of 1.1841; we have also re-translated the 2004 euro conversion rate from the 1.3536 rate used in the third 
quarter report to 1.1841.  

FINANCIAL RESULTS  

For the year ended December 31, 2005, total revenues increased to $820.0 million from $579.7 million in the previous year. Revenues from our 
industrial and engineering services business increased to $341.8 million in 2005 from $165.4 million in 2004. Revenues from our financial 
services business, the majority of which was distributed to shareholders effective January 31, 2006, as part of Mass, were $478.2 million in 
2005, versus $414.3 million in 2004.  

Net income for 2005 decreased to $29.3 million, or $2.14 per share on a diluted basis, from $30.7 million, or $2.24 per share on a diluted basis, 
in the prior year. Total expenses for the year increased to $782.1 million, compared to $547.8 million in the previous year. Margins in the 
financial services segment, the majority of which is now part of Mass, were 9.9 percent in 2005. And gross margins for the industrial and 
engineering service business were 18.2 percent. The income before taxes and minority interests for 2005 from our industrial and engineering 
business was $26.2 million, compared to $14.2 million for 2004 and for the now separated financial services, Mass, net income was 
$4.0 million net.  

Revenues for the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2005, increased to $202.5 million, compared to $171.6 million in the fourth quarter of 
2004. Net income for the 2005 fourth quarter decreased to $4.9 million, or $0.36 per share, compared to $6.3 million, or $0.46 per share in the 
same quarter last year. Total expenses for the fourth quarter of 2005 increased to $195.8 million, compared to $165.9 million in the same 
quarter last year. The industrial and engineering services segment revenues for the fourth quarter increased to $107.4 million from 
$53.1 million in the prior year; for the financial services segment, fourth quarter revenues decreased to $95.0 million from $118.4 million for 
the year-earlier period.  

The following tables are a summary of selected financial information for the periods indicated:  
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(U.S. dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)   
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31   2005     2004   
(Unaudited)   
  
Revenues    $ 819,976     $ 579,731   
Net income      29,332       30,701   
Net income per share                  

Basic      2.16       2.27   
Diluted      2.14       2.24   

                  
(U.S. dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)   
THREE MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31   2005     2004   
(Unaudited)   
  
Revenues    $ 202,487     $ 171,564   
Net income      4,907       6,347   
Net income per share                  

Basic      0.36       0.47   
Diluted      0.36       0.46   
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KHD HUMBOLDT WEDAG INTERNATIONAL LTD.  

LIQUIDITY  

We have achieved strong liquidity and acceptable financial ratios. At December 31, 2005, working capital was $209.4 million; we had total 
assets of $523.1 million, and our long-term debt to equity ratio was 0.03. We also had lines of credit for performance bonds for the industrial 
and engineering in the amount $108.5 million and lines of credit for the financial services in the amount of $123.1 million.  

SEGMENT INFORMATION  

This segment information should help in better understanding our future. In 2005 KHD operated in two reportable business segments: 
industrial and engineering services and financial services. These segments are independent as of January 31, 2006.  

     We have summarized on a pro forma basis the results of the industrial and engineering business sector.  
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(U.S. dollars in thousands, except per share amount and ratios)   
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31   2005     2004   
(Unaudited)   
  
Cash and cash equivalents    $ 194,313     $ 179,231   
Short-term securities      16,265       17,542   
Working capital      209,360       181,095   
Total assets      523,054       501,579   
Long-term debt, less current portion      6,253       11,950   
Shareholders’  equity      244,259       223,849   
Book value per share      17.91       16.49   
Current ratio      1.98       1.86   
Long-term debt to equity ratio      0.03       0.05   

                                  
(U.S. dollars in thousands, except per share amount)                 
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31   2005     2004   
(Unaudited)   Industrial and     Total     Industrial and     Total   
    Engineering           Engineering         
  
Revenues from external customers    $ 341,775     $ 819,976     $ 165,414     $ 579,731   
Inter-segment revenues      260       2,741       100       1,054   
Interest expense — External      3,618       7,776       2,940       6,184   
Interest expense — Inter-segment      406       1,240       66       892   
Income before taxes and minority interests      26,187       37,880       14,171       31,917   
Income before taxes and minority interests per share, diluted      1.90       2.75       1.03       2.31   
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KHD HUMBOLDT WEDAG INTERNATIONAL LTD.  

GROWTH PROSPECTS  

We anticipate accelerated internal growth, particularly in the Chinese coal and minerals market, North American cement market and the 
Russian cement, coal and minerals markets, where the recent conversion of the company’s presence from sales offices to operating companies 
will allow expanded access to local markets. Additional growth is anticipated in these and all of our markets, particularly India, as we expand 
our product lines by acquiring additional technologies and strategic alliances. The move to low-cost business bases for all phases of our 
operations is underway. We are also exploring acquisition targets to complement this internal growth strategy.  

The following data summarizes growth in our industrial plant equipment sector in 2005: order intake increased by 41%, with 43% coming from 
the emerging Asia/Pacific region, 32% from the Middle East and 19% from the Americas. Order backlog increased by 42%. Sales increased by 
81%. Before tax income increased by 117%.  

ORDER INTAKE AND BACKLOG  

Order intake is defined as the total value of all orders received during the respective period, while order backlog is the value of orders received 
but not yet fulfilled. The positive trend established in the last few years for these key performance indicators continued to increase in fiscal 
2005. Order intake increased by over 40%, to $394.3 million, compared to $280.6 million for fiscal 2004. Our order backlog at the end of fiscal 
2004 stood at $225.0 million, and increased 42% to $318.4 million by the close of 2005.  

Certain characteristics of the order intake and backlog are noteworthy. All of the orders this year show the strategic shift in the company’s 
policy, designed to minimize risk by focusing on core business: i.e., equipment design and supply contracts as opposed to turn-key contracts. 
The geographic distribution of the orders is also significant. The growth market of Asia accounted for 43% of order intake in 2005, followed by 
32% in the Middle East and 19% in the Americas.  
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SUMMARY OF ORDER BACKLOG AT DECEMBER 31, 2005  
          
PROJECT   PROJECT LOCATION   SUBJECT 
  

Yanbu Zm3    Middle East   Cement mill 
Zaveh Torbat    Middle East   Cement production line 3,500 t/d 
Sichuan Ya Dong    Asia   Cement production line 4,200 t/d 
Jiangxi 3    Asia   Cement production line 4,200 t/d 
Sichuan Klinkermahl    Asia   Clinker grinding plant with rollerpress 20.170/180 
Illinois    N/S America   Construction and Equipment 
J P Himachal    Asia   Kiln Line 10 000 t/d 
Chettinad    Asia   Cement grinding plant + rollerpress 10-140/110 
Grasim Dadri    Asia   Roller Press 
J P Himachal Grinding    Asia   Cement grinding plant with rollerpress (3 Line) 
Myhome Cement    Asia   Kiln Line 
Shree Cement    Asia   Clinker grinding plant with rollerpress 
CNSAL    Middle East   Capacity increase from 2000 to 3800 t/d 
Sterlitamak Service    Russia   Service contract 
Guandi    Asia   4x Pneuflots 
Guandi 2    Asia   2 Romjigs 
Dafeshi    Asia   2 Romjigs 
Snim    Pacific   Rollerpress 
Listwjashnaja    Russia   Coal Plant 
Argyle (ADM)    Australia   Tyre set 
Bushan    Asia   Coal washery plant 
Nurkasgan    Kazakhstan   2 Rollerpresses 
National Cement    Middle East   Cement production line 3,500 tpd 
Bolu Cimento    Middle East   SFG system with express 
Aberthaw (Service)    Europe   Repan 
Diamanante (service)    N/S America   Roller replacement 
Continental    N/S America   Engineering 
Lafarge    N/S America   2V separators and equipment 
Shree Cement    Asia   Clinker grinding plant with rollerpress 
Ashakacem    Asia   Heat exchanger and tucker elevator 
Gassim Batiada    Asia   Clinker grinding plant with rollerpress 
Panbei    Asia   1 Romjigs 
Gubei    Asia   1 Romjigs 
Longgu    Asia   3 Romjigs 
Wangfengang    Asia   4x Pneuflots 
Duro Felguera    N/S America   8x Jones DP 
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SALES AND INCOME  

In addition to the marked increases in order intake and backlog, sales increased to $303.6 million in 2005, an improvement of 81% over 2004. 
Income before taxes increased 117%.  

CEMENT  

We have seen strong growth in order intake and sales, and expect this trend to continue in 2006. Sales of the Cement Business Unit increased 
from $89 million in 2003 to $151.1 million in 2004, and from that level, increased a further 79% to $270.8 million in 2005.  

CEMENT ORDER INTAKE  

The cement market continued to accelerate in 2005. Capacity demands increased throughout all markets with the exception of Europe. Cement 
order intake for fiscal 2003 was $143.2 million. This rose to $251.3 million in 2004, and from there increased by 31% to $328.2 million in 
2005. The most significant growth was in North America, where our American subsidiary’s share of total order intake increased from 4% in 
2004 to 18% in 2005. Our Indian subsidiary’s order intake share showed an identical growth rate. North American forecasts for 2006 indicate 
increased order intakes; India also shows indications of continued growth in the domestic market, and more importantly in the export market as 
well.  

CEMENT BACKLOG  

The cement order backlog was up 27% at the end of fiscal 2005. The order backlog at our American subsidiary, which had represented only 2% 
of the 2004 total, increased to 14% of the 2005 total. Similarly, our Indian subsidiary had accounted for 7% of the 2004 backlog, but this 
increased to 19% in 2005. As noted in the order intake discussion, these trends are expected to accelerate in 2006.  

COAL AND MINERALS SALES  

Coal and minerals business accounted for sales of $18.9 million in 2004, increasing to $31.9 million in 2005.  

COAL AND MINERALS ORDER INTAKE AND BACKLOG  

Order intake trends demonstrate the strength of this market. KHD’s order intake for coal and minerals plant amounted to $28.8 million in 2004. 
This rose to $65.8 million by the end of 2005, an increase of 128%.  
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HIGHLIGHTS  

Management recognizes that we must make a sustained effort to pursue this transition strategy.  
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�   In November, MFC Bancorp Ltd. communicated its new industrial focus to the capital markets by changing its name to KHD Humboldt 
Wedag International Ltd. 

  

�   To create a more efficient structure to improve retained earnings, we established a new holding structure in Austria, including the transfer 
of most of the KHD Humboldt Wedag GmbH operating companies into this structure. 

  

�   We realigned the company’s licensing and research and development activities early in 2006 in order to enhance the ongoing development 
of the technology and the availability of sufficient funds for this purpose. 

  

�   We established a group treasury and investment system to enhance financial benefits. 
  

�   In January 2006, substantially all of the non-industrial assets and operations were transferred to Mass and distributed by means of a non-
taxable distribution to our shareholders. Mass intends to create new value for our shareholders by focusing exclusively on the growth and 
development of financial services. 

  

�   We implemented our profit margin improvement plan through the expanded use of low-cost business bases in India. 
  

�   In March 2006, KHD appointed a new Chief Executive Officer and President, Jim Busche, a seasoned professional with strong and 
relevant experience in the highly engineered industrial plant business. Mr. Busche will lead the company’s globalization efforts and growth 
initiatives, succeeding Michael Smith, who will continue as Chairman of the Board. 

  

�   Jim Busche hired two executives based in New Delhi, India: one assigned to lead a merger and acquisition effort, the other to lead the 
technology transfer initiative with the objective of developing qualified engineering, procurement and manufacturing capacities in low-cost 
bases. 
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MILESTONE PROJECT IN INDIA  

Over the years KHD has successfully met a diverse set of customer requirements. Many of the facilities that we have built have established 
milestones in the construction of cement plants and equipment worldwide. Earlier this year, we achieved another milestone when Jaiprakash 
Associates Limited of New Delhi, formerly Jaypee Cement Limited, awarded KHD the contract for the engineering and supply of a new 10,000 
tonne/day clinker plant in the environmentally sensitive Baga/Malokar region of India. This project, known as Himachal Pradesh, is a major 
step for the Indian cement industry, the client, and the KHD Group.  

The kiln line will be India’s largest clinker production plant, one of the largest kiln lines in the world, and a confirmation of the KHD Group’s 
position as a supplier of kiln lines of any capacity. The KHD design will encompass features to enable the plant to accommodate a wide range 
of secondary fuels, as well as increasing the heat supplied by these fuels from 15% to 40%. Five months after awarding KHD this prestigious 
project, the client chose KHD’s grinding technologies over competing technologies, and awarded KHD contracts for three clinker grinding 
plants.  

REVITALIZING “DORMANT” PRODUCT LINES  

KHD is finding ways utilize some of our older technologies as a very cost-effective re-entry into markets that previous management abandoned 
for a variety of reasons. A recent example of the merits of this strategy is the Hammer Crusher. For many years, the KHD Hammer Crusher 
was a successful product, albeit just one part of the crushing process. KHD had abandoned development efforts on this product, and during that 
period other firms developed complete crushing process technologies. One such firm, Hazemag of Germany, became very successful. 
However, a portion of the market has material characteristics requiring a hammer crusher. In these cases, Hazemag was at a disadvantage 
compared to its competitors.  

Hazemag and KHD have entered into an agreement whereby we provide all our designs to Hazemag, and Hazemag invests substantial R&D in 
the Hammer Crusher to incorporate the latest technologies. The new and improved Hammer Crusher design then becomes part of the Hazemag 
product line, and Hazemag markets the crusher either as an individual component or as part of their system. KHD retains the right to 
manufacture the crusher, plus we receive a royalty. These opportunities to obtain increased market share will come to KHD without requiring 
any further investment. KHD has also explored similar opportunities for other legacy products such as magnetic separators. In December, this 
strategy succeeded in securing an order for eight Jones Magnetic Separators from a minerals client in Venezuela.  

EXPANDING LOW-COST OPERATIONS, CONTROLLING RISK  

KHD has made great strides in developing Asian offices to meet most of the anticipated increase in capacity requirements. Over the past four 
years we have dramatically increased our staff in India. In China, we have made the transition from a Representative Office structure to a 
wholly owned foreign enterprise. As such we are now an operating company with the ability to develop engineering and service staff and 
contract directly for local services. Other subsidiaries may now directly access these low-cost alternatives.  

In 2005, KHD also embarked on a new, modern, formal and extensive global risk program. We developed and formalized new procedures with 
the help of external consultants, and initiated a professional recruitment effort  

12  
LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS  

   



Table of Contents  

  

13  
LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS  

   



Table of Contents  

  

14  
LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS  



   



Table of Contents  

KHD HUMBOLDT WEDAG INTERNATIONAL LTD.  

to identify and hire an experienced manager. In March 2006, this effort achieved success when our CEO appointed a Global Head of Risk 
based in Vienna.  

NEW JOINT VENTURE IN RUSSIA  

The Russian cement, coal and minerals markets hold great potential, and the company has been active and successful in these markets for 
decades through its representative office in Moscow. The acquisition of Zab Industrietechnik & Service GmbH in Dessau shortly after 
Germany’s reunification provided KHD with a Russian-educated work force to service that market. The Russian market for additional capacity 
is now expanding dramatically. There is also a need to replace existing capacity with more energy-efficient and environmentally compliant 
facilities.  

To enhance our ability to capitalize on this expanding market, we established a formal joint venture with Rusoprom. Through this joint 
venture’s operating company, KHD will be able to directly contract with local, in-country sources for detailed design and fabrication of its 
industrial plant equipment.  

RECENT COMMERCIALIZATION OF R&D PROJECT  

Recent research and development efforts culminated in 2005 with the commercialization of KHD’s newest product, the PYROFLOOR ® 

clinker cooler. We introduced this new cooler design at the industry’s IEEE meeting in Kansas City, and followed up with a demonstration of 
the first machine at KHD’s facilities in Cologne prior to its delivery to a client in Russia for operation. The new cooler introduces a 
combination of proven technologies, such as walking floors and cross-flow cooling, enhanced by patented self-regulating aeration valves, 
elimination of cast parts, and almost no wear surfaces. The cooler has been designed on a modular basis and is therefore economically 
adaptable to a broad range of plant sizes. The new cooler design has many advantages over traditional designs, including reduced height 
requirements, minimal installation time and costs, high thermal efficiency, minimal wear, and reduced maintenance. The first unit is currently 
being installed at a new plant in Russia. The initial Russian order was followed by two orders for the new cooler in early 2006: one in Italy and 
one in Turkey.  

TRANSITIONS IN 2006  

To continue capitalizing on our strong business base, to complete our globalization efforts and to move forward aggressively with a growth and 
diversification strategy, further renovation of the corporate team from one with financial restructuring and services expertise to one with 
appropriate industry expertise and hands-on low-cost operational skills is required. The India-based professionals will be responsible for 
implementing a technology transfer and training program, as well as aggressively developing and implementing an acquisition initiative and 
creating strategic alliances in Asia.  

BUSINESS UNITS  

We have two key business units: Cement, and Coal and Minerals. These are engineering businesses specializing in the design, manufacture and 
sale of equipment used in cement production, coal beneficiation and minerals processing. We also have business interests in German real 
estate, but intend to rationalize those assets.  

The Cement Business Unit is currently the dominant business unit, accounting for approximately 89% of KHD’s 2005 industrial plant 
revenues. We expect greater growth and diversity in our coal and minerals business.  
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OVERVIEW OF KHD HUMBOLDT WEDAG HISTORY  

In May of this year our German subsidiary will celebrate 150 years of history and tradition. Over the last 50 years in particular, KHD has 
built an international network of subsidiaries and offices.  
      
1856    Founding of Humboldt as a manufacturer of mining machinery 
       
1930    Merger with Humboldt Deutz Motoren AG 
       
1938    Renamed as Klöckner-Humboldt-Deutz AG, or KHD 
       
1952    Established Humboldt Wedag Australia Ltd. 
       
1964    Established Humboldt Wedag India Ltd. 
       
1972    Acquired Wedag AG, Bochum, Germany 
       
1974    Established Humboldt Wedag, Inc., Atlanta, USA 
       
1977    Established Humboldt Wedag (South Africa) Ltd. 
       
1979    Renamed the company KHD Humboldt Wedag AG 
       
1982    Opened a representative office in Beijing, China 
       
1991    Opened a representative office in Moscow, Russia 
       
1994    Acquisition of Zab Industrietechnik & Service GmbH 
       
1995    Opened a representative office in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia 
       
2001    Acquisition by Fahr Beteiligungen AG 
       
2002    Investment by the MFC Group 
       
2004    KHD Humboldt Wedag GmbH becomes a subsidiary of MFC Group 
       
2005    Restructuring as part of KHD Humboldt Wedag International Ltd. 
       
2006    Distributed the financial services sector to our shareholders as Mass Financial Corp. 
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BUSINESS ACTIVITIES: CEMENT  

Over the past five years, KHD has shifted its services away from turn-key erection and commissioning business, focusing instead on its core 
strengths of design, engineering, manufacturing, erection and commissioning of plants worldwide. Except for certain specialty machines, KHD 
has either purchased equipment locally or out-sourced construction to its specifications at facilities in the project’s host country, under terms 
similar to, or more stringent than, those required by the customer.  

We are a major world provider of design, engineering, erection and commissioning of cement plant equipment, and provide both new cement 
plants and upgrading of existing plants. We have built over 450 cement plants and installed over 5,000 machinery units around the world. Our 
global network of subsidiaries, representative offices and highly experienced international sales teams position KHD advantageously to 
capitalize on market opportunities.  

Specific services provided by KHD include plant design (i.e. arrangement and layout), equipment design and development, engineering 
services (i.e. process, electrical and mechanical) and automation services. In the erection and commissioning phases, KHD ensures that 
production lines or portions of plants function as specified. We will also train customer personnel on site as required. While we maintain 
minimum manufacturing capacity in Cologne for production of specialized grinding equipment as well as some critical spare parts and testing, 
the manufacturing of most products is increasingly outsourced to lower-cost providers and project host countries according to KHD 
specifications. Our strategic plan calls for expansion of manufacturing capacity in these low-cost operating bases.  

We provide these services against irrevocable letters of credit, with prepayment and subsequent payment milestones designed to maintain 
positive cash flow throughout the project. We can provide these services  
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KHD HUMBOLDT WEDAG INTERNATIONAL LTD.  

either directly to the owner, as part of a team that includes equipment specialists in the complementary fields of materials transport, blending, 
storage and packing, or as part of an overall turn-key team which would include members specializing in civil design and construction 
management. The company’s strategic approach to the market is to be the leading supplier of innovative, environmentally compliant and 
energy-efficient technologies focused on reduced operating and maintenance costs.  

CEMENT PRODUCTS AND SERVICES  

KHD meets a diverse set of customer requirements, and many of the facilities we have designed have set high standards in the construction of 
cement plants and equipment worldwide. Our product range focuses on grinding and pyro-process technologies. The grinding technologies are 
utilized in raw material, clinker and finished cement grinding, while the pyro-process equipment includes pre-heaters, kilns, burners and the 
clinker cooler. This equipment represents approximately 55% of the equipment value chain of a typical cement plant. We have also developed 
a range of systems automation products, including process control systems and equipment optimization products.  
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SIAM CEMENT PUBLIC CO. LTD. THAILAND 

  

• 

  

5,500 t/day plant 

  

• 

  

State-of-the-art technology integrated into an environmentally protected area 

           

  

YANBU CEMENT CO. LTD. SAUDI ARABIA 

  

• 

  

7,000 t/day clinker production 

  

• 

  

Largest production line in the Gulf region 

           

 

  

LAFARGE ALABAMA, USA 

  

• 

  

4,200 t/day clinker production 

  

• 

  

Low Nox Calciner with top air duct 
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BUSINESS ACTIVITIES: COAL AND MINERALS  

KHD’s services in the coal and minerals sector focus on grinding, sorting and dewatering technology applications. We have enjoyed a 
particularly strong performance history with our coal and minerals equipment business in China, India, Russia, Australia and South Africa, 
some of the most attractive world markets for coal and minerals processing plants. Order intake for the coal and minerals sector increased by 
128% last year, from $28.8 million in 2004 to $65.8 million in 2005.  

COAL  

KHD has supplied equipment to 140 coal plants worldwide. The service focus is sorting, and the applications are primarily jigs, screens, 
centrifuges and flocculent products.  

MINERALS  

We initially developed the roller press for cement applications, specifically clinker and finished cement grinding, utilizing the comminution 
process. After successfully introducing the technology in the cement sector, KHD began to commercially market it for applications in the 
minerals industry. Extensive field testing and demonstration projects were required due to the conservative nature of the minerals mining 
community. These efforts began to bear fruit, with orders from the copper, iron ore, gold, and diamond mining communities. Today, KHD 
roller presses can be found at mines in North and South America, Africa, Scandinavia, Asia and Australia.  

COAL AND MINERALS PRODUCTS AND SERVICES  

The Coal and Minerals unit provides its coal customers with machines and complete plants for coal separation, and supplies machines and plant 
components for the beneficiation of ore and minerals with a special focus on crushing, grinding and separation. Customers are coal preparation 
plants, power stations, and coal and minerals mines.  

Over the past 20 years, the design of the roller press has evolved based on operating experience and feedback from clients. The wear surfaces 
of today’s machines are designed to suit specific material applications and incorporate features to improve change-out efficiencies. Industry 
participation in research and development efforts has served to improve designs as well as form the basis for KHD’s customer support 
program. KHD also has four pilot plants operating in Europe, Asia and Australia for demonstration and testing purposes. On occasion, these 
plants are leased to industry groups for independent testing programs.  

STAFF  

KHD’s total worldwide staff stood at 1,235 as of December 31, 2005. In Germany, there is an office located in Cologne as well as a small 
fabrication shop and a test center, with additional engineering offices in Dessau and Bochem. There are 497 staff in Germany. In India the 
major cement design staff are located in New Delhi, while the coal and minerals staffs are primarily located in Calcutta. There are 310 staff in 
India.  
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Our engineering capacity is currently substantially below demand and this requires that we outsource certain engineering services. Given the 
present high level of order intake, the company expects this capacity gap to continue for the foreseeable future.  

We recognize that maintaining and expanding market share requires an aggressive, competitive posture and improved efficiencies in order to 
maintain margins. To this end, we have implemented a transition strategy whereby training and technology are improving efficiency while 
engineering capacity growth is concentrated in lower-cost bases of operations, in particular India, as opposed to the historic center in Germany. 
As previously noted, an executive has been made responsible for expanding and accelerating this transfer program, including increased 
outsourcing in low-cost areas and establishing strategic alliances.  

COMPETITORS  

KHD has two different types of competitors in the Cement Business Unit: complete-line competitors that provide either a similar or an even 
broader range of equipment services to the cement industry as KHD, and partial-line competitors that focus on a smaller range of equipment 
and technologies.  

Complete-line competitors  

The market for cement equipment is dominated by three globally active complete-line suppliers. These are the FL Smidth Group of Denmark, 
Polysius AG based in Germany, and Sinoma International in China.  

Part-line competitors  

KHD principally competes with three part-line competitors: Claudius Peters Group GmbH active in clinker cooling, and both Loesche GmbH 
and Gebrüder Pfeiffer AG, which focus on raw materials and finished grinding.  
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FINANCIAL SERVICES  

During 2005, we operated in two business segments: industrial and engineering services and financial services. As a result of corporate 
reorganization, our financial services subsidiary, Mass, held all of our financial services business except for MFC Merchant Bank and our 
royalty interest in an iron ore mine. On January 31, 2006, we distributed all of the issued and outstanding common shares of Mass to our share-
holders. Following the distribution, Mass operates as a separate company. We include an unaudited consolidated balance sheet and 
consolidated income statement of the separated companies with this report.  
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(U.S. dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)             
DECEMBER 31, 2005             
(Unaudited)             
ASSETS   KHD     Mass   
                  
Current                  
Cash and cash equivalents    $ 194,313     $ 26,185 (1) 

Restricted cash      22,016       32   
Securities      16,265       2,880   
Loans      10,638       8,500   
Receivables, commodities transactions      10,450       10,450   
Receivables, industrial and engineering services      34,588       0   
Receivables      25,533       6,468   
Commodity investments      24,356       24,356   
Inventories      38,641       2,071   
Real estate held for sale      27,479       729   
Contract deposits, prepaid and other      11,201       296   
Future income tax assets      7,594       632   
     

        
  

Total current assets      423,074       82,599   
Non-current                  
Securities      7,893       7,166   
Loans      9,436       0   
Property, plant and equipment      10,835       558   
Resource property      30,312       0   
Goodwill      12,987       3,779   
Equity method investments      16,021       15,153   
Future income tax assets      12,496       0   
     

        
  

Total non-current assets      99,980       26,656   
     

        
  

     $ 523,054     $ 109,255   
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(U.S. dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)  
DECEMBER 31, 2005             
(Unaudited)             
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’  EQUITY   KHD     Mass   
                  
Current liabilities                  
Accounts payable and accrued expenses    $ 159,628     $ 29,274   
Notes payable, commodities transactions      9,890       9,890   
Notes payable, industrial and engineering service      2,944       0   
Long-term debt, current portion      1,606       200   
Pension liabilities      1,489       0   
Deposits      17,327       0   
Provision for warranty costs      20,527       0   
Future income tax liability      303       57   
    

  

Total current liabilities      213,714       39,421   
Long-term liabilities                  
Long-term debt, less current portion      6,253       869   
Pension liabilities      25,584       0   
Provision for warranty costs      4,427       0   
Future income tax liability      10,154       0   
Other long-term liabilities      575       0   
    

  

Total long-term liabilities      46,993       869   
    

  

Total liabilities      260,707       40,290   
Minority interests      18,088       1,907   
Shareholders’  equity (2)      244,259       67,058 (3)(4) 
    

  

     $ 523,054     $ 109,255   
    

  

Notes: 
  

(1)   Mass had $10,035 deposit with MFC Merchant Bank. 
  

(2)   The table does not reallocate 1,571,128 KHD shares held by Mass through its subsidiaries. 
    The shares had a book value of $9,330, which had been eliminated and deducted from shareholders’  equity. 
  

(3)   The net assets separated are paid for with preferred shares issued of Mass as disclosed in our Form 6-K filing of January 25, 2006. 
  

(4)   The value of a common share of Mass as determined by an independent valuation as of January 31, 2006 is in the range of $0.50 per 
share - $0.76 per share. 

  

(5)   All intercompany transactions have been eliminated. 
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(U.S. dollars in thousands)             
DECEMBER 31, 2005             
(Unaudited)   KHD     Mass   
                  
Revenue                  
Financial services revenue    $ 478,201     $ 463,210   
Industrial and engineering services      341,775       4,092   
    

  

       819,976       467,302   
    

  

Expenses                  
Financial services      430,992       427,264   
Industrial and engineering services      279,637       711   
General and administrative      63,691       30,152   
Interest      7,776       3,931   
    

  

       782,096       462,058   
    

  

  
Income from operations before income taxes and minority interests      37,880       5,244 (2) 

Provision for income taxes      (2,710 )     (530 ) 
    

  

Income from operations before minority interests      35,170       4,714   
Minority interests      (5,838 )     (684 ) 
    

  

Net income    $ 29,332     $ 4,030 (2) 
    

  

Notes: 
  

(1)   All intercompany transactions have been eliminated. 
  

(2)   Business segment information shows an income from operations before income taxes and minority interests of $13.0 million for the 
financial services segment, which included our banking subsidiary and our passive interest in an iron ore mine. Mass shows an income 
from operations before income taxes and minority interests of $5.2 million and a net income of $4.0 million, which do not include the 
financial services revenues to be retained by KHD. 
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A STRATEGY TO ENHANCE SHAREHOLDER VALUE  

In the last year, KHD changed from a financial services company to a global industrial plant engineering company. We have set a course and 
taken steps to achieve the attractive multiples of publicly traded companies in the highly engineered industrial plant and equipment industry, as 
we believe that this strategy promises the greatest value for our shareholders. Concurrently, we have provided an additional opportunity for our 
shareholders with the distribution of the financial services business. As a result of our sizable order backlog position, our company enters 2006 
positioned for growth. The new corporate and management structures enable us to identify and implement an acquisition program designed to 
expand our business, diversify our products and services, and enter new geographic growth markets.  

We will continually review the effectiveness of our strategy, ensuring that it reflects and supports our commitment to enhancing shareholder 
value.  

Respectfully submitted,  

  

Michael J. Smith  
Chairman of the Board  
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PART I  

      This annual report contains forward-looking statements as that term is defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. 
These statements relate to future events or our future financial performance. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by 
terminology such as “may”, “will”, “should”, “expects”, “plans”, “anticipates”, “believes”, “estimates”, “predicts”, “potential” or “continue” or 
the negative of these terms or other comparable terminology. These statements are only predictions and involve known and unknown risks, 
uncertainties and other factors, including the risks in the section entitled “Risk Factors”, that may cause our or our industry’s actual results, 
levels of activity, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, levels of activity, performance or 
achievements expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements.  

      Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future results, 
levels of activity, performance or achievements. Except as required by applicable law, including the securities laws of the United States, we do 
not intend to update any of the forward-looking statements to conform these statements to actual results.  

      As used in this annual report, the terms “we”, “us” and “our” mean KHD Humboldt Wedag International Ltd. and its subsidiaries, unless 
otherwise indicated.  

      Unless otherwise indicated, all dollar amounts referred to herein are in Canadian dollars.  

      Not applicable.  

      Not applicable.  

A.     Selected Financial Data  

      The following table summarizes selected consolidated financial data for our company prepared in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted accounting principles for the five fiscal years ended December 31, 2005. Additional information is presented to show the differences 
which would result from the application of United States generally accepted accounting principles to our financial information. For a 
description of the difference between Canadian generally accepted accounting principles and United States generally accepted accounting 
principles, see Note 23 to our consolidated financial statements included in this annual report. The information in the table was extracted from 
the detailed consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this annual report and should be read in conjunction with 
such  

3  

ITEM 1 Identity of Directors, Senior Management and Advisers 

ITEM 2 Offer Statistics and Expected Timetable 

ITEM 3 Key Information 



Table of Contents  

financial statements and with the information appearing under the heading “Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects”.  

Selected Financial Data  
(Stated in Canadian dollars — Calculated in accordance with Canadian GAAP)  

(In thousands, other than per share amounts)  

Fiscal Years Ended December 31  

Selected Financial Data  
(Stated in Canadian dollars — Calculated in accordance with U.S. GAAP)  

(In thousands, other than per share amounts)  

Fiscal Years Ended December 31  

      A reconciliation to United States generally accepted accounting principles is included in Note 23 to the audited consolidated financial 
statements. Significant differences include accounting for available for sale securities, an allocation of fair value between debt and equity 
components upon issuance of convertible debt, and deferral of gain on reduction of interest in subsidiary.  

4  

                                            

    2005   2004   2003   2002   2001 
                      

    (Audited) 
Revenues    $ 956,010     $ 697,764     $ 409,513     $ 284,339     $ 214,246   
Net income      34,197       36,951       49,116       50,755       45,288   
Net income per share                                          
  Basic      2.51       2.73       3.76       3.93       3.59   
  Diluted      2.50       2.70       3.59       3.70       3.35   
Total assets      609,831       603,699       404,577       446,574       394,639   
Net assets      305,872       298,731       223,273       291,041       249,118   
Long-term debt, total      9,162       22,556       33,297       68,798       98,000   
Shareholders’  equity      284,783       269,421       218,447       285,290       245,997   
Capital stock      72,847       71,512       61,891       70,269       76,673   
Cash dividends      —      —      —      —      —  
Cash dividends per share      —      —      —      —      —  
Weighted average common stock outstanding, fully diluted (in 

thousands of shares)      13,755       13,818       14,129       14,170       14,002   

                                            

    2005   2004   2003   2002   2001 
                      

    (Audited) 
Revenues    $ 956,010     $ 697,764     $ 409,513     $ 284,339     $ 212,000   
Net income      25,314       36,973       49,116       50,755       43,211   
Net income per share                                          
  Basic      1.86       2.73       3.76       3.93       3.42   
  Diluted      1.85       2.70       3.59       3.70       3.20   
Total assets      610,250       604,243       401,235       445,342       391,489   
Net assets      295,338       297,581       218,401       289,809       245,968   
Long-term debt, total      9,271       22,680       33,297       68,798       98,000   
Shareholders’  equity      274,249       268,271       213,575       284,058       242,847   
Capital stock      72,847       71,512       61,891       70,269       76,673   
Cash dividends      —      —      —      —      —  
Cash dividends per share      —      —      —      —      —  
Weighted average common stock outstanding, fully diluted (in 

thousands of shares)      13,755       13,818       14,129       14,170       14,002   

Reconciliation to United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
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      The following table sets out exchange rates, based on the noon buying rates in New York City for cable transfers in foreign currencies as 
certified for customs purposes by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, for the conversion of Canadian dollars into U.S. dollars in effect at 
the end of the following periods, the average exchange rates during such periods (based on daily noon buying rates in New York City) and the 
range of high and low exchange rates for such periods:  

      The following table sets out the high and low exchange rates, based on the noon buying rate in New York City for the conversion of 
Canadian dollars into U.S. dollars, for the following periods:  

      On March 17, 2006, the noon buying rate in New York City for the conversion of Canadian dollars into U.S. dollars was $0.8630 per 
Canadian dollar.  

      The presentation of selected financial information in this annual report in U.S. dollars is unaudited and for informational purposes only and 
information in this annual report is translated to U.S. dollars for convenience using year-end exchange rates, as required by Regulation  S-X of 
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  

      Not applicable.  

      Not applicable.  

      Much of the information included in this annual report includes or is based upon estimates, projections or other “forward looking 
statements”. Such forward looking statements include any projections or estimates made by our company and our management in connection 
with our business operations. While these forward-looking statements, and any assumptions upon which they are based, are made in good faith 
and reflect our current judgment regarding the direction of our business, actual results will almost always vary, sometimes materially, from any 
estimates, predictions, projections, assumptions or other future performance suggested herein.  

      Such estimates, projections or other forward looking statements involve various risks and uncertainties as outlined below. We caution the 
reader that important factors in some cases have affected and, in the future, could materially affect actual results and cause actual results to 
differ materially from the results expressed in any such estimates, projections or other forward looking statements.  

      An investment in our common stock involves a number of risks. You should carefully consider the following risks and uncertainties in 
addition to other information in this annual report in evaluating our  
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Disclosure of Exchange Rate History 

                                          

    Years Ended December 31, 
      

    2005   2004   2003   2002   2001 
                      

End of period      0.8577       0.8310       0.7738       0.6329       0.6279   
High for period      0.8751       0.8493       0.7738       0.6619       0.6697   
Low for period      0.7853       0.7177       0.6349       0.6200       0.6241   
Average for period      0.8254       0.7682       0.7138       0.6368       0.6457   

                  

    High   Low 
          

2005                  
September      0.8630       0.8378   
October      0.8599       0.8387   
November      0.8590       0.8349   
December      0.8751       0.8508   
2006                  
January      0.8794       0.8479   
February      0.8809       0.8610   
March 1 to March 15      0.8850       0.8584   

B. Capitalization and Indebtedness 

C. Reasons for the Offer and Use of Proceeds 

D. Risk Factors 
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company and our business before purchasing shares of our company’s common stock. Our business, operating and financial condition could be 
harmed due to any of the following risks. The risks described below are not the only ones facing our company. Additional risks not presently 
known to us may also impair our business operations.  

      During our year ended December 31, 2005, we operated two business segments consisting of an industrial and engineering services 
business and a financial services and merchant banking business. As a result of a corporate reorganization of our company in January 2006, we 
reorganized our financial services and merchant banking business in a series of internal corporate restructuring transactions. Following the 
reorganization, Mass Financial Corp., formerly named Sutton Park International Limited, held all of our company’s financial services and 
merchant banking business except for MFC Merchant Bank S.A. (and its Swiss affiliates) and our royalty interest in an iron ore mine. On 
January 31, 2006, we distributed all of the issued and outstanding shares of common stock of Mass Financial, respecting our financial services 
and merchant banking business, to our shareholders. Consequently, with the exception of certain activities carried on by MFC Merchant Bank 
and our royalty interest in an iron ore mine, our risk factors in this annual report relate solely to our business as an industrial and engineering 
services business.  

      The industrial and engineering services industry is cyclical in nature. It tends to reflect and be amplified by general economic conditions, 
both domestically and abroad. Historically, in periods of recession or periods of minimal economic growth, the operations underlying industrial 
and engineering companies have been adversely affected. Certain end-use markets for clinker, cement and coal, such as the industrial and 
commercial sectors, experience demand cycles that are highly correlated to the general economic environment, which is sensitive to a number 
of factors outside of our control. A recession or a slowing of the global economy, or a decrease in commercial and industrial demand for our 
services and products, could have a material adverse effect on our financial results. In addition, during recessions or periods of slow growth, 
the construction industries typically experience major cutbacks in production which may result in decreased demand for our services. Because 
we generally have high fixed costs, our profitability is significantly affected by decreased output and decreases in requests for the design and 
construction of plants or equipment that produce or process clinker, cement, clean coal and various minerals. Reduced demand and pricing 
pressures will adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. We not able to predict the timing, extent and duration of the 
economic cycles in the markets in which we operate.  

      Breakdown of equipment or other events, including catastrophic events such as natural disasters, leading to interruptions at any of our 
facilities or at any of the facilities or areas at which we are providing services, could have a material adverse effect on our financial results. 
Further, because many of our customers are, to varying degrees, dependent on planned deliveries, customers that are forced to reschedule their 
own production due to such delays could pursue financial claims against us. We may incur costs to correct any of these events, in addition to 
facing claims from customers or third parties dependent upon the delivery of our services or products. Further, if any of these events occur and 
we are forced to delay the delivery of our services, then our reputation among actual and potential customers may be harmed, potentially 
resulting in a loss of business. While we maintain insurance policies covering, among other things, physical damage, business interruptions and 
product liability, these policies may not cover all of our losses and we could incur uninsured losses and liabilities arising from such events, 
including damage to our reputation, loss of customers and suffer substantial losses in operational capacity, any of which could have a material 
adverse effect on our financial results.  

      In conducting our business in major markets around the world, we are, and will continue to be, subject to financial, business, political, 
economic, legal, operational and other risks that are inherent in operating in other countries. We operate on a global basis, in both developed 
and underdeveloped countries. In addition to the  
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Risk Factors Relating to Our Industrial and Engineering Business 

A downturn in the economy could reduce the demand for our industrial and engineering services and therefore may have a material 
adverse effect on our financial results. 

Any significant disruption of our operations may harm our business reputation and cause an adverse effect on our financial results. 

We are exposed to political, economic, legal, operational and other risks as a result of our global operations, which may negatively effect 
our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flow. 
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business risks inherent in developing a relationship with a newly emerging market, economic conditions may be more volatile, legal and 
regulatory systems less developed and predictable, and the possibility of various types of adverse governmental action more pronounced. In 
addition, inflation, fluctuations in currency and interest rates, competitive factors, civil unrest and labour problems could affect our revenues, 
expenses and results of operations. Our operations could also be adversely affected by acts of war, terrorism or the threat of any of these events 
as well as government actions such as expropriation, controls on imports, exports and prices, tariffs, new forms of taxation or changes in fiscal 
regimes and increased government regulation in the countries in which we operate or offer our services. We also face the risk that exchange 
controls or similar restrictions imposed by foreign governmental authorities may restrict our ability to convert local currency received or held 
by us in their countries or to take those currencies out of those countries. Unexpected or uncontrollable events or circumstances in any of these 
markets could have a material adverse effect on our financial results.  

      We currently engage and may continue to engage in business with parties in certain countries that the United States State Department has 
designated as state sponsors of terrorism. United States law generally prohibits United States persons from doing business with such countries. 
In the case of these designated countries, there are prohibitions on certain activities and transactions, and penalties for violation of these 
prohibitions include criminal and civil fines and imprisonment. We are a company incorporated in British Columbia, Canada and, to our 
knowledge, our activities with respect to these countries have not involved any United States person in either a managerial or operational role. 
While we seek to comply with applicable legal requirements in our dealings in these countries, it is possible that our company or persons 
employed by us could be found to be subject to sanctions or other penalties under this legislation in connection with the activities in these 
countries.  

      We are aware, through press reports and other means, of initiatives by governmental entities in the United States and by United States 
institutions such as universities and pension funds, to adopt laws, regulations or policies prohibiting transactions with or investment in, or 
requiring divestment from, entities doing business with these countries. It is possible that such initiatives may result in our being unable to gain 
or retain entities subject to such prohibitions as customers or as investors in our shares. In addition, our reputation may suffer due to our 
association with these countries. Such a result may have adverse effects on our business.  

      We may be significantly affected by changes in the prices of and demand for cement, minerals, coal and other related products and the 
supply of materials necessary to make clinker and cement. The prices and demand for these products and materials can fluctuate widely as a 
result of various factors beyond our control such as supply and demand, exchange rates, inflation, changes in global economics, and political, 
social and other factors. Any substantial increases in the cost of such materials, or the transportation and/or availability of such materials, could 
adversely affect the demand for cement, minerals, coal and other related products. If the demand for cement, minerals, coal and other related 
products decreases, then the demand for our industrial and engineering services will decrease, which will in turn adversely impact upon our 
financial condition and results of operations. Our ability, therefore, to maintain or increase our revenues may be adversely affected by a 
sustained material reduction in the demand or price for such products and materials.  

      The successful implementation of our business strategy requires us to continuously evolve our existing products and services and introduce 
new products and services to meet customers’ needs. Our designs and products are characterized by stringent performance and specification 
requirements that mandate a high degree of manufacturing and engineering expertise. We believe that our customers rigorously evaluate our 
services and products on the basis of a number of factors, including quality, price competitiveness, technical expertise and development 
capability, innovation, reliability and timeliness of delivery, product design capability, operational flexibility, customer service, and overall 
management. Our success depends on our ability to continue to meet our customers’ changing requirements and specifications with respect to 
these and  
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Transactions with parties in countries designated by the United States State Department as state sponsors of terrorism may lead some 
potential customers and investors in the United States and other countries to avoid doing business with us or investing in our shares. 

The cost of raw materials could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. 

We are subject to risks associated with changing technology and manufacturing techniques, which could place us at a competitive 
disadvantage. 
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other criteria. There can be no assurance that we will be able to address technological advances or introduce new designs or products that may 
be necessary to remain competitive within the industrial and engineering services business.  

      We conduct our business in a global environment that is highly competitive and unpredictable. Our primary competitors are international 
companies with greater resources, capital and access to information than us. Our competition includes other entities who provide industrial and 
process engineering services and/or products related to cement technology, mineral processing and coal technology, including feasibility 
studies, raw material testing, basic and detail plant and equipment engineering, financing concepts, construction and commissioning, and 
personnel training. Increased competition may lead to a decline in the demand for our industrial and engineering services.  

      We use a variety of instruments and strategies to manage exposure to various types of risks. For example, we use derivative foreign 
exchange contracts to manage our exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risks. If any of the variety of instruments and strategies that we 
utilize to manage our exposure to various types of risk are not effective, we may incur losses. Unexpected market developments may affect our 
risk management strategies and unanticipated developments could impact our risk management strategies in the future.  

      Inflation may result in increases in our expenses related to the provision of industrial and engineering services, and which may not be 
readily recoverable in the price of such services provided to our clients. Increases in inflation in overseas countries could result in a reduction in 
our revenues when reported in Canadian currency. To the extent inflation results in rising interest rates and has other adverse effects on capital 
markets, it may adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial conditions.  

      We are exposed to legal risks in our business, including warranty claims that may be made in connection with warranties that we provide to 
our customers in connection with the industrial and engineering products and services that we provide. If we receive a significant number of 
warranty claims, then our resulting warranty costs could be substantial and we could incur significant legal expenses evaluating or disputing 
such claims.  

      Some of our employees of our operating subsidiaries are represented by labour unions under collective bargaining agreements with varying 
durations and expiration dates. We may not be able to satisfactorily renegotiate its bargaining agreements when they expire. In addition, 
existing bargaining agreements may not prevent a strike or work stoppage in the future, and any such work stoppage may have a material 
adverse effect on our financial results.  

      We rely on a combination of patents and patent applications, trade secrets, confidentiality procedures, and contractual provisions to protect 
our technology. Despite our efforts to protect our technology, unauthorized parties may attempt to copy aspects of the products, processes or 
plants that we design or build or to obtain and use information that we regard as proprietary. Policing unauthorized use of our technology and 
products is difficult and expensive. In addition, our competitors may independently develop similar technology or intellectual property. If our 
technology is copied by unauthorized parties, the technology violates the intellectual property of others or our competitors independently 
develop competing technology, we may lose existing customers and our business may suffer.  
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Our competitors include firms traditionally engaged in the industrial and engineering services business. 

Our risk management strategies leave us exposed to unidentified or unanticipated risks which could impact our risk management 
strategies in the future and could negatively affect our results of operation and financial condition. 

A rise in inflation may negatively affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. 

We are exposed to legal risks in our business which are often difficult to assess or quantify. We may incur significant legal expenses in 
defending against any litigation. 

Some of our subsidiaries operating in the industrial and engineering services business are staffed by a unionized workforce, and union 
disputes and other employee relations issues may materially adversely affect our financial results. 

We may not be able to protect the confidentiality or unique aspects of our technology, which would reduce our competitive advantage. 
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      Our constating documents authorize the issuance of common shares and class A preferred shares. In the event that we are required to issue 
any additional shares or enter into private placements to raise financing through the sale of equity securities, investors’ interests in our company 
will be diluted and investors may suffer dilution in their net book value per share depending on the price at which such securities are sold. If we 
issue any such additional shares, such issuances also will cause a reduction in the proportionate ownership of all other shareholders. Further, 
any such issuance may result in a change of control of our company. Moreover, we may seek authorization to increase the number of our 
authorized shares.  

      Our Articles contain indemnification provisions and we have entered into agreements with respect to the indemnification of our officers and 
directors against all costs, charges and expenses, including an amount paid to settle an action or satisfy a judgment, actually and reasonably 
incurred by them, and an amount paid to settle an action or satisfy a judgment in a civil, criminal or administrative action or proceeding to 
which they are made a party by reason of being or having been a director or officer of our company. Such limitations on liability may reduce 
the likelihood of litigation against our officers and directors and may discourage or deter our shareholders from suing our officers and directors 
based upon breaches of their duties to our company, though such an action, if successful, might otherwise benefit us and our shareholders.  

      Certain provisions of our charter documents and the corporate legislation which govern our company may discourage, delay or prevent a 
change of control or changes in our management that shareholders may consider favourable. Such provisions include authorizing the issuance 
by our board of directors of preferred stock in series, providing for a classified board of directors with staggered, three-year terms and limiting 
the persons who may call special meetings of shareholders. In addition, the Investment Canada Act imposes certain limitations on the rights of 
non-Canadians to acquire our common shares, although it is highly unlikely that this will apply. If a change of control or change in 
management is delayed or prevented, the market price of our common stock could decline.  

      Fluctuations in interest rates may affect the fair value of our financial instruments sensitive to interest rates. An increase in market interest 
rates may decrease the fair value of our fixed interest rate financial instrument assets and a decrease in market interest rates may decrease the 
fair value of our fixed interest rate financial instrument liabilities, thereby resulting in a reduction in the fair value of our equity. See “Item 11. 
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk — Interest Rate Risk” for additional information with respect to our exposure to 
interest rate risk.  

      Similarly, fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates may affect the fair value of our financial instruments sensitive to foreign currency 
exchange rates. Our reporting currency is the Canadian dollar. A depreciation of such currencies against the Canadian dollar will decrease the 
fair value of our financial instrument assets denominated in such currencies and an appreciation of such currencies against the Canadian dollar 
will increase the fair value of our financial instrument liabilities denominated in such currencies, thereby resulting in a reduction in our equity. 
See “Item 11. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk — Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk” for additional 
information with respect to our exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk.  

      We are a corporation organized under the laws of the Province of British Columbia, Canada. We were originally incorporated in June 1951 
by letters patent issued pursuant to the Companies Act of 1934 (Canada). We were continued under the Canada Business Corporations Act in 
March 1980, under the Business  
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General Risks Faced by Our Company 

Investors’ interests will be diluted and investors may suffer dilution in their net book value per share if we issue additional shares or raise 
funds through the sale of equity securities. 

Our Articles contain indemnification provisions and we have entered into agreements indemnifying our officers and directors against all 
costs, charges and expenses incurred by them. 

Certain factors may inhibit, delay or prevent a takeover of our company which may adversely affect the price of our common stock. 

Fluctuations in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates may affect our results of operations and financial condition. 

ITEM 4 Information on the Company 

A. History and Development of the Company 
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Corporations Act (Yukon) in August 1996 and under the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) in November 2004. Our name was 
changed from “MFC Bancorp Ltd.” to “KHD Humboldt Wedag International Ltd.” on October 28, 2005. Our executive office is located at 
8th Floor, Dina House, Ruttonjee Centre, 11 Duddell Street, Central, Hong Kong SAR, China.  

      During fiscal year 2005, we operated two business segments consisting of an industrial and engineering services business and a financial 
services and merchant banking business. As a result of a corporate reorganization of our company in January 2006, we reorganized our 
financial services and merchant banking business in a series of internal corporate restructuring transactions. Following the reorganization, Mass 
Financial, a former wholly-owned subsidiary or our company, held all of our company’s financial services and merchant banking business 
except for MFC Merchant Bank (and its Swiss affiliates) and our royalty interest in an iron ore mine. On January 31, 2006, we distributed all of 
the issued and outstanding shares of common stock of Mass Financial, representing our financial services and merchant banking business, to 
our shareholders. Consequently, with the exception of certain activities carried on by MFC Merchant Bank and our royalty interest in an iron 
ore mine, we ceased to operate the financial services and merchant banking business as of January 31, 2006. Following the distribution, Mass 
Financial has operated as a separate company.  

      For more information on Mass Financial and the distribution, please see the information statement dated December 30, 2005 as revised 
pursuant to an errata sheet filed on EDGAR (www.sec.gov) with the Securities and Exchange Commission on a Form  6-K on January 25, 
2006.  

      At the conclusion of fiscal year 2005, we have focussed on our industrial and engineering services business for the cement, coal and 
minerals processing industries and to maintain a leadership in supplying technologies, equipment and engineering services for cement, coal and 
minerals processing, as well as to design and build plants that produce clinker, cement, clean coal and minerals, such as copper, gold and 
diamonds.  

      At the conclusion of 2005, we employed approximately 1,235 people, and our operations were primarily conducted in Europe and Asia. 
The following is a summary of our revenues, including our financial services segment, by geographic region for the three most recently 
completed fiscal years:  

      Our industrial and engineering services business focuses on services for the cement, coal and minerals processing industries. Founded in 
1856, we are a leader in supplying technologies, equipment and engineering services for cement, coal and minerals processing. We design and 
build plants that produce clinker, cement, clean coal, and minerals such as copper and precious metals. We offer detail engineering, plant and 
equipment for complete plants and plant sections including modernization and capacity increase measures, as well as automation and process 
control equipment. The scope of services also includes feasibility studies, raw material testing, financing concepts, erection and 
commissioning, personnel training, pre and post sales services. Headquartered in Hong Kong, China, we have approximately 900 employees 
world-wide, and have operations in India, China, Russia, Germany, the Middle East, Australia, South Africa and the United States.  

      The scope of our activities ranges from the examination and analysis of deposits, scale-up tests in our own test center, technical and 
economic consulting, engineering for plants that produce clinker, cement, clean coal, and minerals such as copper and other precious metals 
and systems, plant and equipment for complete plants and plant sections including modernization and capacity increase measures, as well as 
automation and process control equipment, project planning, research and development, financing, personnel training and pre and post sales 
service.  
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B. Business Overview 

                          

    2005   2004   2003 
              

    (Canadian dollars in thousands) 
Europe    $ 494,915     $ 403,804     $ 391,282   
Canada      9,499       10,042       7,872   
United States      34,764       46,320       9,563   
Asia      381,051       207,320       —  
Africa      20,350       23,522       796   
Other      15,431       6,756       —  
                    

Total    $ 956,010     $ 697,764     $ 409,513   
                    

Description of our Industrial and Engineering Services Business 
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      We are a reliable partner to the cement producing industry and the mineral processing industry by supplying advanced plants and 
equipment, by realizing modernization and capacity increase of plants or plant sections and by providing a service as to spare parts and post 
sales service. We also carry out the complete spectrum of inspection, reconditioning, maintenance and consulting for all machinery, plant and 
equipment.  

      We operate in two key industries: (i) cement, and (ii) coal and minerals. Our engineering businesses specialize in the design, manufacture 
and sale of equipment used in cement production, coal beneficiation and minerals processing.  

      Over the past five years, we have shifted our services away from the turnkey erection and commissioning business. Instead, we have 
focused on our core strengths of design, engineering, manufacturing, erection and commissioning of plants world wide. Except for certain 
specialty machines, we have either purchased equipment locally or outsourced construction to our specifications at facilities in the project’s 
host country, under terms similar or more stringent than those imposed by our customers.  

      Specific services that we provide include plant design (i.e. arrangement and layout), equipment design and development, engineering 
services (i.e. process, electrical and mechanical) and automation services. In the erection and commissioning phases, we ensure that production 
lines or portions of plants function as specified and also will train customer personnel on site. While we maintain minimum manufacturing 
capacity in Cologne, Germany for production of specialized grinding equipment, as well as some critical spare parts and testing, the 
manufacturing of most products is increasingly outsourced (according to our specifications) to lower cost platforms and project host countries. 
Our strategic plan calls for expansion of manufacturing capacities in the low cost platforms.  

      We provide these services for new cement plants, as well as the upgrading of existing plants. Services are provided against irrevocable 
letters of credit, with prepayment and subsequent payment milestones designed to maintain positive cash flow throughout the project.  

      We can provide these services either directly to the owner, as a member of a team that includes equipment specialists in the complementary 
fields of materials transport, blending, storage and packing, or as part of an overall turn-key team which would include members specializing in 
civil design and construction management. Our strategic approach to the market is to be the leading supplier of innovative, environmentally 
compliant and energy efficient technologies focused on reduced operating and maintenance costs.  

      Our product range focuses on grinding and pyro-process technologies. The grinding technologies are utilized in raw material, clinker and 
finished cement grinding, while the pyro-process equipment includes pre-heaters, kilns, burners and the clinker cooler. We also have developed 
a range of systems automation products, including process control systems and equipment optimization products.  

      We focus on grinding, sorting and dewatering technology applications. The service focus is sorting and the products are primarily jigs, as 
well as screens, centrifuges, float cells and flocculant products.  

      We provide our coal customers with machines and complete plants for coal separation. Further, we offer machines and plant components 
for the beneficiation of ore and minerals with a special focus on crushing, grinding and separation. Customers are coal preparation plants, 
power stations and mines for coal, iron ore, and precious and semi-precious minerals.  

      We also produce chemicals used in processes whereby materials are sorted by flotation. Our products are designed for specific applications 
in coal and ore flotation, as well as waste water preparation. We supply coal flotation reagents world-wide.  

      Over the years we have met a diverse set of customer requirements. Many of the facilities we have built have set milestones in the 
construction of cement plants and equipment world wide. Earlier this year, we met another milestone when Jaiprakash Associates Limited of 
New Delhi, formerly Jaypee Cement Limited, awarded us the contract for the engineering and supply of a new 10,000 tonnes per day clinker 
plant in the environmentally sensitive Baga/ Malokar region of India.  
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Business Activities — Cement 

Business Activities — Coal and Minerals 

Recent Developments 
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      The kiln line will be India’s largest clinker production plant, one of the largest kiln lines in the world and the confirmation of the 
outstanding position of KHD as a supplier of kiln lines of any capacity. Further, our design will encompass features enabling the plant to 
accommodate a wide range of secondary fuels as well as increasing the heat supplied by these fuels from 15% to 40%. Five months after being 
awarded this project, the client chose our grinding technologies over competing technologies and awarded KHD three clinker grinding plants.  

      We have chosen India as the platform through which the majority of increased capacity requirements will be met. Over the past twelve 
months, the staff has increased by 35%. In China, we have transitioned from a representative office to an operating company. As a result, we 
now have the ability to provide engineering and service staff and contract directly in China. Other subsidiaries may now directly access these 
low cost alternatives.  

      In 2005, we developed a new, modern, formal and extensive global risk program. New procedures were developed and formalized with the 
assistance of external consultants and we initiated a professional recruitment effort to identify and hire an experienced manager. In March, 
2006, we appointed a Vienna based global head of risk.  

      The Russian cement market holds great potential and we have successfully been active in this market for decades through our representative 
office in Moscow. The acquisition of ZAB Industrietechnik & Service GmbH in Dessau shortly after reunification in Germany provided us 
with a Russian educated work force to service that market. This market is now expanding for additional capacity and also to replace existing 
capacity with more energy efficient and environmentally compliant facilities.  

      To enhance our ability to capitalize on this expanding market, we have established a joint venture with Rusoprom Interregional Joint Stock 
Company. Through the joint venture’s operating company, we will be able to directly contract in country for detail design and fabrication of 
our industrial plant equipment. We will also be able to explore potential acquisitions for low cost platforms in engineering and manufacturing 
capacity in Russia.  

      Our research and development is orientated to the client’s requirements and is a key component to our future, done by a team of specialized 
engineers in various disciplines, supported by testing and analysis facilities with wide-ranging capabilities and organized by application of 
efficient project-management. The focus of our activities is the equipment and processes for the manufacture of cement and the beneficiation of 
coal, iron ore, precious and semi-precious materials. We aim to achieve technical and economical optimization of machines and plants for 
crushing, grinding and beneficiation, considering the demands set for environmental protection.  

      We also have four pilot plants operating in Europe, Asia and Australia for demonstration and testing purposes. On occasion, these plants 
are leased to industry groups for independent testing programs.  

      Research and development efforts recently culminated in the commercialization of our newest product, the PYROFLOOR ® clinker cooler. 
The new cooler design was introduced at the industry’s IEEE meeting in Kansas City. This was followed by a demonstration of the first 
machine at our facilities in Cologne prior to its delivery to a client in Russia for operation. The new cooler introduces a combination of proven 
technologies, such as walking floors and cross flow cooling, enhanced by patented self regulating aeration valves, elimination of cast parts and 
almost no wear surfaces. The cooler has been designed on a modular basis and is therefore economically adaptable to a broad range of plant 
sizes. The new cooler design has many advantages over the traditional designs including reduced height requirements, minimal installation time 
and costs, high thermal efficiency, minimal wear and reduced maintenance. The first unit is currently being installed at a new plant in Russia. 
The initial order for the unit in Russia was followed by two orders for the new cooler in early 2006; one in Italy and one in Turkey.  
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      We are also revisiting some of our older technologies in an effort to seek a very cost-effective re-entry into markets we had abandoned for a 
variety of reasons while under prior ownership. A recent example of the merits of this strategy lies with the hammer crusher. For many years, 
our hammer crusher was a successful product, albeit just a part of a crushing process. We have abandoned development efforts for this product. 
During that period other firms developed complete crushing process technologies. One such firm, Hazemag & EPR GmbH of Germany, 
became very successful. However, a portion of the market has material characteristics requiring a hammer crusher. For these opportunities, 
Hazemag was at a disadvantage to its competitors.  

      We have entered into an agreement with Hazemag wherein we will provide all designs to Hazemag and Hazemag will invest substantial 
research and development in the hammer crusher to incorporate latest technologies. The new and improved hammer crusher design then 
becomes part of the Hazemag product line and Hazemag markets the hammer crusher either as an individual component or as part of their 
system. We retain the right to manufacture the hammer crusher plus receive a royalty. These opportunities for market share will come without 
further investment requirements. We are exploring analogous opportunities with other dated products such as magnetic separators. In 
December 2005, this strategy culminated in an order for eight Jones magnetic separators from a minerals client in South America.  

      Order intake for the fiscal year 2005 was $502.5 million ( € 333 million) compared to $383.2 million ( € 237 million) for the fiscal year 
2004. Order backlog at the end of fiscal year 2004 stood at $308.7 million ( € 190 million) and increased to $371.7 million ( € 269 million) at 
the end of fiscal year 2005.  

      There are several noteworthy characteristics of the order intake and order backlog. All of the orders in 2005 demonstrate our strategic 
policy of minimizing risk by focusing on core business, i.e., equipment design and supply contracts, as opposed to turn-key contracts. The 
geographic breakdown of 2005 order intake may be summarized as 43% from Asia, 32% from the Middle East, 19% from North America and 
the balance primarily from Russia and Europe.  

      Order intake is defined as the total of all orders received during the respective period, while order backlog is defined as the amount of 
orders received but not yet fulfilled.  

      There was an increase in demand for new cement capacity as cement consumption is increasing primarily due to population growth and 
infrastructure expansion. The global market for new cement production capacity is very cyclical and has experienced a high level of activity in 
the past two or three years. There were more significant investments being made in Asia and the Middle East, particularly in China. The world 
wide demand for minerals also has achieved high levels of activity in the past few years and as such the demand for services provided by us 
and our competitors in the coal and minerals industry has increased.  

      MFC Merchant Bank and the royalty interest in an iron ore mine were not transferred to Mass Financial and they remain as assets of our 
company.  

      MFC Merchant Bank, a licensed full-service Swiss bank, offers banking, finance and advisory services. Our banking operations are subject 
to various Swiss regulatory requirements, including capital requirements administered by the Swiss Federal Banking Commission. As our 
primary banking regulatory authority, the Swiss Federal Banking Commission, has established minimum capital and other requirements for 
MFC Merchant Bank. MFC Merchant Bank has sufficient capital for its current operations.  

      We indirectly participate in a royalty interest. The royalty interest consists of a mining sub-lease of the lands upon which the Wabush Iron 
Ore Mine is situated that commenced in 1956 and expires in 2055. The lessor is Knoll Lake Minerals Ltd., which holds a mining lease from the 
Province of Newfoundland, Canada. The lease requires the payment of royalties to Knoll Lake Minerals Ltd. of $0.22 per ton on shipments of 
iron ore from the Wabush Iron Ore Mine. In 2005, 2004 and 2003, 4.9 million, 4.0 million and 5.3 million tons of iron ore, respectively, were 
shipped from the Wabush Iron Ore Mine. See “Property, Plant and Equipment — Royalty Interest — Wabush Iron Ore Mine”.  
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      Mass Financial is to perform certain management services in connection with MFC Merchant Bank investments in consideration for 15% of 
the after tax profits of MFC Merchant Bank and a right of first refusal to purchase MFC Merchant Bank or its assets on the same terms as any 
bona fide offer from a third-party purchaser acceptable to KHD, or to assist in the sale of MFC Merchant Bank for an additional service fee of 
5% of the purchase price. Mass Financial has also agreed to provide management services in connection with the review, supervision and 
monitoring of our royalty interest in the Wabush Mine. We have agreed to pay 8% of the net royalty income.  

      There are major competitors in the industrial and engineering services business. Principal competitors include: FLSmidth & Co. A/ S, 
Andritz AG, Metso, Polysius AG, Sinoma International Engineering Company Ltd., Claudius Peters Group GmbH, Loesche GmbH and 
Gebrüder Pfeiffer AG. All of these companies are international companies with significant resources, capital and access to information.  

      Our competitors in the cement industry can be segmented into two different types of companies:  

      The market for cement equipment is dominated by three globally active, complete line suppliers. These are the FLSmidth & Co. A/ S, 
Polysius AG and Sinoma International Engineering Company Ltd.  

      In the cement business, we principally compete with three part-line suppliers: Claudius Peters Group GmbH, which focuses on clinker 
cooling, and Loesche GmbH and Gebrüder Pfeiffer AG, which focuses on raw and finished materials grinding.  

      We conducted our business in 2005 in a global environment that was highly competitive and unpredictable. For more information, see 
“Item 3. Key Information — Risk Factors”.  

      While we provide services throughout the world through our subsidiaries and representative offices, sales and marketing efforts are 
developed and coordinated through the corporate sales staff in Cologne, Germany. In general, decisions by clients to increase production 
capacities, either through the addition of new lines or through the expansion of existing facilities, are the result of an extensive formal planning 
process. Consequently, any opportunity is well known and anticipated by us and our competitors. However, opportunities in the after-sales 
markets are identified by diligent, constant interaction with operating plant mangers.  

      Our sales and after-sales staff currently numbers more than 50 professionals, and is organized by regions of the world. Each region has a 
senior, key account manager who is supported by local sales staff in the subsidiaries and representative offices. The sales efforts are technical 
in nature, and consequently the staff consists of senior, experienced engineers.  

      Proper preparation of a proposal is a major effort, and in the case of a new plant can represent an investment of between € 100,000 and € 
200,000. The customer usually starts by providing a sample of the raw material to be processed, as well as specifications for production 
capacity, energy requirements, emission limits, product quality, etc. We must analyze the sample, complete preliminary engineering to a 
sufficient extent so that the major components can be sized, prepare arrangement plans, and in the case of expansions, develop connection 
details, shutdown requirements, etc. Consequently, the decision to bid is strategic and must be made considering other opportunities available 
at the time, commitment load by geographic region, country risk, history with the customer (e.g. have they purchased our or our competitor’s 
lines in the past), bonding capacities, financing availability, etc. This strategic decision is made by an executive committee. Once the decision 
is taken and before the bid is offered to the customer, the key account manager must present it to an executive committee for authorization.  

      We supply technology, equipment and engineering/design services for cement, coal and minerals processing. On an international basis, we 
offer clients engineering services, machinery, plant and processes as well as process automation, installation, commissioning, staff training and 
after-sales services. In the course of our business, we develop intellectual property which we protect using the international patent registering  
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Competition 

  •  complete line competitors which are companies providing either a similar, or even broader range of equipment services to the cement 
industry; and 

  

  •  part line competitors which are companies focusing on a smaller range of equipment and technologies. 
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Patents and Licenses 



Table of Contents  

processes. We license the intellectual property and other rights to use certain parts of our technology to our subsidiaries, suppliers and clients.  

      In total, we currently hold 305 patents and 159 trademarks.  

      As at March 31, 2006, our significant wholly-owned direct and indirect subsidiaries are as follows:  

      As at March 31, 2006, our significant non-wholly-owned subsidiaries are as follows:  

      We lease office space at 8th Floor, Dina House, Ruttonjee Centre, 11 Duddell Street, Central, Hong Kong.  

      KHD’s principal business is the design and engineering of equipment for cement plants around the world. The fabrication of this equipment 
generally takes place in the country where the project is resident, in order to generate domestic employment activity and minimize costs. KHD 
leases space for its offices and manufacturing facility in Cologne, Germany. We also lease space in Bochum, Germany, Moscow, Russia, New 
Delhi and Calcutta, India, Johannesburg, South Africa, Atlanta, Georgia, USA, Melbourne, Australia, and Beijing, China.  

      We believe that our existing facilities are adequate for our needs through the end of the year ending December 31, 2006. Should we require 
additional space at that time, or prior thereto, we believe that such space can be secured on commercially reasonable terms.  

      We indirectly participate in a royalty interest. The royalty interest consists of a mining sub-lease of the lands upon which the Wabush Iron 
Ore Mine is situated that commenced in 1956 and expires in 2055. The  
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C. Organizational Structure 

      

    Jurisdiction of 
    Incorporation or 
Name of Wholly-Owned Subsidiary   Organization 

      

MFC Merchant Bank S.A.     Switzerland 
Robabond Holding AG    Switzerland 
MFC Commodities AG    Switzerland 
KHD Humboldt Wedag International Holdings GmbH    Austria 
KHD Humboldt Wedag International GmbH    Austria 
Humboldt Wedag Inc.     USA 
Humboldt Wedag India Ltd.     India 

                      

    Jurisdiction of         
    Incorporation or       Our 
Name of Non-Wholly-Owned Subsidiary   Organization   Owner of Interests   Shareholding 

              

Sasamat Capital Corporation      Canada     KHD Humboldt Wedag International 
Ltd.     50.5%(1 ) 

MFC Industrial Holdings AG      Germany     
KHD Humboldt Wedag International 
Ltd.     97%(1 ) 

KHD Humboldt Wedag GmbH      Germany     MFC Industrial Holdings AG     100%(2 ) 
Zementanlagenbau Dessau GmbH      Germany     KHD Humboldt Wedag GmbH     100%(2 ) 
Altmark Industriepark AG      Germany     KHD Humboldt Wedag GmbH     94.8%(2 ) 
ZAB Industrietechnik & Service GmbH      Germany     Zementanlagenbau Dessau GmbH     100%(2 ) 
  

(1)  Representing shareholding by the immediate parent company. 
  

(2)  Held by our company and/or our subsidiaries. 

D. Property, Plant and Equipment 

Office Space 

Royalty Interest — Wabush Iron Ore Mine 
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lessor is Knoll Lake Minerals, which holds a mining lease from the Province of Newfoundland, Canada. The lease requires the payment of 
royalties to Knoll Lake Minerals of $0.22 per ton on shipments of iron ore from the Wabush Iron Ore Mine. Iron ore is shipped from the 
Wabush Iron Ore Mine to Pointe Noire, Quebec, Canada, where it is pelletized. In 2005, 2004 and 2003, 4.9 million, 4.0 million and 
5.3 million tons of iron ore, respectively, were shipped from the Wabush Iron Ore Mine.  

      The Wabush Iron Ore Mine is operated by an unincorporated joint venture consisting of Wabush Iron Co. Limited, Dofasco Inc., Stelco 
Inc. and Cliffs Mining Company Inc., which pays royalties to the holder of the royalty interest based upon the amount of iron ore shipped from 
the Wabush Iron Ore Mine. Pursuant to the terms of the mining sub-lease, this royalty payment by the joint venture is not to be less than 
$3.25 million per annum until the expiry of the mining sub-lease in 2055. In 1987, the royalty rate specified in the base price was amended to 
require a base royalty rate of $1.685 per ton with escalations as defined by agreement. Iron ore is typically sold either as a concentrate, whereby 
the iron ore is in granular form, or as a pellet, whereby iron ore concentrate has been mixed with a binding agent, formed into a pellet and then 
fired in a furnace. Iron ore pellets can be charged directly into blast furnaces without further processing and are primarily used to produce pig 
iron which is subsequently transformed into steel. As such, the demand and, consequently, the pricing of iron ore is dependent upon the raw 
material requirements of integrated steel producers. Demand for blast furnace steel is in turn cyclical in nature and is influenced by, among 
other things, the level of general economic activity.  

      Although no assurance as to the future production levels can be provided, since the operator of the Wabush Iron Ore Mine is owned by the 
joint venture of steel producers and a trader, production from the mine has been generally maintained at relatively consistent levels.  

      In December, 2005, we commenced a lawsuit against Wabush Iron Co. Limited, Dofasco Inc., Stelco Inc. and Cliffs Mining Company Inc. 
claiming that such parties have breached their contractual and fiduciary duties by inaccurately reporting and substantially underpaying the 
royalties properly due under the lease. We are also claiming reimbursement for the substantial costs that we have incurred in connection with 
our investigation into such matters.  

      KHD owns 94.8% of Altmark Industriepark AG, which owns approximately 650.2 acres of land with buildings forming an industrial 
development area in the City of Arneburg in the State of Sachsen-Anhalt, Germany. The first major project on this site was the construction of 
a kraft pulp mill which started operations in September 2004, following an investment of approximately € 1 billion. In December 2004, 
Altmark Industriepark sold a piece of property to a leading Italian manufacturer of tissue paper for the construction of a hygiene paper plant, 
and we are pursuing several other projects on an ongoing basis that may lead to further real estate sales in other industries (e.g. sawmill, bio-
diesel refinery, etc.)  

      KHD also owns 100% of ZAB Zementanlagenbau GmbH, which owns approximately 28.4 acres of land with buildings in the city of 
Dessau in the State of Sachsen-Anhalt. In the past, these properties were used as KHD Humboldt Wedag’s production facilities to manufacture 
equipment.  

      Not applicable.  

      The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations for the three years ended December 31, 2005 
should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes included in this annual report. Our financial 
statements included in this annual report were prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. For a 
reconciliation of our financial statements included in this annual report to United States generally accepted accounting principles, see Note 23 
to the financial statements. We have made certain reclassifications to the prior periods’ financial statements to conform to the current period’s 
presentation.  
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      During the year ended December 31, 2005, we operated in two business segments: industrial and engineering services and financial 
services.  

      Our industrial and engineering services segment focuses on services for the cement, coal and minerals processing industries. We design and 
build plants and equipment that produce and process clinker, cement, clean coal, and minerals such as copper and precious metals. 
Headquartered in Hong Kong, we have approximately 900 employees world-wide, and have operations in India, China, Russia, Germany, the 
Middle East, Australia, South Africa and the United States.  

      Our financial services segment did focus on merchant banking. We provided specialized banking and corporate finance services and advice 
internationally. These activities were primarily conducted through our wholly-owned subsidiary, MFC Merchant Bank. We also did commit 
our own capital to promising enterprises and invest and otherwise trade to capture investment opportunities for our own account.  

      Subsequent to the year ended December 31, 2005, we completed the distribution to our shareholders of the common shares of our financial 
services into a separate company. We will continue to hold an investment in the financial services business by way of the non-voting preferred 
shares we hold in Mass Financial. The non-voting class A preferred shares are redeemable by Mass Financial at any time and we have the right 
to cause a retraction of the class A preferred shares at a rate of 1/15 per year (based on a proposed 15 year retraction period) starting after 
January 31, 2010. The redemption and retraction amount is equal to (i) the fair market value of the common shares that were exchanged for the 
class A preferred shares at the time of the exchange less $100, multiplied by (ii) 1.04 multiplied by the number of months the preferred shares 
have been outstanding divided by 12. Upon us giving notice of a retraction, we shall be entitled to a dividend equal to the redemption amount. 
No dividends on the class A common shares can be paid if Mass Financial is late on the redemption or retraction of any tranche of the class A 
preferred shares or if payment of the dividend will reduce Mass Financial’s net asset value to less than the outstanding retraction amount of the 
then issued class A preferred shares. In the event of liquidation, dissolution, winding up or any other distribution of the assets of Mass 
Financial, then we shall be entitled to receive, in priority and preference to the class A common shares, the redemption amount.  

      Our board of directors determined that the separation of our financial services business from our industrial and engineering services 
business would enhance the success of both businesses and maximize shareholder value over the long term by enabling each company to 
pursue its own focussed strategy and enable investors to evaluate the financial performance, strategies and other characteristics of each business 
in comparison to other companies within their respective industries.  

      Since January 31, 2006, the financial services business has been operated by Mass Financial, except that MFC Merchant Bank and our 
interest in an iron ore mine have remained assets of our company.  

      Our results of operations have been and may continue to be affected by many factors of a global nature, including economic and market 
conditions, the availability of capital, the level and volatility of equity prices and interest rates, currency values, commodity prices and other 
market indices, technological changes, the availability of credit, inflation and legislative and regulatory developments. Our results of operations 
may also be materially affected by competitive factors. Competition includes firms traditionally engaged in industrial and engineering services. 

      The following tables provide selected financial information for the most recent eight quarters, including both the industrial and engineering 
services and financial services segment:  
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A. Operating Results 

Overview 

Summary of Quarterly Results 

                                  

    December 31,   September 30,   June 30,   March 31, 
    2005   2005   2005   2005 
                  

    (Unaudited) 
    (Canadian dollars in thousands, except per share amount) 
Revenues    $ 236,080     $ 231,223     $ 276,558     $ 212,149   
Expenses      228,304       224,184       252,469       206,889   
Net income      5,721       6,008       16,484       5,984   
Diluted earnings per share      0.42       0.44       1.20       0.44   
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      Our annual and quarterly operating results vary from period to period as a result of the level and timing of customer orders, fluctuations in 
materials and other costs, and the relative mix of revenue. The level and timing of customers’ orders will vary due to customer budgets, 
variation in demand for their products and general economic conditions. Our annual and quarterly operating results are also affected by 
capacity utilization and other factors, including price competition, operational effectiveness and efficiency, the degree of automation used, the 
ability to manage labour and assets effectively, the timing of expenditures in anticipation of forecasted sales levels, the timing of acquisitions 
and related integration costs, customer delivery requirements, shortages of components or labour, the impact of foreign exchange fluctuations, 
and other factors.  

      There was no significant fluctuation in our quarterly net income in 2005, except for the 2nd quarter which included a net gain of 
$8.4 million on sales of subsidiaries.  

      We maintained a strong balance sheet throughout 2005 and finished the year with a cash balance of $226.6 million and working capital of 
$250.0 million. During the year, we repaid approximately $14.9 million of debt, net of additional borrowings, excluding the notes payable on 
commodities transactions. There were no significant share issuances during the year except for the issuance of 58,743 common shares for the 
acquisition of additional interests in our subsidiaries.  

      In September 2005, we acquired an additional 11.3% interest in Sasamat Capital Corporation, a company whose primary asset is the 
investment in our industrial and engineering services business. The impact of the acquisition was to increase our beneficial interest in our 
industrial and engineering services business from 76.5% to 79.7%.  

      As discussed above, we completed a significant reorganization of our company subsequent to December 31, 2005 by distributing the 
common shares of substantially all of our financial services business to our shareholders.  

      We intend to pursue an active acquisition program to acquire other companies that will compliment such operations as we recognize the 
need to diversify our customer base both geographically and market-wise, i.e., beyond the cement industry. Consequently, we are actively 
seeking strategically significant acquisition and/or partnership opportunities in the engineering market, particularly in the coal and minerals 
industries. We will continue to evaluate our operations and we may propose exiting additional businesses, markets or service offerings in order 
to better align our operations with our strategic objectives.  

      Revenue for fiscal 2005 of $956.0 million increased 37.0% from $697.8 million in 2004, primarily due to the acquisition of the KHD 
Humboldt Wedag group of companies in March, 2004. Our financial services segment contributed an increase of 11.8% over 2004, or 
$58.9 million, continuing the growth experienced in 2004 and 2003. Revenue was strong throughout 2005 and growth for 2006 is encouraging, 
particularly in Asian markets which contributed approximately $173.7 million toward the increase (or an increase of 67.3%). Revenue from 
Asian markets represents approximately 39.9% of our total revenue in 2005. Revenue from European markets increased 22.6% from 2004. We 
expect that growth in our industrial and engineering services business in Asia will continue and will be a focus of our future plans.  
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    December 31,   September 30,   June 30,   March 31, 
    2004   2004   2004   2004 
                  

    (Unaudited) 
    (Canadian dollars in thousands, except per share amount) 
Revenues    $ 206,497     $ 195,717     $ 181,221     $ 114,329   
Expenses      199,677       189,116       167,539       103,017   
Net income      7,640       7,248       10,962       11,101   
Diluted earnings per share      0.56       0.53       0.80       0.81   

Summary of Fiscal 2005 

Changes in Financing and Capital Structure 

Acquisitions and Divestitures 

Overview of 2005 Results 
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      The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, certain key operating results and other financial information:  

      As discussed, revenue for 2005 increased in both our business segments during 2005 as compared to 2004, and the direct costs recognized 
against those revenues proportionately increased in 2005. Direct costs of our industrial and engineering services business increased from 79.5% 
of revenue to 81.8% of revenue while the direct costs of our financial services business increased from 86.4% of revenue to 90.1% of revenue.  

      Based upon the year average exchange rates in 2005, the Canadian dollar increased by approximately 7.5% in value against the Swiss franc, 
7.2% in value against the Euro and 7.4% in value against the United States dollar, compared to the year average exchange rates in 2004. As at 
December 31, 2005, the Canadian dollar increased by approximately 19.1% in value against the Swiss franc, 18.0% against the Euro and 
3.2% against the United States dollar since December 31, 2004.  

      In 2005, our total revenues increased by 37.0% to $956.0 million from $697.8 million in 2004, primarily as a result of the consolidation of 
the KHD Humboldt Wedag Group for the full year in 2005, compared to nine months in 2004 and increased trading in the financial services 
segment.  

      In 2005, our revenues from our industrial and engineering services business increased by 100.1% to $398.5 million from $199.1 million in 
2004. We consolidated a full year’s operating results of KHD Humboldt Wedag group in 2005, compared to only nine months in 2004 as KHD 
Humboldt Wedag group was acquired on March 31, 2004. The revenues of the core business of industrial and engineering services from KHD 
Humboldt Wedag group increased to $384.1 million in 2005 from $187.4 million in 2004. While this increase reflects the consolidation of the 
full 2005 results as opposed to only nine months in 2004, the majority of the increase is attributable to the significant increase in the business 
levels in 2005. The increase in revenues is associated with the increase in order intake to $502.5 million ( € 333 million) in 2005 over 
$383.2 million ( € 237 million) in the full year of 2004, or a 41% increase in terms of Euros. The majority of this order intake is in the cement 
business and originates from the emerging Asian and Middle Eastern markets. Order backlog at the close of 2005 also increased over 2004 to 
$371.7 million ( € 269 million), or a 42% increase in terms of Euros.  

      In 2005, our revenues from our financial services business increased by 11.8% to $557.5 million from $498.7 million in 2004, as a result of 
increases in the volume in commodities trading, which increased to $530.0 million in 2005 from $449.1 million in 2004. Fees and commissions 
decreased to $4.3 million in 2005 from $13.9 million in 2004. Revenues from securities amounted to $5.0 million in 2005, compared to 
$21.1 million in 2004. The decrease in fees and commissions and revenues from securities in 2005 is due to management time allocation and 
the lack of profitable projects within our risk profile.  

19  

                          

    Year Ended December 31 
      

    2005   2004   2003 
              

    (Canadian dollars in millions, 
    except per share amounts) 
Revenue — industrial and engineering services(2)    $ 398.5     $ 199.1     $ —  
Revenue — financial services(1)      557.5       498.7       409.5   
Expenses — industrial and engineering services(2)      326.0       158.3       —  
Expenses — financial services(1)      502.5       430.9       329.5   
General and administrative expenses      74.3       62.6       25.2   
Net income      34.2       37.0       49.1   
Basic earnings per share      2.51       2.73       3.76   
Diluted earnings per share      2.50       2.70       3.59   
  

(1)  Substantially all of our financial services business was distributed to our shareholders subsequent to December 31, 2005 
  

(2)  Segment acquired in March, 2004 

Year Ended December 31, 2005 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2004 (includes both the industrial and engineering services 
and financial services segments) 

Revenues 
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      For our industrial and engineering services business, our customers are based primarily in Asia, the Middle East and North America and for 
our financial services business, our customers were primarily based in Europe. As discussed above, revenue from customers in Europe and 
Asia increased while marginal decreases were experienced in Canada, the United States and Africa. Asian markets are emerging markets with 
continued strong demand for our core industrial and engineering services and we expect that this trend will continue in 2006. European markets 
are our major commodities trading markets and we expect that the revenues from this geographic area will decline in 2006 as a result of the 
separation of our financial services business.  

      In 2005, our expenses increased by approximately 38.3% to $911.8 million from $659.3 million in 2004, primarily as a result of the 
consolidation of the KHD Humboldt Wedag Group for the full year in 2005, compared to nine months in 2004 and increased trading in the 
financial services segment.  

      In 2005, industrial and engineering services expenses increased to $326.0 million from $158.3 million in 2004. The expenses on the core 
business of industrial and engineering services from KHD Humboldt Wedag group increased to $325.2 million in 2005 from $156.8 million in 
2004, and its profit margin slightly decreased to 15.3% in 2005 from 16.4% in 2004. The increases in expenses reflect the incorporation of the 
full 2005 year’s expenses over the nine month expense total in 2004, increases associated with the significantly greater sales level in 2005, 
increases in the marketing and sales costs associated with generating a 41% increase in Order Intake in 2005. The slight decrease in margin is 
associated with the increase in the purchased equipment component of the revenues as certain customers require the Company to include some 
components not in our normal scope of supply.  

      In 2005, financial services expenses increased to $502.5 million from $430.9 million in 2004. Costs of commodities sold increased to 
$502.2 million in 2005 from $416.2 million in 2004, and our profit margin decreased to 5.2% in 2005 from 7.3% in 2004. Costs and expenses 
of investments were $3.8 million and $14.0 million in 2005 and 2004, respectively. The increase in costs of commodities sold and decrease in 
costs and expenses of investment matched the movement of the revenues of our commodities and investment activities. We recognized a net 
gain of $9.1 million on dispositions of subsidiaries (including $8.9 million on a wholly-owned subsidiary sold to a 27.8% owned affiliate), a 
$1.0 million loss on the impairment of a loan and a $3.1 million loss on the impairment of a long-term investment, which were included in the 
financial services expenses.  

      General and administrative expenses increased to $74.3 million (7.8% of revenue) from $62.6 million (9.0% of revenue) in 2004. The 
general and administrative expenses were net of foreign currency transaction gains of $2.2 million and $1.2 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The increase in general and administrative expenses, on an absolute basis, reflects the result of 
consolidation of a full year’s operating results of KHD Humboldt Wedag group in 2005, compared to only nine months in 2004. General and 
administrative expenses as a percentage of revenue reflect lower expenses in 2005, the benefits from exiting businesses and related cost 
reductions.  

      Interest expense increased to $9.1 million (0.9% of revenue) in 2005 compared to $7.4 million (1.1% of revenue) in 2004. We are generally 
not reliant upon interest-bearing debt to fund our day-to -day operations.  

      We recognised a tax expense of $3.2 million in 2005, compared to a tax benefit of $4.2 million in 2004. The increase in net income tax 
expense reflected the increase in operating profit in our core business in industrial and engineering service segment. We have non-capital tax 
loss carryforwards of $114.5 million in Germany, which do not expire. The effective tax rate for 2005 reflects the tax expense in jurisdictions 
with current taxes payable.  

      We conduct business operations in a number of countries, including countries where tax incentives have been extended to encourage 
foreign investment or where income tax rates are low. Our effective tax rate is also impacted by the mix and volume of business in lower tax 
jurisdictions within Europe and Asia and tax incentives, operating losses, certain tax exposures, the time period in which losses may be used 
under tax laws and the impairment of deferred income tax assets.  

      In certain jurisdictions, we currently have net operating losses and other deductible temporary differences, which will reduce taxable 
income in these jurisdictions in future periods. We have determined that a valuation allowance of $34.4 million is required in respect of our 
deferred income tax assets as at  
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Expenses 

Income Taxes 
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December 31, 2005 (December 31, 2004 — $31.0 million). Increases in the valuation allowance are primarily as a result of the acquisition of a 
subsidiary which has a substantial amount of tax loss carry forward.  

      As at December 31, 2005, the net deferred income tax asset balance was $11.2 million (2004 — $11.3 million). We believe we will 
generate sufficient future taxable income to realize the benefit of these deferred income tax assets.  

      We develop our tax position based upon the anticipated nature and structure of our business and the tax laws, administrative practices and 
judicial decisions currently in effect in the jurisdictions in which we have assets or conduct business, all of which are subject to change or 
differing interpretations, possibly with retroactive effect. We are subject to tax audits by local tax authorities of historical information which 
could result in additional tax expense in future periods relating to prior results.  

      Certain of our subsidiaries provide financing and services to, and may from time-to -time undertake certain transactions with other 
subsidiaries in different jurisdictions. In general, inter-company transactions, in particular inter-company financing transactions, are subjected 
to close review by tax authorities. Moreover, several jurisdictions in which we operate have tax laws with detailed transfer pricing rules which 
require that all transactions with non-resident related parties be priced using arm’s length pricing principles, and that contemporaneous 
documentation must exist to support such pricing.  

      International taxation authorities could challenge the validity of our inter-company financing and transfer pricing policies. Such a challenge 
generally involves a subjective area of taxation and generally involves a significant degree of judgment. If any of these taxation authorities are 
successful in challenging our financing or transfer pricing policies, our income tax expense may be adversely affected and we could also be 
subjected to interest and penalty charges.  

      Income from operations increased to $44.2 million in 2005 from $38.4 million in 2004, primarily as a result of the contribution from our 
industrial and engineering services.  

      In 2005, our net income was $34.2 million, or $2.51 per share on a basic basis ($2.50 per share on a diluted basis). In 2004, our net income 
was $37.0 million, or $2.73 per share on a basic basis ($2.70 per share on a diluted basis), in 2004.  

      On January 31, 2006, we completed the distribution to our shareholders of the common shares of Mass Financial. The effect of the 
distribution was to realign our financial services into a separate company that was held by our shareholders. Accordingly, we expect that the 
contribution of revenues and expenses of our financial services to our consolidated income statement after year 2005 will be significantly 
reduced.  

      See “Item 8B. Significant Changes” for allocation of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses between Mass Financial and us.  

      Based upon the year average exchange rates in 2004, the Canadian dollar decreased by approximately 0.6% in value against the Swiss 
franc, 2.1% in value against the Euro but increased by approximately 7.7% in value against the U.S. dollar, compared to the year average 
exchange rates in 2003. As at December 31, 2004, the Canadian dollar decreased by approximately 1.0% in value against the Swiss franc, 0.1% 
against the Euro but increased by 7.4% against the U.S. dollar since December 31, 2003.  

      In 2004, our revenues increased by 70.4% to $697.8 million from $409.5 million in 2003, primarily as a result of the increased volume of 
our trading activities and acquisitions, particularly the consolidation of the result of MFC Industrial Holdings AG since March 31, 2004. We 
continued our expansion into the Far East and Southern Asia.  

      In 2004, our expenses increased by approximately 83.6% to $659.3 million from $359.1 million in 2003, primarily as a result of the 
increase in the volume of trading activities and acquisitions, particularly the consolidation of the result of MFC Industrial Holdings AG since 
March 31, 2004. In 2004, financial services expenses increased by approximately 30.8% to $430.9 million from $329.5 million in 2003. 
General and administrative expenses increased to $62.6 million in 2004 from $25.2 million in 2003. The general and administrative expenses 
were net of foreign currency transaction gains of $1.2 million and $8.3 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively. The increases in financial 
services and general and administrative expenses related  
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Year Ended December 31, 2004 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2003 (includes both the industrial and engineering services 
and financial services segments) 
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primarily to the increase in the volume of trading activities and acquisitions, particularly the consolidation of the result of MFC Industrial 
Holdings AG since March 31, 2004. In 2004, we recorded an income tax recovery of $4.2 million. In 2003, we had an income tax expense of 
$0.8 million.  

      In 2004, our net earnings decreased to $37.0 million, or $2.73 per share on a basic basis ($2.70 per share on a diluted basis), from 
$49.1 million, or $3.76 per share on a basic basis ($3.59 per share on a diluted basis), in 2003.  

      The following table is a summary of selected financial information concerning our company for the periods indicated:  

      We maintain a high level of liquidity, with a substantial amount of our assets held in cash and cash equivalents, and securities. The highly 
liquid nature of these assets provides us with flexibility in managing our business and financing.  

      As at December 31, 2005, our total assets increased to $609.8 million from $603.7 million as at December 31, 2004, primarily as a result of 
excellent operating performance. At December 31, 2005, our cash and cash equivalents were $226.6 million, compared to $215.7 million at 
December 31, 2004. As at December 31, 2005, we had short-term securities of $19.0 million, compared to $21.1 million as at December 31, 
2004. As at December 31, 2005, our long-term debt, less current portion, was $7.3 million, compared to $14.4 million as at December 31, 
2004.  

      As part of our merchant banking activities, we establish, utilize and maintain various kinds of credit lines and facilities with other banks, 
insurers, and trade finance providers. Most of these facilities are short-term. These facilities are primarily used for structured trade financing, 
accounts receivable financing and letters of credit. Such facilities are drawn upon and used for specific trading transactions. These credit 
facilities are generally secured by the subject matter of a proposed transaction, being either a receivable or the underlying commodity or natural 
resource being traded. We often further enhance the credit of such facilities through credit and/or performance insurance provided by 
governmental and/or private insurers. Such trade finance insurance is often layered with varying limitations and exceptions. The amounts 
drawn under the credit facilities fluctuate with the kind and level of commodities and natural resources trading transactions being undertaken 
by us. As such transactions are settled, proceeds are generally applied to first settle amounts drawn under such credit facilities.  

      At December 31, 2005, we had 15 separate credit lines and facilities used for commodities and natural resources trading aggregating 
approximately € 104.0 million and $11.5 million (U.S. $9.9 million) was drawn and outstanding. The kind, amount and number of credit 
facilities we utilize and amounts drawn thereunder fluctuate from time to time based upon the nature, level and location of, and counterparties 
with whom we conduct our commodities and natural resources trading activities.  

      As at December 31, 2005, other than the lines of credit drawn and outstanding for our commodities and natural resources trading and 
industrial and engineering business, we have debt maturities of $1.9 million in 2006 and no maturities in 2007. We expect such maturing debt 
to be satisfied primarily through the settlement of underlying commodities and natural resource trading transactions, industrial and engineering 
business, cash on hand and cash flow from operations. Much of such maturing debt may either subsequently be made re-available to us by the 
applicable financial institution or we may replace such facilities with similar facilities depending upon our trading and capital requirements. For 
more information, see Notes 12 and 13 to our consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form  20-F.  
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B. Liquidity and Capital Resources (includes both the industrial and engineering services and financial services segments) 

                                  

    December 31,   December 31, 
          

    2005   2004   2005   2004 
                  

    (U.S. Dollars in   (Canadian Dollars in 
    thousands)   thousands) 
    (for information)     
Cash and cash equivalents    $ 194,313     $ 179,231     $ 226,550     $ 215,722   
Short-term securities      16,265       17,542       18,963       21,113   
Total assets      523,054       501,579       609,831       603,699   
Long-term debt, less current portion      6,253       11,950       7,290       14,383   
Shareholders’  equity      244,259       223,849       284,783       269,421   
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      In connection with our industrial and engineering business, as at December 31, 2005 we have credit facilities of $126.5 million ( € 
91.6 million, 2004: € 35 million) with banks which issue contractual-related bonds. As at December 31, 2005, performance bonds of 
approximately $83.0 million ( € 60.1 million, 2004: € 32.2 million) lines had been issued under the credit lines and there were no claims 
against KHD Humboldt Wedag under these performance bonds. As at December 31, 2005, cash of $25.7 million ( € 18.2 million) has been 
collateralized against these credit lines.  

      Operating activities provided cash of $67.4 million in 2005, compared to $60.2 million in 2004. We expect to generate sufficient cash flow 
from operations to meet our working capital and other requirements. Cash from operations was generated primarily from earnings and increases 
in working capital, particularly in accounts payable and accrued expenses.  

      A decrease in short-term securities provided cash of $0.6 million in 2005, compared to $18.1 million in 2004. An increase in restricted cash 
used $12.8 million in 2005, compared to $8.1 million in 2004. An increase in receivables used cash of $15.1 million in 2005, compared to a 
decrease providing cash of $6.5 million in 2004. An increase in commodity receivables used cash of $1.0 million in 2005, compared to a 
decrease providing cash of $11.8 million in 2004. An increase in inventories used cash of $38.6 million in 2005, compared to $1.2 million in 
2004. An increase in commodity inventories used cash of $22.6 million in 2005, compared to $11.5 million in 2004. A decrease in real estate 
held for sale provided cash of $3.2 million in 2005, compared to an increase using cash of $71,000 in 2004. An increase in accounts payable 
and accrued expenses provided cash of $94.9 million in 2005, compared to $25.5 million in 2004.  

      Investing activities used cash of $5.3 million in 2005, compared to $14.2 million provided in 2004. In 2004, as a result of acquiring KHD 
Humboldt Wedag Group, we increased our cash position by a net amount of $31.1 million.  

      In 2005, a net increase in loans used cash of $3.6 million, compared to $9.8 million in 2004. Capital expenditure was $3.0 million and 
$3.7 million in 2005 and 2004, respectively. The net purchases of long-term securities used cash of $65,000 in 2005, compared to $5.1 million 
in 2004. In 2005, purchases of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired, used cash of $4.1 million, compared to providing cash of $31.1 million in 
2004.  

      Net cash used in financing activities was $27.1 million in 2005, compared to $0.3 million provided in 2004. Net debt repayments used cash 
of $14.9 million in 2005, compared to $22.5 million in 2004. An increase in notes payable on commodities transactions provided cash of 
$6.6 million in 2005, compared to $7.6 million in 2004. In 2005, a net decrease in deposits used cash of $18.3 million, compared to a net 
increase in deposits providing cash of $23.8 million in 2004. The net repurchase of common shares in 2005 used cash of $34,000, compared to 
$10.1 million in 2004.  

      We had no material commitments to acquire assets or operating businesses at December 31, 2005. We anticipate that there will be 
acquisitions of businesses or commitments to projects in the future.  

      Substantially all of our operations are conducted in international markets and our consolidated financial results are subject to foreign 
currency exchange rate fluctuations.  

      We translate assets and liabilities of our foreign subsidiaries whose functional currencies are other than Canadian dollars into Canadian 
dollars at the rate of exchange on the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated at the average rate of exchange prevailing 
during the period. Unrealized gains or losses from these translations, or currency translation adjustments, are recorded under the shareholders’ 
equity section on the balance sheet and do not affect the net earnings as reported in our consolidated statements of income. As our revenues are 
received in Euros and U.S. dollars, our financial position for any given period, when reported in Canadian dollars, can be significantly affected 
by the fluctuation of the exchange rates for Euros and U.S. dollars during that period.  

      Based upon the year average exchange rates in 2005, the Canadian dollar increased by approximately 7.5% in value against the Swiss franc, 
7.2% in value against the Euro and 7.4% in value against the U.S. dollar,  
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compared to the year average exchange rates in 2004. As at December 31, 2005, the Canadian dollar increased by approximately 19.1% in 
value against the Swiss franc, 18.0% against the Euro and 3.2% against the U.S. dollar since December 31, 2004.  

      In the year ended December 31, 2005, we reported approximately a net $20.2 million currency translation adjustment loss and, as a result, 
our cumulative currency translation adjustment loss at December 31, 2005 was $32.4 million, compared to a cumulative loss of $12.2 million at 
December 31, 2004.  

      At December 31, 2005, the cumulative currency translation adjustment loss included a cumulative loss of approximately $24.8 million 
attributable to Mass Financial group of companies. See “Item 8.B. Significant Changes” for additional information.  

      We use derivative foreign exchange contracts to manage our exposure and our clients’ exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risks. At 
December 31, 2005 and 2004, we did not hold any forward foreign exchange contracts for our own account. For more information, see our 
Annual Report on Form  20-F, Item 11, “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk — Derivative Instruments.”  

      Derivatives are financial instruments, the payments of which are linked to the prices, or relationships between prices, of securities or 
commodities, interest rates, currency exchange rates or other financial measures. Derivatives are designed to enable parties to manage their 
exposure to interest rates and currency exchange rates, and security and other price risks. We use derivatives to provide products and services 
to clients and to manage our foreign currency exchange exposure for our own account. We also use derivatives to manage our interest rate risk 
on debts. For more information, see our Annual Report on Form  20-F, Item 11, “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market 
Risk — Derivative Instruments.”  

      We do not believe that inflation has had a material impact on our revenues or income over the past three fiscal years. However, increases in 
inflation could result in increases in our expenses, which may not be readily recoverable in the price of services provided to our clients. To the 
extent inflation results in rising interest rates and has other adverse effects on capital markets, it could adversely affect our financial position 
and profitability.  

      The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires our management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date 
of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods.  

      Our management routinely makes judgments and estimates about the effects of matters that are inherently uncertain. As the number of 
variables and assumptions affecting the probable future resolution of the uncertainties increase, these judgments become even more subjective 
and complex. We have identified certain accounting policies, described below, that are the most important to the portrayal of our current 
financial condition and results of operations. Our significant accounting policies are disclosed in Note 1 to our consolidated financial 
statements included in our 2005 annual report.  

      The majority of the contracts and services in our industrial and engineering services are long-term and we use the percentage-of -
completion method to measure and recognize the revenue and related costs. The major challenges in using the percentage-of -completion 
method accounting are to accurately measure the extent to which the contracts are being finished, and to assess collectibility of the revenue 
and/or the recoverability of the costs incurred. Generally, we rely on our in-house technical specialists to estimate the progress of the contract, 
our finance and engineering departments to work out the cost analysis and the budget, and our credit department to assess the credit of the 
customers. All these analyses involve estimates and value judgments. The accurate profit amount is not known until the contract is completed 
and the billing is collected. If a loss is expected on a contract-in -progress from our teamwork analysis, such loss will be recognized in the 
income statement immediately.  
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      Financial services revenues for banking and services are recognized as they are performed, and from commodities and natural resources 
trading and the sale of proprietary investments as they are completed and when the amounts of the revenues are fixed, agreed or determinable 
and collectibility is reasonably assured.  

      We have assets held for sale in our normal operating cycle. The assets held for sale consist of commodity inventories, inventories and real 
estate held for sale.  

      Our inventories consist of construction raw materials, work-in -progress and finished goods. The management must make estimates about 
their pricing when establishing the appropriate provisions for inventories.  

      For the construction raw materials and work-in -progress, we make estimates and assess their pricing on individual contract basis using the 
teamwork approach. Please refer to “Revenue Recognition” under “Application of Critical Accounting Policies”. For the finished goods, the 
estimated net selling price is the most important determining factor. However, the management also considers whether there are any 
alternatives to enhance the value of the finished goods, for example, by using the finished goods in another product or contract so as to increase 
the value of such other product or contract.  

      Commodities inventories consist primarily of metals and plastics. Management also makes estimates about the future customer demand for 
our products. When making these estimates, we consider general economic conditions and growth prospects within our customers’ ultimate 
marketplace and the market acceptance of our current and pending products. However, the general economic conditions may change within a 
short time or a unexpected event may cause a downturn in the general economic conditions or in a specific geographic location. Government 
intervention is a very critical factor in the developing countries.  

      We also have real estate held for sale. We are actively marketing the real estate. When the management makes estimate on the fair value of 
the real estate, we usually take into consideration the recent land sales in the neighborhood areas. However, the current market price of the real 
estate may be negatively affected by the local economic conditions. We may consider such as a temporary decline in value. When making a 
provision amount, we assess the medium- to long-term general and local economic trends. We also consider the short- and medium-term city 
planning and development where our property is situated.  

      Our allowance for credit losses is to be maintained at an amount considered adequate to absorb estimated credit-related losses. Such 
allowances reflect management’s best estimate of the probable losses in our credit portfolio and judgments about both macro- and micro-
economic conditions. The evaluation process involves estimates and judgments, which could change drastically in the near-term, and could 
result in a significant change to a recognized allowance. Credit losses arise primarily from loans but may also relate to other credit instruments 
such as guarantees and letters of credit. An allowance for credit losses may be increased by provisions which are charged to income and 
reduced by write-offs net of any recoveries.  

      A goodwill impairment loss should be recognized when the carrying amount of the goodwill exceeds the fair value of the goodwill. An 
impairment loss should not be reversed if the fair value subsequently increases. We consider, but such consideration is not limited to, the 
following factors to determine the goodwill impairment: a significant adverse change in legal factors or in the business climate; an adverse 
action or assessment by a regulator; unanticipated competition; loss of key personnel; a more-likely-than-not expectation that a significant 
portion or all of a reporting unit will be sold or otherwise disposed of; the testing for write-down or impairment of a significant asset group 
within a reporting unit; or the recognition of a goodwill impairment loss in its separate financial statements by a subsidiary that is a component 
of the reporting unit.  

      Trading account securities held by MFC Merchant Bank S.A. are stated at quoted market value, with the unrealized gain or loss included in 
the results of operations. Short-term marketable securities are carried at the lower of aggregate cost or current market value, with the unrealized 
loss included in the results of operations. Short-term unlisted investments are carried at the lower of cost or estimated net realizable value.  
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      When there has been a loss in value of a long-term security that is other than a temporary decline, the security will be written down to 
recognize the loss. The write-down is included in the determination of income.  

      In determining whether the decline in value is other than temporary, quoted market price is not the only deciding factor, particularly for 
thinly traded securities, large block holdings and restricted shares. We consider, but such consideration is not limited to, the following factors: 
trend of the quoted market price and trading volume; financial position and results for a period of years; liquidity or going concern problems of 
the investee; changes in or reorganization of the investee and/or its future business plan; outlook of the investee’s industry; the current fair 
value of the investment (based upon an appraisal thereof) relative to its carrying value; and our business plan and strategy to divest the security 
or to restructure the investee.  

      We provide a warranty to our customers for the contracts and services in our industrial and engineering service segment. The amount of the 
warranty liability reflects the estimate of the expected future costs of our obligations under the warranty, which is based on the historical 
material replacement costs and the labour costs, the past history of similar work, the opinion of our legal counsel and technical specialists and 
their interpretation of the contracts. If any of these factors change, revision to the estimated warranty liability may be required.  

      Our industrial and engineering service segment in Germany maintains a defined benefits plan for its employees who were employed prior 
to year 1997. Employees hired after 1996 are not entitled to such benefits. The employees are not required to make contribution to the plan. We 
rely on the actuarial report to record the pension costs and pension liabilities. The actuarial report is prepared every year as at December 31. 
The report is compiled and prepared, based on certain assumptions, namely, demographic assumptions and financial assumptions. The 
variables in the actuarial computation include, but not limited to, the following: demographic assumptions about the future characteristics of the 
employees (and their dependants) who are eligible for benefits, the discount rate and future salary. Certain variables are beyond our control and 
any change in one of these variables may have significant impact on the estimate of the pension liability.  

      Under the German laws, the pension liability is an unsecured claim and does not rank in priority to any other unsecured creditors. The 
pension liability is non-recourse to our company.  

      For the new Canadian and United States accounting standards, please refer to Notes 1 and 23, respectively, to the consolidated financial 
statements in our Annual Report on Form  20-F. There were no significant changes or adoptions of accounting policies in 2005 or 2004 which 
had a significant impact upon our financial statements.  

      Not applicable.  

      The order intake for the KHD Humboldt Wedag Group for the year ended December 31, 2002 was approximately € 90 million. After 
acquiring our initial interest in 2003, the order intake increase by over 45% and in the second year, 2004, by an additional 77% to almost € 
237 million, with a further increase of 41% to € 333 million in 2005. However, one should not anticipate this rate of growth to continue 
unabated. Order backlog, which at the end of 2003 stood at about € 97 million, nearly doubled by the close of 2004 to reach just over € 
190 million, and has increased to € 269 million in 2005. Order intake is defined as all orders which were received during the respective period 
under review. Order backlog is defined as orders which have been received but not yet fulfilled.  

      We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on our financial 
condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources that is 
material to investors.  
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      Cash outlays for our contractual obligations and commitments identified above are expected to be funded by cash on hand. Purchase 
obligations can typically be cancelled with little or no financial penalty. Our policy regarding non-standard or customized orders dictates that 
such items are generally ordered specifically for customers who have contractually assumed liability for the inventory. In addition, a substantial 
portion of the standard items covered by our purchase orders were procured for specific customers based on their purchase orders or forecasts 
under which the customers have contractually assumed liability for such material. Accordingly, the amount of liability from purchase 
obligations under these purchase orders cannot be quantified in a meaningful way.  

      We believe that cash flow from operating activities, together with cash on hand and borrowings available under available credit facilities, 
will be sufficient to fund currently anticipated working capital, planned capital spending, and debt service requirements for the next 12 months. 
Historically, we have funded our operations from cash generated from operations.  

      Our short term investment objectives are to preserve principal and to maximize yields without significantly increasing risk, while at the 
same time not materially restricting our short term access to cash. To achieve these objectives, we maintain a portfolio consisting of a variety of 
securities, including government and corporate obligations, certificates of deposit and money market funds.  

      Not applicable.  

27  

F. Tabular Disclosure of Contractual Obligations 
                                  

    Payments Due by Period 
      

    Less than   2 – 3   4 – 5   More than 
Contractual Obligations as at December 31, 2005   1 Year   Years   Years   5 Years 

                  

    (Canadian dollars in thousands) 
Long-term debt obligations(1)    $ 1,872     $ 309     $ 2,564     $ 4,417   
Capital lease obligations(1)      —      —      —      —  
Operating lease obligations      4,176       1,958       1,308       —  
Purchase obligations      60,162 (2)     —      —       —  
Other long-term liabilities reflected on the Company’s balance sheet under 

GAAP      —      403       269       —  
                          

Total    $ 66,210     $ 2,670     $ 4,141     $ 4,417   
                          

  

(1)  Principal amounts only 
  

(2)  Purchases for industrial and engineering contracts 
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      The following table sets forth the names and business experience of each of our directors and officers, as at March 31, 2006:  

      Mr. Smith has been our Chairman, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary since 2003 and a director of our company since 1986. Mr. Smith 
was our President and Chief Executive Officer between 1996 and 2006. Mr. Smith is the President, Secretary and a director of Blue Earth 
Refineries Inc., a company with its common shares registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934. Mr. Smith is also the Chief Executive Officer, President, Chief Financial Officer and a director of Cathay Merchant Group, Inc, a 
public company with its common shares registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 
Mr. Smith is also the President and a director of Mass Financial Corp., our formerly wholly-owned subsidiary.  

      Mr. Smith has extensive experience in advisory services, corporate finance, restructuring and international taxation planning. He leads our 
company’s investing and merchant banking activities.  

      Mr. Busche has been our Chief Executive Officer since March 7, 2006. Mr. Busche has over 20 years of international experience in the 
industrial plant engineering business in North America, Europe, China and India. He joins the Company from Groupe LaPerriére & Verrault 
Inc. While at Groupe LaPerriére & Verrault, Mr. Busche served as Vice President and Managing Director (Asia). During his career, 
Mr. Busche has managed major globalization programs and completed a number of major acquisitions in the process industries.  

      Dr. Zhao has been a director of our company since 2004. Dr. Zhao is a professor and the Dean of the School of Business, Nanjing 
University and the Dean of the School of Graduate Studies, Macau University of Science and Technology. Dr. Zhao is President of Jiangsu 
Provincial Association of Human Resource Management and Vice President of Jiangsu Provincial Association of Business Management and 
Entrepreneurs. Dr. Zhao organized and held four international symposia on multinational business management in 1992, 1996, 1999 and 2002. 
Since 1994, Dr. Zhao has also acted as a management consultant for several Chinese and international firms. Since 1997, Dr. Zhao has been a 
visiting professor at the Marshall School of Business at the University of Southern California and he has lectured in countries including the 
United States, Canada, Japan, the United Kingdom, Germany, Australia, the Netherlands and Singapore. Since 2004, Dr. Zhao has been an 
independent director on the board of directors of Suning Electronic Co. Ltd.  
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ITEM 6 Directors, Senior Management and Employees 

A. Directors and Senior Management 

                      

        Date of   Expiration 
        commencement   of term 
        of office with   of office with 
Name and age   Present position with our company   our company   our company 

              

Michael J. Smith (57)    Director     1986       2008   

    Chairman, Chief Financial Officer and 
Secretary     1996       N/A   

Jim Busche (47)    President and Chief Executive Officer     2006       N/A   
Dr. Shuming Zhao(1) (51)    Director     2004       2007   
Dr. Kelvin K. Yao(1) (53)    Director     2004       2007   
Silke Brossmann(1) (37)    Director     2003       2008   
Indrajit Chatterjee(2) (60)    Director     2005       2006 (3) 
  

(1)  Member of our audit committee. 
  

(2)  Mr. Chatterjee was appointed to our board of directors on September 15, 2005. 
  

(3)  Expiring on the date of the annual general meeting for the 2005 fiscal year to be held on or before August 14, 2006. 

Michael J. Smith — President, Secretary and Director 

Jim Busche — Chief Executive Officer 

Dr. Shuming Zhao — Director 
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      Dr. Yao has been a director of our company since 2004. Dr. Yao is a professor and the Chief of the Center for Institute of Ophthalmology, 
Zhejiang University since 1992. As an expert in ophthalmic research and practice, Dr. Yao has been a member in various professional 
committees including the Vice Board President of the Chinese Society of Cataract and Intra-ocular Lens, the Vice Board Director of the 
Society of Ophthalmology, Zhejiang Provincial Branch of the Chinese Medical Association, and the Head of the Committee of Academic 
Degrees of the Medical Branch of Zhejiang University. Dr. Yao is also a board member of the Chinese Medical Academy Institute and the 
board director of several Chinese ophthalmic publications.  

      Ms. Brossmann has been a director of our company since 2003. She is also a director of Cathay Merchant Group, Inc., both companies with 
their common shares registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Ms. Brossman was 
the Head of Investor Relations with Prokurist and Head of Central Administration of Koidl & Cie. Holding AG from 1999 to 2002. 
Ms. Brossmann has been an independent management consultant since 2002.  

      Mr. Chatterjee has been a director of our company since 2005. Mr. Chatterjee is a retired business man who was formerly responsible for 
marketing with the Transportation Systems Division of General Electric for India. Mr. Chatterjee is experienced in dealing with Indian 
governmental issues.  

      During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005, we paid an aggregate of approximately $1.9 million in cash compensation to our directors 
and officers. There were no stock options granted to or exercised by such directors and officers or other non-cash compensation. No other 
funds were set aside or accrued by our company during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005 to provide pension, retirement or similar 
benefits for our directors or officers pursuant to any existing plan provided or contributed to by us.  
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      The following table provides a summary of compensation paid by us during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005 to the senior 
management of our company:  

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE  

      Our non-management directors receive U.S.$25,000 annually for their services and U.S.$500 for each meeting of directors that they attend. 
We also reimburse our directors and officers for expenses incurred in connection with their services as our directors and officers.  

      Mr. Smith entered into an amended and restated employment agreement with our company in 2000. The agreement generally provides, 
subject to certain termination provisions, for the continued employment of Mr. Smith for a period of 36 months with automatic one month 
renewals, so that the agreement at all times has a remaining term of 36 months. The agreement provides for an annual base salary and other 
compensation to be paid to Mr. Smith as determined by our board of directors. His salary is currently U.S.$240,000. In the event he is 
terminated without cause or resigns for good reason (as defined in the Agreement) within three years of a change of control (as defined in the 
Agreement), Mr. Smith will be entitled to a lump sum severance payment of three times the sum of (i) his current annual salary under the 
agreement, and (ii) the higher of his current annual bonus under the agreement and the highest variable pay and bonus received by him in the 
previous five fiscal years. If Mr. Smith is terminated without cause or resigns for good reason after three years of a change of control, he will 
be entitled to the same payments in equal instalments over 12 months. In addition, all unvested rights in any stock options or other equity 
awards made to Mr. Smith will vest in full in the event of a change of control. Mr. Smith will also be entitled, for a period of 365 days 
following the earlier of the date of his termination and the date of the change of control, to require us to purchase all or any part of our common 
shares held by Mr. Smith on the date of termination or date of change of control, at a price equal to the average closing market price of our 
common shares on the Nasdaq National Market for the ten preceding trading days. In March 2006, we confirmed that Mr. Smith’s employment 
would continue on the same terms and conditions as consideration for serving as the chairman, chief financial officer and secretary of our 
company.  
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Executive Compensation 

                                            

        Long Term Compensation     
    Annual         
    Compensation(1)       Securities Under     
        Other Annual   Options/SARs   All other 
Name and Principal Position   Salary   Bonus   Compensation   Granted   Compensation 

                      

Michael J. Smith(2)    $ 312,686     $ 134,424       Nil       Nil     $ 99,274   

  Chairman, Chief Financial Officer, Secretary and 
Director                                         

Stefan Feuerstein(3)    $ 246,893     $ 60,351       Nil       Nil     $ 6,211   
  Vice-President and Director                                         
Georg Zimmermann    $ 322,322       Nil       Nil       Nil     $ 69,710   

  Member of Management Board — KHD 
Humboldt Wedag GmbH                                         

Hermann Kroeger    $ 255,926     $ 37,725       Nil       Nil     $ 944   

  Member of Management Board — KHD 
Humboldt Wedag GmbH                                         

Rudolf Pich    $ 270,715       Nil       Nil       Nil     $ 82,843   

  Member of Management Board — KHD 
Humboldt Wedag GmbH                                         

  

(1)  On a cash basis, unless otherwise stated. 
  

(2)  Mr. Smith resigned as our President and Chief Executive Officer effective March 7, 2006. 
  

(3)  Dr. Feuerstein resigned from our board of directors on September 15, 2005 to pursue other opportunities with an affiliate of our company. 

Directors’  Compensation 

Employment Agreements and Termination of Employment or Change of Control 
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      Our Articles provide for three classes of directors with staggered terms. Each director holds office until the expiry of his term or until his 
successor is elected or appointed, unless his office is earlier vacated in accordance with our Articles or with the provisions of the British 
Columbia Business Corporations Act. At each annual meeting of our company, a class of directors is elected to hold office for a three year 
term. Successors to the class of directors whose terms expire are identified as being of the same class as the directors they succeed and are 
elected to hold office for a term expiring at the third succeeding annual meeting of shareholders. A director appointed or elected to fill a 
vacancy on the board of directors holds office for the unexpired term of his predecessor.  

      Other than as discussed above, there are no service contracts between our company and any of our directors providing for benefits upon 
termination of employment.  

      Our board of directors has established an audit committee. Our audit committee currently consists of Shuming Zhao, Kelvin K. Yao and 
Silke Brossmann. Each member is independent and financially literate as those terms are defined in Multilateral Instrument 52-110 — Audit 
Committees. For a description of each member’s education and experience, see “Item 6 — Directors, Senior Management and Employees” and 
“Item 16A — Audit Committee Financial Expert”. The audit committee operates pursuant to a charter adopted by the board of directors. A 
copy of our audit committee charter is attached as Exhibit 99.1 to this annual report. The audit committee is appointed and generally acts on 
behalf of the board of directors. The audit committee is responsible primarily for monitoring: (i) the integrity of our financial statements; 
(ii) compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; and (iii) the independence and performance of our internal and external auditors.  

      We do not have a remuneration or compensation committee. A majority of our independent directors recommends the compensation of our 
executive officers and provides the recommendation to our board of directors for determination of compensation payable to our executive 
officers. Our chief executive officer does not vote upon or participate in the deliberations regarding his compensation.  

      We currently employ approximately 912 people, including 896 at KHD Humboldt Wedag. As at December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, we 
employed approximately 1,235; 1,317; and 246 people, respectively.  

      There were 15,206,512 common shares, no stock options and no share purchase warrants issued and outstanding as of March 15, 2006. Of 
the shares issued and outstanding on that date, our directors and officers owned the following common shares:  
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C. Board Practices 

D. Employees 

E. Share Ownership 

                    

    Number of     
    Common Shares     
Name Office Held   Beneficially Owned   Percentage(1) 

          

Michael J. Smith      85,000       * % 
  President, Secretary and Director                  
Jim Busche(2)      Nil       Nil   
  Chief Executive Officer                  
Dr. Shuming Zhao      Nil       Nil   
  Director                  
Dr. Kelvin K. Yao      Nil       Nil   
  Director                  
Silke Brossmann      Nil       Nil   
  Director                  
Indrajit Chatterjee(3)      Nil       Nil   
  Director                  
  

*  Less than one percent (1%) 

(1)  Based on 15,206,512 common shares issued and outstanding as at March 15, 2006. 
  

(2)  Jim Busche was appointed our Chief Executive Officer effective March 7, 2006. 
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     Stock Option Plan  

      We have an incentive stock option plan that provides for the grant of incentive stock options to purchase our common shares to our 
directors, officers and key employees and other persons providing ongoing services to us. Our stock option plan is administered by our board of 
directors. The maximum number of our common shares which may be reserved and set aside for issuance under our stock option plan is 
2,762,000. Each option upon its exercise entitles the grantee to one common share. The exercise price of an option may not be less than the 
closing market price of our common shares on the Nasdaq on the day prior to the date of grant of the option. In the event our common shares 
are not traded on such day, the exercise price may not be less than the average of the closing bid and ask prices of our common shares on the 
Nasdaq for the ten trading days immediately prior to the date the option is granted. Options may be granted under our stock option plan for an 
exercise period of up to ten years from the date of grant of the option. We did not grant any options in 2005 and there are no options that are 
currently outstanding. The number of options available for grant under the stock option plan was 1,397,500 as at March 15, 2006.  

A. Major Shareholders  

      There were 15,206,512 common shares issued and outstanding as of March 15, 2006. As a result of the distribution of Mass Financial to 
our shareholders, the number of our common shares increased from 13,635,384 as of December 31, 2005 to 15,206,512 as of March 15, 2006 
by 1,571,128 shares, which represents the number of our shares held by Mass Financial’s wholly-owned subsidiaries. The following table sets 
forth, as of March 15, 2006, persons known to us to be the beneficial owner of more than five percent (5%) of our common shares:  

      There has been no significant change in the percentage ownership of any of our major shareholders during the years ended December 31, 
2005, 2004 and 2003.  

      The voting rights of our major shareholders do not differ from the voting rights of holders of our company’s shares who are not major 
shareholders.  

      As of March 15, 2006, the registrar and transfer agent for our company reported that there were 15,206,512 common shares issued and 
outstanding held by 569 registered holders. Of those common shares issued and outstanding, 1,573,202 common shares were registered to 
Canadian residents (14 shareholders), 13,392,583 common shares were registered in the United States (544 shareholders) and 240,727 common 
shares were registered to residents of other foreign countries (11 shareholders).  

      To the best of our knowledge, we are not directly or indirectly owned or controlled by another corporation, by any foreign government or 
by any other natural or legal person.  

      There are no arrangements known to us, the operation of which may at a subsequent date result in a change in the control of our company.  

B. Related Party Transactions  

      Other than as disclosed herein, to the best of our knowledge, there have been no material transactions or loans, between January 1, 2005 
and March 24, 2006, between our company and (a) enterprises that directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, control or are 
controlled by, or are under common control with, our company; (b) associates; (c) individuals owning, directly or indirectly, an interest in the 
voting power of  
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(3)  Indrajit Chatterjee was appointed to our board of directors on September 15, 2005 to fill the vacancy created by the resignation of Stefan 
Feuerstein. Dr. Feuerstein resigned from our board of directors on September 15, 2005 to pursue other opportunities with an affiliate of 
our company. 

ITEM 7 Major Shareholders and Related Party Transactions 

                  

Name   Amount Owned   Percent of Class(1) 
          

Peter Kellog      3,141,550 (2)     20.7 % 
FMR Corp.       876,285       5.8 % 
Mass Financial Corp.       1,571,128       10.3 % 
  

(1)  Based on 15,206,512 common shares issued and outstanding on March 15, 2006. 
  

(2)  In his public filings, Mr. Kellog disclaims beneficial ownership of 2,821,550 of the shares, or approximately 18.6% of our issued and 
outstanding common shares. 
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our company that gives them significant influence over our company, and close members of any such individual’s family; (d) key management 
personnel of our company, including directors and senior management of our company and close members of such individuals’ families; and 
(e) enterprises in which a substantial interest in the voting power is owned, directly or indirectly, by any person described in (c) or (d) or over 
which such a person is able to exercise significant influence.  

      During the year ended December 31, 2005, we entered into transactions with affiliates in the normal course of operations. These 
transactions are measured at the exchange value, which represent the amount of consideration established and agreed to by all the parties.  

      In the normal course of commodities trading transactions, we purchased commodities from and sold commodities to our affiliates. We sold 
$2.7 million to two affiliates during 2005.  

      During 2005, we recognized fee income in the normal course from affiliates amounting to $3.8 million. We earned dividends of 
$5.2 million on preferred shares of stock in an affiliate in 2005.  

      During 2005, we recognized equity income of $3.9 million from our equity method investees. During 2005, we recognized $0.6 million 
expense reimbursement from and $17,000 interest expense to an equity method investee which subsequently became a subsidiary in the same 
year. During 2005, we sold a wholly-owned subsidiary to another equity method investee (27.8% owned) for a total consideration of 
$12.3 million, consisting of cash of $5.9 million and promissory note of $6.4 million, resulting in us recognizing a gain of $8.9 million. We 
recognized interest income of $0.2 million from and interest expense of $18,000 to this affiliate in 2005.  

      As at December 31, 2005, we had equity method investments of $18.7 million, long-term investments in affiliates of $8.8 million, loans to 
an affiliate of $2.5 million, receivables from affiliates of $14.0 million, payable to affiliates of $3.5 million, deposit liabilities to affiliates of 
$12.2 million and a long-term liability to an affiliate of $0.3 million.  

A. Consolidated Statements and Other Financial Information  

      Our financial statements are stated in Canadian dollars and are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting 
principles. In this annual report, unless otherwise specified, all dollar amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars.  

The Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 can be found under Item 17 
“Financial Statements”.  

      We are subject to routine litigation incidental to our business and are named from time to time as a defendant in various legal actions 
arising in connection with our activities, certain of which may include large claims for punitive damages.  
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ITEM 8 Financial Information 

Financial Statements filed as part of the Annual Report: 

  Independent Auditor’s Report of BDO Dunwoody LLP dated March 24, 2006 on the Consolidated Financial Statements of our company as 
at December 31, 2005 

  

  Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Peterson Sullivan PLLC dated March 18, 2005 on the Consolidated Financial 
Statements of our company as at December 31, 2004 and 2003 

  

  Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2005 and 2004 
  

  Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 
  

  Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’  Equity for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 
  

  Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 
  

  Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Legal Proceedings 
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      The actual timing, payment and amount of dividends paid on our common shares is determined by our board of directors, based upon things 
such as our cash flow, results of operations and financial condition, the need for funds to finance ongoing operations and such other business 
consideration as our board of directors considers relevant.  

B. Significant Changes  

      During fiscal year 2005, we operated two business segments consisting of an industrial and engineering services business and a financial 
services and merchant banking business. As a result of a corporate reorganization of our company in January 2006, we reorganized our 
financial services and merchant banking business in a series of internal corporate restructuring transactions. Following the reorganization, Mass 
Financial, a former wholly-owned subsidiary or our company, held all of our company’s financial services and merchant banking business 
except for MFC Merchant Bank (and its Swiss affiliates) and our royalty interest in an iron ore mine, and we hold the preferred shares in Mass 
Financial. On January 31, 2006, we distributed all of the issued and outstanding shares of common stock of Mass Financial, representing our 
financial services and merchant banking business, to our shareholders. Consequently, with the exception of MFC Merchant Bank and our 
royalty interest in an ore mine, we ceased to operate the financial services and merchant banking business as of January 31, 2006. Following 
the distribution, Mass Financial operated as a separate company and has focussed exclusively on the growth and development of the financial 
services and merchant banking business.  

      For more information on Mass Financial and the distribution, please see the information statement dated December 30, 2005 as revised 
pursuant to an errata sheet dated January 25, 2006 filed on EDGAR (www.sec.gov) with the Securities and Exchange Commission on a 
Form  6-K on January 25, 2006.  
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      The following table summarizes our December 31, 2005 audited consolidated balance sheet and income statement and provides unaudited 
information concerning the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of Mass Financial.  

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET  
December 31, 2005  
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        Mass 
    KHD   Financial 
          

        (Unaudited) 
    (Canadian dollars 
    in thousands) 

ASSETS 
Current Assets                  
  Cash and cash equivalents    $ 226,550     $ 30,529 (1) 
  Restricted cash      25,669       37   
  Securities      18,963       3,358   
  Loans      12,403       9,910   
  Receivables, commodities transactions      12,184       12,184   
  Receivables, industrial and engineering services      40,326       —  
  Receivables      29,769       7,541   
  Commodity investments      28,397       28,397   
  Inventories      45,052       2,414   
  Real estate held for sale      32,038       850   
  Contract deposits, prepaid and other      13,059       345   
  Future income tax assets      8,854       737   
              

    Total current assets      493,264       96,302   
              

Non-current Assets                  
  Securities      9,202       8,355   
  Loans      11,002       —  
  Property, plant and equipment      12,633       651   
  Resource property      35,341       —  
  Goodwill      15,141       4,406   
  Equity method investments      18,679       17,667   
  Future income tax assets      14,569       —  
              

    Total non-current assets      116,567       31,079   
              

    $ 609,831     $ 127,381   
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Notes:  
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        Mass 
    KHD   Financial 
          

        (Unaudited) 
    (Canadian dollars 
    in thousands) 
  

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS ’  EQUITY 
Current Liabilities                  
  Accounts payable and accrued expenses    $ 186,111     $ 34,130   
  Notes payable, commodities transactions      11,531       11,531   
  Notes payable, industrial and engineering services      3,432       —  
  Long-term debt, current portion      1,872       233   
  Pension liabilities      1,736       —  
  Deposits      20,202       —  
  Provision for warranty costs      23,932       —  
  Future income tax liability      353       67   
              

    Total current liabilities      249,169       45,961   
Long-term Liabilities                  
  Long-term debt, less current portion      7,290       1,013   
  Pension liabilities      29,828       —  
  Provision for warranty costs      5,162       —  
  Future income tax liability      11,838       —  
  Other long-term liabilities      672       —  
              

    Total long-term liabilities      54,790       1,013   
              

    Total liabilities      303,959       46,974   
              

Minority Interests      21,089       2,223   
Shareholders’  Equity      284,783 (2)(3)     78,184 (2)(3) 
              

    $ 609,831     $ 127,381   
              

  

(1)  Mass Financial had $11,700 deposit with MFC Merchant Bank. 
  

(2)  The table does not reallocate 1,571,128 shares of our common stock held by Mass Financial through its subsidiaries. The 1,571,128 
common shares had a book value of $10.9 million, which has been eliminated and deducted from the shareholders equity. Upon 
separation of KHD and Mass Financial, these 1,571,128 common shares will be treated as issued and outstanding in KHD’s consolidated 
financial statements. 

  

(3)  At December 31, 2005, the cumulative currency translation adjustment loss, under the shareholders equity, included a cumulative loss of 
approximately $24.8 million attributable to Mass Financial group of companies. 

  

(4)  All intercompany transactions have been eliminated. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  
For the year ended December 31, 2005  

Notes:  
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        Mass 
    KHD   Financial 
          

        (Unaudited) 
    (Canadian dollars in 
    thousands, 
    except per share amounts) 
Revenue                  
  Financial services revenue    $ 557,535     $ 550,001   
  Industrial and engineering services      398,475       4,770   
              

      956,010       554,771   
              

Expenses                  
  Financial services      502,494       508,092   
  Industrial and engineering services      326,029       829   
  General and administrative      74,257       35,154   
  Interest      9,066       4,583   
              

      911,846       548,658   
              

Income from operations before income taxes and minority interests      44,164       6,113 (2) 
Provision for income taxes      (3,160 )     (618 ) 
              

Income from operations before minority interests      41,004       5,495   
Minority interests      (6,807 )     (798 ) 
              

Net income    $ 34,197     $ 4,697 (2) 
              

  

(1)  All intercompany transactions have been eliminated. 
  

(2)  KHD shows income from operations before income taxes and minority interest of $15.2 million for the financial services segment (see 
Note 20 to our consolidated financial statements), which includes our bank subsidiary and our royalty interest in an iron ore mine. Mass 
Financial shows income from operations before income taxes and minority interests of $6.1 million and net income of $4.7 million, which 
do not include the financial services revenues to be retained by KHD. 
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      Our common shares quoted on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol “KHDH”. The following table sets forth the high and low 
sales of prices of our common shares on the Nasdaq for the periods indicated.  

      The transfer of our common shares is managed by our transfer agent, Mellon Investor Services, LLC, 480 Washington Boulevard, Jersey 
City, NJ 07310 (Tel:  201-680-5258; Fax:  201-680-4604).  

      Not applicable.  

      See “Offer and Listing Details” above.  

      Not applicable.  

      Not applicable.  

      Not applicable.  
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ITEM 9 The Offer and Listing 

A Offer and Listing Details 

                  

    Nasdaq 
      

    High   Low 
          

    (U.S.$)   (U.S.$) 
Annual Highs and Lows                  
2001      11.60       7.13   
2002      11.51       6.45   
2003      18.42       6.81   
2004      27.65       15.25   
2005      26.52       15.50   
Quarterly Highs and Lows                  
2004                  
First Quarter      27.65       17.50   
Second Quarter      25.45       15.75   
Third Quarter      19.90       15.25   
Fourth Quarter      21.69       16.55   
2005                  
First Quarter      22.97       17.03   
Second Quarter      20.02       17.05   
Third Quarter      26.52       17.59   
Fourth Quarter      25.90       18.00   
Monthly Highs and Lows                  
2005                  
October      25.90       21.54   
November      24.48       18.00   
December      22.47       20.55   
2006                  
January      26.46       21.29   
February      26.46       20.68   
March (to March 15, 2006)      23.78       21.88   

B. Plan of Distribution 

C. Markets 

D. Selling Shareholders 

E. Dilution 

F. Expenses of the Issue 
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      Not Applicable.  

      We are continued under the laws of the Province of British Columbia, Canada and have been assigned the continuation number C0707841.  

      Our Articles do not contain a description of our objects and purposes.  

      Our Articles do not restrict a director’s power to vote on a proposal, arrangement or contract in which the director is materially interested, 
vote compensation to themselves or any other members of their body in the absence of an independent quorum or exercise borrowing powers. 
There is no mandatory retirement age for our directors and our directors are not required to own securities of our company in order to serve as 
directors.  

      Our authorized capital consists of an unlimited number of common shares without par value and an unlimited number of class A preferred 
shares without par value. Our class A preferred shares may be issued in one or more series and our directors may fix the number of shares 
which is to comprise each series and the designation, rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to each series.  

      Holders of our common shares are entitled to vote at all meetings of shareholders, except meetings at which only holders of a specified 
class of shares are entitled to vote, receive any dividend declared by us and, subject to the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions 
attaching to any other class of shares, receive the remaining property of our company upon dissolution.  

      Our class A preferred shares of each series rank on a parity with our class A preferred shares of any other series and are entitled to a 
preference over our common shares with respect to the payment of dividends and the distribution of assets or return of capital in the event of 
liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of our company.  

      The provisions in our Articles attaching to our common shares and class A preferred shares may be altered, amended, repealed, suspended 
or changed by the affirmative vote of the holders of not less than two-thirds of the common shares and two-thirds of the class A preferred 
shares, respectively.  

      Our Articles provide for three classes of directors with staggered terms. Each director holds office until the expiry of his term or until his 
successor is elected or appointed, unless his office is earlier vacated in accordance with our Articles or with the provisions of the British 
Columbia Business Corporations Act. At each annual meeting of our company, a class of directors is elected to hold office for a three year 
term. Successors to the class of directors whose terms expire are identified as being of the same class as the directors they succeed and are 
elected to hold office for a term expiring at the third succeeding annual meeting of shareholders. A director appointed or elected to fill a 
vacancy on the board of directors holds office for the unexpired term of his predecessor.  

      An annual meeting of shareholders must be held at such time in each year not later than fifteen months after the last preceding annual 
meeting and at such place as our board of directors, or failing it, our Chairman, Managing Director or President, may from time to time 
determine. The holders of not less than five percent of our issued shares that carry the right to vote at a meeting may requisition our directors to 
call a meeting of shareholders for the purposes stated in the requisition. The quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of 
shareholders is two persons who are entitled to vote at the meeting in person or by proxy. Only persons entitled to vote, our directors and 
auditors and others who, although not entitled to vote, are otherwise entitled or required to be present, are entitled to be present at a meeting of 
shareholders.  

      Except as provided in the Investment Canada Act, there are no limitations specific to the rights of non-Canadians to hold or vote our 
common shares under the laws of Canada or British Columbia, or in our charter documents. See “Exchange Controls” below for a discussion of 
the principal features of the Investment Canada Act for non-Canadian residents proposing to acquire our common shares.  

      As set forth above, our Articles contain certain provisions that would have an effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control 
of our company, including authorizing the issuance by our board of directors of preferred stock in series, providing for a classified board of 
directors with staggered, three-year terms and limiting the persons who may call special meetings of shareholders. Our Articles do not contain 
any provisions that would operate only with respect to a merger, acquisition or corporate restructuring of our company.  
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B. Notice of Articles and Articles 
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      Our Articles do not contain any provisions governing the ownership threshold above which shareholder ownership must be disclosed.  

      The following summary of certain material provisions of the agreements referenced below is not complete and these provisions are 
qualified in their entirety by reference to the full text of such agreements.  

      On March 5, 2006, we entered into a Payment Guarantee Agreement whereby we agreed to guarantee, until September 30, 2007 with 
respect to € 3,483,000 and until March 31, 2011 with respect to € 8,127,000, the payment obligations of KHD Humboldt Wedag 
International GmbH up to € 11,610,000 plus interest and reasonable legal fees and the costs and expenses of collection, if any.  

      On February 22, 2006, we entered into a Payment Guarantee Agreement whereby we agreed to guarantee, until March 15, 2007, the 
payment obligations of Mazak Limited up to the lesser of (i) the amount owed by Mazak under a Supply Agreement, and (ii) the purchase price 
of 3,050 metric tons of zinc metal calculated in accordance with the Payment Guarantee Agreement.  

      On February 22, 2006, we entered into a Payment Guarantee Agreement whereby we agreed to guarantee, until February 28, 2007, the 
payment obligations of Mazak Limited up to the lesser of (i) the amount owed by Mazak under a Supply Agreement and (ii) the purchase price 
of 800 metric tons of zinc metal calculated in accordance with the Payment Guarantee Agreement.  

      In January, 2006, we entered into a U.S.$63 million supply and services contract with National Cement Co. to provide the engineering and 
major components for a new 3,450 tonnes per day cement plant to be located in Al Anad, Yemen. The scope of supply and services for the 
contract include design, engineering and procurement of the process equipment for raw material preparation, clinker production and cement 
grinding. The plant is projected to be completed in early 2008.  

      On December 9, 2005, we entered into a Payment Guarantee Agreement whereby we agreed to guarantee, until February 28, 2007, the 
payment obligations of KHD Humboldt Wedag GmbH up to a maximum of € 35,000,000 plus interest and reasonable legal fees.  

      On November 17, 2005, we entered into a Guarantee Agreement whereby we agreed to guarantee, until December 31, 2006, the obligations 
of MFC Commodities GmbH up to a maximum of € 2,000,000 plus interest and reasonable legal fees.  

      On September 14, 2005, we entered into a Guarantee Agreement whereby we agreed to guarantee, until 10 calendar days after 
September 10, 2006, the obligations of MFC Commodities GmbH up to a maximum of € 10,000,000 plus interest and reasonable legal fees.  

      On July 19, 2005, we entered into a Guarantee Agreement whereby we agreed to guarantee, until July 19, 2006, the obligations of MFC 
Commodities GmbH up to a maximum of € 7,500,000 plus interest and reasonable legal fees.  

      On July 5, 2005, we entered into a Guarantee Agreement whereby we agreed to guarantee the obligations of MFC Commodities GmbH up 
to a maximum of € 5,000,000 plus interest and reasonable legal fees.  

      On April 13, 2005, we entered into a Guarantee Agreement whereby we agreed to guarantee, until full and final discharge of all obligations 
under underlying contract, the obligations of MFC Commodities GmbH up to a maximum of € 10,000,000 plus interest and reasonable legal 
fees.  

      On December 31, 2004, we entered into a Deed of Assumption and Consent with Blue Earth Refineries Inc., Newmont Australia Limited 
and Newmont Lasource S.A.S.  

      On December 20, 2004, we entered into a Guarantee Agreement whereby we agreed to guarantee, until February 28, 2006, the obligations 
of Mazak Limited up to a maximum of the payment obligations of Mazak under Supply Agreements up to maximum indebtedness as calculated 
in the Guarantee.  

      On December 1, 2004, we entered into a Limited Guarantee Agreement whereby we agreed to guarantee the payment obligations of Mazak 
UK Limited up to a maximum of GBP750,000 plus interest and reasonable legal fees.  

      On November 29, 2004, we entered into a Payment Guarantee Agreement whereby we agreed to guarantee, until January 31, 2006, the 
payment obligation of Mazak Limited up to a maximum of U.S.$3,000,000 plus interest and reasonable legal fees.  
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C. Material Contracts 
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      On October 29, 2004, we entered into a Credit Guarantee Agreement whereby we agreed to guarantee the payment obligations of JH 
Trade & Financial Services GmbH up to a maximum of € 5,000,000 plus interest and reasonable legal fees.  

      On October 28, 2004, we entered into a Payment Guarantee Agreement whereby we agreed to guarantee the payment obligations of Mazak 
Limited up to a maximum of U.S.$3,000,000 until February 15, 2005 and thereafter up to a maximum of U.S.$1,800,000.  

      On August 18, 2004, we entered into a Payment Guarantee Agreement whereby we agreed to guarantee the payment obligations of 
Mansfelder Aluminiumwerke GmbH up to a maximum of € 1,041,372.92 plus interest and reasonable legal fees.  

      On August 18, 2004, we entered into a Payment Guarantee Agreement whereby we agreed to guarantee the payment obligations of 
Mansfelder Aluminiumwerke GmbH up to a maximum of € 1,045,665.13 plus interest and reasonable legal fees.  

      On August 18, 2004, we entered into a Payment Guarantee Agreement whereby we agreed to guarantee the payment obligations of MAW 
Mansfelder up to a maximum of € 3,600,000 plus interest and reasonable legal fees.  

      On July 19, 2004, we entered into a Payment Guarantee Agreement whereby we agreed to guarantee the payment obligations of MFC 
Commodities GmbH up to a maximum of € 3,000,000 plus interest and reasonable legal fees.  

      On July 19, 2004, we entered into a Payment Guarantee Agreement whereby we agreed to guarantee the payment obligations of MFC 
Commodities GmbH up to a maximum of € 7,500,000 plus interest and reasonable legal fees.  

      On July 13, 2004, we entered into an Arrangement Agreement with Sutton Park International Limited, Blue Earth Refineries Inc., New 
Nature Canco Inc., 4025750 Canada Inc. and new Sutton Canco Inc., whereby we agreed to transfer the one common share we own in Blue 
Earth Refineries (Canada) Inc. to Blue Earth Refineries Inc. in exchange for the issuance by Blue Earth Refineries Inc. to us of one common 
share in the capital of Blue Earth Refineries Inc.  

      On July 12, 2004, we entered into a Guarantee Agreement whereby we agreed to guarantee, until terminated by three months notice, the 
obligations of Mazak Limited up to a maximum of the payment obligations of Mazak which arise pursuant to that certain Business Finance 
Agreement with Mazak Limited.  

      On July 4, 2004, we agreed to deliver a Bill of Exchange to secure payment of a line of credit up to a maximum of € 6,000,000 in the name 
of MFC Commodities GmbH.  

      On March 29, 2004 we entered into a Guarantee Agreement whereby we agreed to guarantee the obligations of Mazak Slovakia, s.r.o. up to 
a maximum of € 370,000 plus interest and reasonable legal fees.  

      On March 17, 2004, we entered into a Guarantee Agreement whereby we agreed to guarantee the obligations of MFC Commodities GmbH 
up to a maximum of € 3,000,000 plus interest and reasonable legal fees.  

      On February 3, 2004, we entered into a Guarantee Agreement whereby we agreed to guarantee the obligations HIT Paper Trading GmbH 
up to a maximum of € 1,000,000 plus interest and reasonable legal fees.  

      On February 1, 2004, we entered into a Letter Agreement whereby we agreed to reimburse and indemnify with respect to certain 
obligations of MFC Commodities GmbH under certain factoring agreements.  

      On February 1, 2004, we entered into a Letter Agreement whereby we agreed to reimburse and indemnify with respect to the obligations of 
MFC Pulp & Paper GmbH under certain factoring agreements.  

      On January 22, 2004, we entered into an Advance Payment Guarantee Agreement whereby we agreed to guarantee the obligations of 
MFC Commodities GmbH up to a maximum of U.S.$2,000,000 plus interest and reasonable legal fees.  

      Effective January 7, 2004, we issued an aggregate of € 3.2 million of convertible bonds to third parties. The bonds bear interest at the rate 
of 4.4% per annum, mature on December 31, 2009 and are convertible into shares of our common stock at various prices depending on the time 
of conversion. At any time on or after December 31, 2005, we may, at our option, redeem the bonds in whole or in part at a redemption price 
equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon.  
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      Pursuant to an Indemnity Agreement, we undertook to guarantee the payment of certain obligations of Mazak Limited which arise pursuant 
to that certain Business Finance Agreement, dated July 24, 2003, with Mazak Limited.  

      On December 19, 2003, we entered into a Guarantee Agreement, whereby we agreed to guarantee, until January 31, 2006, the payment 
obligations of Mazak Limited up to a maximum of US$2,000,000, plus interest and reasonable legal fees.  

      There are presently no governmental laws, decrees or regulations in Canada which restrict the export or import of capital, or which impose 
foreign exchange controls or affect the remittance of interest, dividends or other payments to non-resident holders of our common shares. 
However, any remittances of dividends to United States residents are subject to a 15% withholding tax (5% if the beneficial owner of the 
dividends is a corporation owning at least 10% of our voting shares) pursuant to the Canada- United States Tax Convention (1980), as amended 
(the “Treaty”). See “Item 10. Additional Information — Taxation”.  

      Except as provided in the Investment Canada Act, there are no limitations specific to the rights of non-Canadians to hold or vote our 
common shares under the laws of Canada or British Columbia, or in our charter documents. The following summarizes the principal features of 
the Investment Canada Act for non-Canadian residents proposing to acquire our common shares. This summary is of a general nature only 
and is not intended to be, and should not be construed to be, legal advice to any holder or prospective holder of our common shares, 
and no opinion or representation to any holder or prospective holder of our common shares is hereby made. Accordingly, holders and 
prospective holders of our common shares should consult with their own legal advisors with respect to the consequences of purchasing 
and owning our common shares.  

      The Investment Canada Act governs the acquisition of Canadian businesses by non-Canadians. Under the Investment Canada Act, non-
Canadian persons or entities acquiring “control” (as defined in the Investment Canada Act ) of a corporation carrying on business in Canada are 
required to either notify, or file an application for review with, Industry Canada. Industry Canada may review any transaction which results in 
the direct or indirect acquisition of control of a Canadian business, where the gross value of corporate assets exceeds certain threshold levels 
(which are higher for investors from members of the World Trade Organization, including United States residents, or World Trade 
Organization member-controlled companies) or where the activity of the business is related to Canada’s cultural heritage or national identity. 
No change of voting control will be deemed to have occurred, for purposes of the Investment Canada Act, if less than one-third of the voting 
control of a Canadian corporation is acquired by an investor.  

      If an investment is reviewable under the Investment Canada Act, an application for review in the form prescribed is normally required to be 
filed with Industry Canada prior to the investment taking place, and the investment may not be implemented until the review has been 
completed and the Minister responsible for the Investment Canada Act is satisfied that the investment is likely to be of net benefit to Canada. If 
the Minister is not satisfied that the investment is likely to be of net benefit to Canada, the non-Canadian applicant must not implement the 
investment, or if the investment has been implemented, may be required to divest itself of control of the Canadian business that is the subject of 
the investment.  

      Certain transactions relating to our common shares would be exempt from the Investment Canada Act, including:  
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D. Exchange Controls 

        (a) the acquisition of our common shares by a person in the ordinary course of that person’s business as a trader or dealer in securities; 
  

        (b) the acquisition of control of our company in connection with the realization of security granted for a loan or other financial 
assistance and not for a purpose related to the provisions of the Investment Canada Act; and 

  

        (c) the acquisition of control of our company by reason of an amalgamation, merger, consolidation or corporate reorganization 
following which the ultimate direct or indirect control in fact of our company, through ownership of our common shares, remains 
unchanged. 



Table of Contents  

      We consider that the following general summary fairly describes the principal Canadian federal income tax consequences applicable to a 
holder of our common shares who is a resident of the United States, who is not, will not be and will not be deemed to be a resident of Canada 
for purposes of the Income Tax Act (Canada) and any applicable tax treaty and who does not use or hold, and is not deemed to use or hold, his 
common shares in the capital of our company in connection with carrying on a business in Canada (a “non-resident holder”).  

      This summary is based upon the current provisions of the Income Tax Act, the regulations thereunder (the “Regulations”), the current 
publicly announced administrative and assessing policies of the Canada Customs and Revenue Agency and the Treaty. This summary also 
takes into account the amendments to the Income Tax Act and the Regulations publicly announced by the Minister of Finance (Canada) prior to 
the date hereof (the “Tax Proposals”) and assumes that all such Tax Proposals will be enacted in their present form. However, no assurances 
can be given that the Tax Proposals will be enacted in the form proposed, or at all. This summary is not exhaustive of all possible Canadian 
federal income tax consequences applicable to a holder of our common shares and, except for the foregoing, this summary does not take into 
account or anticipate any changes in law, whether by legislative, administrative or judicial decision or action, nor does it take into account 
provincial, territorial or foreign income tax legislation or considerations, which may differ from the Canadian federal income tax consequences 
described herein.  

      This summary is of a general nature only and is not intended to be, and should not be construed to be, legal, business or tax advice 
to any particular holder or prospective holder of our common shares, and no opinion or representation with respect to the tax 
consequences to any holder or prospective holder of our common shares is made. Accordingly, holders and prospective holders of our 
common shares should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the income tax consequences of purchasing, owning and disposing 
of our common shares in their particular circumstances.  

      Dividends paid on our common shares to a non-resident holder will be subject under the Income Tax Act to withholding tax at a rate of 
25% subject to a reduction under the provisions of an applicable tax treaty, which tax is deducted at source by our company. The Treaty 
provides that the Income Tax Act standard 25% withholding tax rate is reduced to 15% on dividends paid on shares of a corporation resident in 
Canada (such as our company) to residents of the United States, and also provides for a further reduction of this rate to 5% where the beneficial 
owner of the dividends is a corporation resident in the United States that owns at least 10% of the voting shares of the corporation paying the 
dividend.  

      A non-resident holder is not subject to tax under the Income Tax Act in respect of a capital gain realized upon the disposition of a common 
share of our company unless such share represents “taxable Canadian property” (as defined in the Income Tax Act ) to the holder thereof. Our 
common shares generally will be considered taxable Canadian property to a nonresident holder if:  

owned, or had an interest in an option in respect of, not less than 25% of the issued shares of any class of our capital stock at any time during 
the 60 month period immediately preceding the disposition of such shares. In the case of a non-resident holder to whom shares of our company 
represent taxable Canadian property and who is resident in the United States, no Canadian taxes will generally be payable on a capital gain 
realized on such shares by reason of the Treaty unless the value of such shares is derived principally from real property situated in Canada.  
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        (b) persons with whom the non-resident holder did not deal at arm’s length; or 
  

        (c) the non-resident holder and persons with whom such non-resident holder did not deal at arm’s length, 
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     Certain United States Federal Income Tax Consequences  

      The following is a general discussion of certain possible United States Federal foreign income tax matters under current law, generally 
applicable to a US Holder (as defined below) of our common shares who holds such shares as capital assets. This discussion does not address 
all aspects of United States Federal income tax matters and does not address consequences peculiar to persons subject to special provisions of 
Federal income tax law, such as those described below as excluded from the definition of a US Holder. In addition, this discussion does not 
cover any state, local or foreign tax consequences. See “Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax Consequences” above.  

      The following discussion is based upon the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), Treasury Regulations, published 
Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) rulings, published administrative positions of the IRS and court decisions that are currently applicable, any or 
all of which could be materially and adversely changed, possibly on a retroactive basis, at any time. In addition, this discussion does not 
consider the potential effects, both adverse and beneficial, of any recently proposed legislation which, if enacted, could be applied, possibly on 
a retroactive basis, at any time. No assurance can be given that the IRS will agree with such statements and conclusions, or will not take, or a 
court will not adopt, a position contrary to any position taken herein.  

      The following discussion is for general information only and is not intended to be, nor should it be construed to be, legal, business 
or tax advice to any holder or prospective holder of our common shares, and no opinion or representation with respect to the United 
States Federal income tax consequences to any such holder or prospective holder is made. Accordingly, holders and prospective 
holders of common shares should consult their own tax advisors with respect to Federal, state, local, and foreign tax consequences of 
purchasing, owning and disposing of our common shares.  

      As used herein, a “US Holder” includes a holder of less than 10% of our common shares who is a citizen or resident of the United States, a 
corporation created or organized in or under the laws of the United States or of any political subdivision thereof, any entity which is taxable as 
a corporation for United States tax purposes and any other person or entity whose ownership of our common shares is effectively connected 
with the conduct of a trade or business in the United States. A US Holder does not include persons subject to special provisions of Federal 
income tax law, such as tax-exempt organizations, qualified retirement plans, financial institutions, insurance companies, real estate investment 
trusts, regulated investment companies, broker-dealers, non-resident alien individuals or foreign corporations whose ownership of our common 
shares is not effectively connected with the conduct of a trade or business in the United States and shareholders who acquired their shares 
through the exercise of employee stock options or otherwise as compensation.  

      The gross amount of a distribution paid to a US Holder will generally be taxable as dividend income to the US Holder for United States 
federal income tax purpose to the extent paid out of our current or accumulated earnings and profits, as determined under United States federal 
income tax principles. Distributions to non-corporate US Holders which are taxable dividends and which meet certain requirements will be 
“qualified dividend income” and taxed to US Holders at a maximum United States federal rate of 15%. Distributions in excess of our current 
and accumulated earnings and profits will be treated first as a tax-free return of capital to the extent the US Holder’s tax basis in the common 
shares and, to the extent in excess of such tax basis, will be treated as a gain from a sale or exchange of such shares.  

      In general, upon a sale, exchange or other disposition of common shares, a US Holder will generally recognize a capital gain or loss for 
United States federal income tax purposes in an amount equal to the difference between the amount realized on the sale or other distribution 
and the US Holder’s adjusted tax basis in such shares. Such gain or loss will be a United States source gain or loss and will be treated as a 
long-term capital gain or loss if the US Holder’s holding period of the shares exceeds one year. If the US Holder is an individual, any capital 
gain will generally be subject to United States federal income tax at preferential rates if specified minimum holding periods are met. The 
deductibility of capital losses is subject to significant limitations.  
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      A US Holder may be subject to US backup withholding tax on dividends paid or the proceeds of sales made unless the US Holder is a 
corporation or other exempt recipient, or provides a US tax identification number. US backup withholding tax may also apply if there has been 
notification from the Internal Revenue Service of a failure to report all interest or dividends.  

      Backup withholding tax may be credited against the US Holder’s US income tax liability, and, where the withholding tax exceeds the actual 
liability, the US Holder may obtain a refund by filing the appropriate refund claim with the Internal Revenue Service.  

      A US Holder who pays (or has had withheld from distributions) Canadian income tax with respect to the ownership of our common shares 
may be entitled, at the option of the US Holder, to either a deduction or a tax credit for such foreign tax paid or withheld. Generally, it will be 
more advantageous to claim a credit because a credit reduces United States Federal income taxes on a dollar-for-dollar basis, while a deduction 
merely reduces the taxpayer’s income subject to tax. This election is made on a year-by-year basis and generally applies to all foreign income 
taxes paid by (or withheld from) the US Holder during that year. There are significant and complex limitations which apply to the tax credit, 
among which is an ownership period requirement and the general limitation that the credit cannot exceed the proportionate share of the 
US Holder’s United States income tax liability that the US Holder’s foreign source income bears to his or its worldwide taxable income. In 
determining the application of this limitation, the various items of income and deduction must be classified into foreign and domestic sources. 
Complex rules govern this classification process. There are further limitations on the foreign tax credit for certain types of income such as 
“passive income”, “high withholding tax interest”, “financial services income”, “shipping income”, and certain other classifications of income. 
The availability of the foreign tax credit and the application of these complex limitations on the tax credit are fact specific and holders 
and prospective holders of our common shares should consult their own tax advisors regarding their individual circumstances.  

      In general, a foreign corporation becomes a passive foreign investment company (“PFIC”) with respect to a US Holder in the tax year that 
either 75% of its gross income for the year is “passive income” or 50% of its assets during the year produce or are held for the production of 
“passive income”. We do not believe that we currently are a PFIC. However, since PFIC status with respect to a particular US Holder depends 
upon the composition of a company’s income and assets and the market value of its assets and shares from time to time, there is no assurance 
that we will not be considered a PFIC with respect to such US Holder for any taxable year. If we were treated as a PFIC for any taxable year 
during which a US Holder held shares, certain adverse tax consequences could apply to the US Holder.  

      If we are treated as a PFIC for any taxable year with respect to a US Holder, gains recognized by such US Holder on a sale or other 
disposition of shares would be allocated ratably over the US Holder’s holding period for the shares. The amount allocated to the taxable year of 
the sale or other exchange and to any year before we became a PFIC would be taxed as ordinary income. The amount allocated to each other 
taxable year would be subject to tax at the highest rate in effect for individuals or corporations, as applicable, and an interest charge would be 
imposed on the amount allocated to such taxable year. Further, any distribution in respect of shares in excess of 125% of the average of the 
annual distributions on shares received by the US Holder during the preceding three years or the US Holder’s holding period, whichever is 
shorter, would be subject to taxation as described above. Certain elections may be available to US Holders that may mitigate some of the 
adverse consequences resulting from PFIC status. However, regardless of whether such elections are made, dividends paid by a PFIC will not 
be “qualified dividend income” and will generally be taxed at the higher rates applicable to other items of ordinary income.  

      US Holders and prospective holders should consult their own tax advisors regarding the potential application of the PFIC rules to 
their ownership of our common shares.  

      For information on the corporate reorganization involving Mass Financial discussed in the Business Overview (Item 4.B. above) and the 
income tax consequences of the distribution of Mass Financial shares,  
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please see the information statement dated December 30, 2005 as revised pursuant to an errata sheet filed on EDGAR ( www.sec.gov ) with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on a Form  6-K on January 25, 2006.  

      Not applicable.  

      Not applicable.  

      Documents and agreements concerning our company may be inspected at the offices of Clark Wilson LLP, Suite 800-885 West Georgia 
Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada.  

      As at March 31, 2006, our significant wholly-owned direct and indirect subsidiaries are as follows:  

      As at March 31, 2006, our significant non-wholly-owned subsidiaries are as follows:  

      We are exposed to market risks from changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and equity prices which may affect our 
results of operations and financial condition and, consequently, our fair value. We manage these risks through internal risk management 
policies as well as the use of derivative instruments. We use derivative instruments to manage our exposure and our clients’ exposure to 
currency exchange rate risks. The use of derivative instruments depends on our management’s perception of future economic events and 
developments. These types of derivative instruments are generally highly speculative in nature. They are also very volatile as they are highly 
leveraged given that margin requirements are relatively low in proportion to notional amounts.  
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F. Dividends and paying agents. 

G. Statement by Experts 

H. Documents on Display 

I. Subsidiary Information 

      

    Jurisdiction of 
    Incorporation or 
Name of Wholly-Owned Subsidiary   Organization 

      

MFC Merchant Bank S.A.     Switzerland 
Robabond Holding AG    Switzerland 
MFC Commodities AG    Switzerland 
KHD Humboldt Wedag International Holdings GmbH    Austria 
KHD Humboldt Wedag International GmbH    Austria 
Humboldt Wedag Inc.     USA 
Humboldt Wedag India Ltd.     India 

                      

    Jurisdiction of         
    Incorporation or       Our 
Name of Non-Wholly-Owned Subsidiary   Organization   Owner of Interests   Shareholding 

              

Sasamat Capital Corporation      Canada     KHD Humboldt Wedag International 
Ltd.     50.5%(1 ) 

MFC Industrial Holdings AG    
  Germany 

    KHD Humboldt Wedag International 
Ltd. 

  
  97%(1 ) 

KHD Humboldt Wedag GmbH      Germany     MFC Industrial Holdings AG     100%(2 ) 
Zementanlagenbau Dessau GmbH      Germany     KHD Humboldt Wedag GmbH     100%(2 ) 
Altmark Industriepark AG      Germany     KHD Humboldt Wedag GmbH     94.8%(2 ) 
ZAB Industrietechnik & Service GmbH      Germany     Zementanlagenbau Dessau GmbH     100%(2 ) 
  

(1)  Representing shareholding by the immediate parent company. 
  

(2)  Held by our company and/or our subsidiaries. 

ITEM 11 Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 
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      Many of our strategies, including the use of derivative instruments and the types of derivative instruments selected by us, are based on 
historical trading patterns and correlations and our management’s expectations of future events. However, these strategies may not be fully 
effective in all market environments or against all types of risks. Unexpected market developments may affect our risk management strategies 
during this time, and unanticipated developments could impact our risk management strategies in the future. If any of the variety of instruments 
and strategies we utilize are not effective, we may incur losses.  

Derivative Instruments  

      At December 31, 2005 and 2004, we had an interest rate swap of a notional amount of $nil million and $8.8 million, respectively, with the 
purpose of converting a variable interest rate debt into a fixed interest rate debt. The debt was paid off in 2005. We recognized a fair value gain 
of $28,000 and a loss of $14,000, respectively, in 2005 and 2004.  

Interest Rate Risk  

      Fluctuations in interest rates may affect the fair value of fixed interest rate financial instruments sensitive to interest rates. An increase in 
market interest rates may decrease the fair value of our financial instrument assets and increase the fair value of our financial instrument 
liabilities. A decrease in market interest rates may increase the fair value of our financial instrument assets and decrease the fair value of our 
financial instrument liabilities. Unsecured loans are subject to interest rate risk. An increase in interest rates may increase the risk of defaults on 
loans. However, since our loans are collateralized and the majority of our loans are fixed interest rate, we do not consider that these loans are 
subject to interest rate risk. Our financial instruments which may be sensitive to interest rate fluctuations are investments, loans, debt 
obligations and interest rate swap. The following tables provide information about our exposure to interest rate fluctuations for the carrying 
amount of financial instruments that may be sensitive to such fluctuations as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and expected cash 
flows from these instruments.  

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk  

      Our reporting currency is the Canadian dollar. We hold financial instruments primarily denominated in U.S. dollars, Euros and Swiss 
francs. A depreciation of such currencies against the Canadian dollar will decrease the fair value of our financial instrument assets and 
liabilities. An appreciation of such currencies against the Canadian dollar will increase the fair value of our financial instrument assets and 
liabilities. Our financial instruments which may be sensitive to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations are investments,  
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    As at December 31, 2005 
      

        Expected Cash Flow(1) 
    Carrying   Fair     
    Value   Value   2006   2007   2008   2009   2010   Thereafter 
                                  

    (In thousands) 
Investments(2)    $ 46,687     $ 46,687     $ 16,798     $ 4,900     $ 4,900     $ 4,900     $ 4,900     $ 34,936   
Loans(3)      6,820       6,820       306       478       478       478       478       10,213   
Debt obligations      20,240       20,318       13,678       165       781       2,720       307       6,431   
  

(1)  Including interest and dividends where applicable. 
  

(2)  Investments consist of debt securities and preferred stock. 
  

(3)  Unsecured loans. 
                                                                  

    As at December 31, 2004 
      

        Expected Cash Flow(1) 
    Carrying   Fair     
    Value   Value   2005   2006   2007   2008   2009   Thereafter 
                                  

    (In thousands) 
Investments(2)    $ 50,201     $ 50,201     $ 19,461     $ 4,900     $ 4,900     $ 4,900     $ 4,900     $ 35,640   
Loans(3)      9,667       9,667       229       3,220       —      —      —      11,240   
Debt obligations      19,133       19,249       8,220       8,812       432       723       6,976       —  
Interest rate swap liability      93       93       87       37       —      —      —      —  
  

(1)  Including interest and dividends where applicable. 
  

(2)  Investments consist of debt securities and preferred stock. 
  

(3)  Unsecured loans. 
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loans, deposits, debt obligations and interest rate swap. The following tables provide information about our exposure to foreign currency 
exchange rate fluctuations for the carrying amount of financial instruments that may be sensitive to such fluctuations as at December 31, 2005 
and 2004, respectively, and expected cash flows from these instruments:  

Equity Price Risk  

      Changes in trading prices of equity securities may affect the fair value of equity securities or the fair value of other securities convertible 
into equity securities. An increase in trading prices will increase the fair value and a decrease in trading prices will decrease the fair value of 
equity securities or instruments convertible into equity securities. Our financial instruments which may be sensitive to fluctuations in equity 
prices are investments and debt obligations. The following tables provide information about our exposure to fluctuations  
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    As at December 31, 2005 
      

        Expected Cash Flow(1) 
    Carrying   Fair     
    Value   Value   2006   2007   2008   2009   2010   Thereafter 
                                  

    (In thousands) 
Investments(2)    $ 26,117     $ 26,117     $ 17,055       —      —      —      —    $ 8,906   
Loans(3)      24,405       24,405       18,701       478       478       478       478       10,213   
Deposits(4)      16,971       16,971       16,971       —      —      —      —      —  
Debt obligations(5)      24,125       24,204       17,621       165       781       2,720       307       6,431   
  

(1)  Including interest and dividends where applicable. 
  

(2)  Investments consist of debt securities and equity securities, both of which are denominated in U.S. dollars, Euros or Swiss francs. 
  

(3)  Loans are denominated in U.S. dollars, Euros or Swiss francs. 
  

(4)  Deposits consist of cash deposits, other than Canadian dollars, with MFC Merchant Bank S.A. 
  

(5)  Debt obligations consist of the bonds and other debt, all of which are denominated in U.S. dollars, Euros or Swiss francs. 
                                                                  

    As at December 31, 2004 
      

        Expected Future Cash Flow(1) 
    Carrying   Fair     
    Value   Value   2005   2006   2007   2008   2009   Thereafter 
                                  

    (In thousands) 
Investments(2)    $ 28,820     $ 29,321     $ 19,345     $ —    $ —    $ —    $ —    $ 9,886   
Loans(3)      26,865       26,865       10,551       8,466       110       110       110       14,333   
Deposits(4)      37,021       37,021       37,021       —      —      —      —      —  
Debt obligations(5)      40,927       41,042       30,666       8,812       432       723       6,976       —  
Interest Rate Swap Liability      93       93       87       37       —      —      —      —  
  

(1)  Including interest and dividends where applicable. 
  

(2)  Investments consist of debt securities and equity securities, both of which are denominated in U.S. dollars, Euros or Swiss francs. 
  

(3)  Loans are denominated in U.S. dollars, Euros or Swiss francs. 
  

(4)  Deposits consist of cash deposits, other than Canadian dollars, with MFC Merchant Bank S.A. 
  

(5)  Debt obligations consist of the bonds and other debt, all of which are denominated in U.S. dollars, Euros or Swiss francs. 
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in equity prices for the carrying amount of financial instruments sensitive to such fluctuations as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, 
and expected cash flows from these instruments:  

      Not applicable.  

PART II  

      Not applicable.  

      Not applicable.  

      As required by Rule  13a-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, we have carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of the 
design and operation of our company’s disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this annual report, being 
December 31, 2005. This evaluation was carried out under the supervision and with the participation of our company’s management, including 
our company’s president. Based upon that evaluation, our company’s president concluded that our company’s disclosure controls and 
procedures are effective. There have been no changes in our company’s internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during our most 
recent fiscal year that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal controls over financial reporting. There 
have been no significant changes in our internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect those controls subsequent to the date 
of this evaluation.  

      Disclosure controls and procedures are controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in 
our company’s reports filed or submitted under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within 
the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without 
limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our company’s reports filed under the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is accumulated and communicated to management, including our company’s president and chief executive 
officer as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.  
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    As at December 31, 2005 Expected Cash Flow(1) 
      

    Carrying   Fair     
    Value   Value   2006   2007   2008   2009   2010   Thereafter 
                                  

    (In thousands) 
Investments(2)    $ 51,807     $ 51,810     $ 12,868     $ 4,900     $ 4,900     $ 4,900     $ 4,900     $ 43,842   
  

(1)  Including interest and dividends where applicable. 
  

(2)  Investments consist of equity securities. 
                                                                  

    As at December 31, 2004 Expected Future Cash Flow(1) 
      

    Carrying   Fair     
    Value   Value   2005   2006   2007   2008   2009   Thereafter 
                                  

    (In thousands) 
Investments(2)    $ 52,658     $ 53,159     $ 12,359     $ 4,900     $ 4,900     $ 4,900     $ 4,900     $ 45,700   
  

(1)  Including interest and dividends where applicable. 
  

(2)  Investments consist of equity securities. 

ITEM 12 Description of Securities Other Than Equity Securities 

ITEM 13 Defaults, Dividend Arrearages and Delinquencies 

ITEM 14 Material Modifications to the Rights of Security Holders and Use of Proceeds 

ITEM 15 Controls and Procedures 



Table of Contents  

      Our board of directors has determined that Silke Brossmann, a member of our audit committee, qualifies as an “audit committee financial 
expert” and is “independent” as the term is defined in Rule 4200 of the NASD Marketplace Rules. Ms. Brossmann has a designation of 
Controller, IHK (that is, Certified Controller) granted by the German Chamber of Commerce and has completed international accounting 
standards courses at Steuerfachscheule Dr. Endriss GmbH & Co. KG, a tax and accounting college in Cologne, Germany. She has experience 
in corporate planning, project control, supervision of financial accounting, reporting analysis, and co-ordination with auditors.  

Code of Ethics  

      Effective January 27, 2004, our company’s board of directors adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to, among other 
persons, our company’s chief executive officer (being our principal executive officer) and our company’s secretary (being our principal 
financial and accounting officer and controller), as well as persons performing similar functions. As adopted, our Code of Business Conduct 
and Ethics sets forth written standards that are designed to deter wrongdoing and to promote:  

      Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics requires, among other things, that all of our company’s personnel shall be accorded full access to 
our chief executive officer and secretary with respect to any matter which may arise relating to the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics. 
Further, all of our company’s personnel are to be accorded full access to our company’s board of directors if any such matter involves an 
alleged breach of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics by our chief executive officer or secretary.  

      In addition, our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics emphasizes that all employees, and particularly managers and/or supervisors, have a 
responsibility for maintaining financial integrity within our company, consistent with generally accepted accounting principles, and federal, 
provincial and state securities laws. Any employee who becomes aware of any incidents involving financial or accounting manipulation or 
other irregularities, whether by witnessing the incident or being told of it, must report it to his or her immediate supervisor or to our company’s 
chief executive officer or secretary. If the incident involves an alleged breach of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics by the chief 
executive officer or secretary, the incident must be reported to any member of our board of directors. Any failure to report such inappropriate 
or irregular conduct of others is to be treated as a severe disciplinary matter. It is against our company policy to retaliate against any individual 
who reports in good faith the violation or potential violation of our company’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics by another.  

      Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics was filed as Exhibit 11.1 to our 2003 annual report on Form  20-F filed on April 26, 2004. We 
will provide a copy of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics to any person without charge, upon request. Requests can be sent by mail to: 
KHD Humboldt Wedag International Ltd., 8th Floor, Dina House, Ruttonjee Centre, 11 Duddell Street, Central, Hong Kong, China.  
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ITEM 16 [Reserved] 

ITEM 16A Audit Committee Financial Expert 

ITEM 16B Code of Ethics 

        (a) honest and ethical conduct, including the ethical handling of actual or apparent conflicts of interest between personal and 
professional relationships; 

  

        (b) full, fair, accurate, timely, and understandable disclosure in reports and documents that we file with, or submit to, the Securities and 
Exchange Commission and in other public communications made by us; 

  

        (c) compliance with applicable governmental laws, rules and regulations; 
  

        (d) the prompt internal reporting of violations of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics to an appropriate person or persons 
identified in the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics; and 

  

        (e) accountability for adherence to the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics. 
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      Our board of directors appointed BDO Dunwoody LLP as independent auditors to audit our financial statements for the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2005. Our company’s former auditors, Peterson Sullivan PLLC, resigned voluntarily and there were no disagreements between 
our company and Peterson Sullivan PLLC on any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure or auditing scope 
or procedures. The decision to appoint BDO Dunwoody LLP as our new auditors was made by our audit committee.  

Audit Fees  

      In fiscal year 2005, the aggregate fees billed by BDO Dunwoody for professional services rendered for the audit of our annual financial 
statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005 were $55,842 (which amount does not include all fees related to the audit of our annual 
financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005). BDO Dunwoody did not provide any professional services in connection 
with the audit of our financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004.  

Audit Related Fees  

      For the fiscal years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, BDO Dunwoody did not perform any assurance or related services relating to the 
performance of the audit or review of our financial statements which are not reported under the caption “Audit Fees” above.  

Tax Fees  

      BDO Dunwoody did not provide any professional services for tax compliance, tax advice or tax planning for the fiscal years ended 
December 31, 2005 and 2004.  

All Other Fees  

      For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005, BDO Dunwoody performed non-audit professional services, other than those services listed 
above, for fees totalling $111,656. For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004, BDO Dunwoody did not perform any other non-audit 
professional services, other than those services listed above.  

      The audit committee pre-approves all services provided by our independent auditors. All of the services and fees described under the 
categories of “Audit Related Fees”, “Tax Fees” and “All Other Fees” were reviewed and approved by the audit committee before the respective 
services were rendered and none of such services were approved by the audit committee pursuant to paragraph (c)(7)(i)(c) of Rule  2-01 of 
Regulation  S-X.  

      The audit committee has considered the nature and amount of the fees billed by BDO Dunwoody, and believes that the provision of the 
services for activities unrelated to the audit is compatible with maintaining the independence of BDO Dunwoody.  

      Not applicable.  

      During the year ended December 31, 2005, our board of directors approved the repurchase of up to 1,500 shares of our common stock. The 
repurchase program commenced on January 1, 2005 and closed on December 31, 2005. In the year ended December 31, 2005, we purchased 
the following shares of our common stock:  
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ITEM 16C Principal Accountant Fees and Services 

ITEM 16D Exemptions from the Listing Standards for Audit Committees 

ITEM 16E Purchases of Equity Securities by Our Company and Affiliated Purchasers 

                                  

            Total Number of     
            Shares Purchased as   Maximum Number of 
        Average Price   Part of Publicly   Shares that May Yet 
    Total Number   Paid per   Announced Plans   Be Purchased Under 
Period   of Shares Purchased   Share   or Programs   the Plans or Programs 

                  

May 2005      1,500     U.S.$ 18.13       1,500       Nil   
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PART III  

Financial Statements Filed as Part of the Annual Report:  

      Refer to Item 17 — Financial Statements.  
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ITEM 17 Financial Statements 

  Independent Auditor’s Report of BDO Dunwoody LLP dated March 24, 2006 on the Consolidated Financial Statements of our company as 
at December 31, 2005 

  

  Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Peterson Sullivan PLLC dated March 18, 2005 on the Consolidated Financial 
Statements of our company as at December 31, 2004 and 2003 

  

  Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2005 and 2004 
  

  Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 
  

  Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’  Equity for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 
  

  Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements 

ITEM 18 Financial Statements 
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Auditors’ Report  

To The Shareholders of  
KHD Humboldt Wedag International Ltd.  
(formerly MFC Bancorp Ltd.)  

      We have audited the Consolidated Balance Sheet of KHD Humboldt Wedag International Ltd. (formerly MFC Bancorp Ltd.) as at 
December 31, 2005 and the Consolidated Statements of Income, Changes in Shareholders’ Equity and Cash Flows for the year then ended. 
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audit.  

      We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and with the standards of the Public Company 
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether 
the financial statements are free of material misstatements. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  

      In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as at 
December 31, 2005 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles.  

      The comparative figures were audited by other auditors who issued their opinion without reservation on March 18, 2005.  

Vancouver, Canada  
March 24, 2006  
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  /s/ BDO Dunwoody LLP 
  Chartered Accountants 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  

To the Shareholders  
KHD Humboldt Wedag International Ltd. (formerly MFC Bancorp Ltd.)  

      We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of KHD Humboldt Wedag International Ltd. and Subsidiaries as of 
December 31, 2004, and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years ended 
December 31, 2004 and 2003. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.  

      We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and with the standards of the Public Company 
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis 
for our opinion.  

      In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of KHD 
Humboldt Wedag International Ltd. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the 
years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in Canada, which differ from 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States as described in Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.  

March 18, 2005  
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  /s/ Peterson Sullivan PLLC 
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KHD HUMBOLDT WEDAG INTERNATIONAL LTD. AND SUBSIDIAR IES  
(Formerly MFC BANCORP LTD.)  

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  
December 31, 2005 and 2004  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements  

                      

    2005   2004 
          

    (Canadian Dollars 
    in Thousands) 

ASSETS 
Current Assets                  
  Cash and cash equivalents    $ 226,550     $ 215,722   
  Restricted cash      25,669       16,496   
  Securities      18,963       21,113   
  Loans      12,403       9,816   
  Receivables, commodities transactions      12,184       32,959   
  Receivables, industrial and engineering services      40,326       31,449   
  Receivables      29,769       33,718   
  Commodity inventories      28,397       25,775   
  Inventories      45,052       11,019   
  Real estate held for sale      32,038       42,924   
  Contract deposits, prepaid and other      13,059       21,819   
  Future income tax assets      8,854       8,021   
              

    Total current assets      493,264       470,831   
Non-current Assets                  
  Securities      9,202       9,858   
  Loans      11,002       17,049   
  Property, plant and equipment      12,633       22,108   
  Investment in resource property      35,341       35,341   
  Goodwill      15,141       20,445   
  Equity method investments      18,679       18,490   
  Future income tax assets      14,569       9,577   
              

    Total non-current assets      116,567       132,868   
              

    $ 609,831     $ 603,699   
              

  
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

Current Liabilities                  
  Accounts payable and accrued expenses    $ 186,111     $ 160,012   
  Notes payable, commodities transactions      11,531       7,700   
  Notes payable, industrial and engineering services      3,432       10,671   
  Long-term debt, current portion      1,872       8,173   
  Pension liabilities      1,736       1,874   
  Deposits      20,202       46,523   
  Provision for warranty costs      23,932       11,641   
  Future income tax liability      353       6,274   
              

    Total current liabilities      249,169       252,868   
Long-term Liabilities                  
  Long-term debt, less current portion      7,290       14,383   
  Pension liabilities      29,828       34,918   
  Provision for warranty costs      5,162       1,559   
  Future income tax liability      11,838       —  
  Other long-term liabilities      672       1,240   
              

    Total long-term liabilities      54,790       52,100   
              

    Total liabilities      303,959       304,968   
Minority Interests      21,089       29,310   
Shareholders’  Equity                  
  Common stock, without par value; authorized unlimited number      72,847       71,512   
  Equity component of convertible debt      146       146   
  Retained earnings      244,158       209,961   
  Currency translation adjustments      (32,368 )     (12,198 ) 
              

    Total shareholders’  equity      284,783       269,421   
              

    $ 609,831     $ 603,699   
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KHD HUMBOLDT WEDAG INTERNATIONAL LTD. AND SUBSIDIAR IES  
(Formerly MFC BANCORP LTD.)  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME  
For the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements  
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    2005   2004   2003 
              

    (Canadian Dollars in Thousands, Except 
    Earnings Per Share) 
Revenue                          
  Financial services    $ 557,535     $ 498,672     $ 409,513   
  Industrial and engineering services      398,475       199,092       —  
                    

      956,010       697,764       409,513   
Expenses                          
  Financial services      502,494       430,945       329,549   
  Industrial and engineering services      326,029       158,329       —  
  General and administrative      74,257       62,632       25,187   
  Interest      9,066       7,443       4,392   
                    

      911,846       659,349       359,128   
                    

Income from operations before income taxes and minority interests      44,164       38,415       50,385   
Recovery of (provision for) income taxes      (3,160 )     4,168       (837 ) 
                    

Income from operations before minority interests      41,004       42,583       49,548   
Minority interests      (6,807 )     (5,632 )     (432 ) 
                    

  Net income    $ 34,197     $ 36,951     $ 49,116   
                    

Earnings per share                          
  Basic    $ 2.51     $ 2.73     $ 3.76   
                    

  Diluted    $ 2.50     $ 2.70     $ 3.59   
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KHD HUMBOLDT WEDAG INTERNATIONAL LTD. AND SUBSIDIAR IES  
(formerly MFC BANCORP LTD.)  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’  EQUITY  
For the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements  
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    Common Stock   Equity             
        Component of       Currency     
    Number of       Convertible   Retained   Translation     
    Shares   Amount   Debt   Earnings   Adjustments   Total 
                          

    (Canadian Dollars in Thousands) 
Balance at December 31, 2002      12,831,854     $ 70,269     $ —    $ 196,288     $ 18,733     $ 285,290   
Net income      —      —      —      49,116       —      49,116   
Shares issued for exercise of stock options      487,500       4,281       —      —      —      4,281   
Shares issued for conversion of bonds      72,261       1,294       —      —      —      1,294   
Repurchase of shares      (672,183 )     (13,953 )     —      —      —      (13,953 ) 
Translation adjustment      —      —      —      —      (35,851 )     (35,851 ) 
Distribution of assets declared, at carrying value      —      —      —      (71,730 )     —      (71,730 ) 
                                      

Balance at December 31, 2003      12,719,432       61,891       —      173,674       (17,118 )     218,447   
Net income      —      —      —      36,951       —      36,951   
Issuance of convertible debt, equity component      —      —      186       —      —      186   
Shares issued for conversion of bonds      965,837       16,904       (40 )     —      —      16,864   
Repurchase of shares      (406,000 )     (10,058 )     —      —      —      (10,058 ) 
Shares re-issued as a result of liquidation of a 

subsidiary      297,877       2,775       —      —      —      2,775   
Translation adjustment      —      —      —      —      4,920       4,920   
Pre-consolidation income of purchased 

subsidiaries      —      —      —      81       —      81   
Adjustment to the recorded value of assets 

distributed      —      —      —      (745 )     —      (745 ) 
                                      

Balance at December 31, 2004      13,577,146     $ 71,512     $ 146     $ 209,961     $ (12,198 )   $ 269,421   
Net income      —      —      —      34,197       —      34,197   
Repurchase of shares      (1,500 )     (34 )     —      —      —      (34 ) 
Shares issued for increase of equity interest in 

subsidiaries      58,743       1,353       —      —      —      1,353   

Shares issued for cash      995       16       —      —      —      16   
Translation adjustment      —      —      —      —      (20,170 )     (20,170 ) 
                                      

Balance at December 31, 2005      13,635,384     $ 72,847     $ 146     $ 244,158     $ (32,368 )   $ 284,783   
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KHD HUMBOLDT WEDAG INTERNATIONAL LTD. AND SUBSIDIAR IES  
(Formerly MFC BANCORP LTD.)  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  
For the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003  

Supplemental disclosure with respect to cash flows (See Note 1)  
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    2005   2004   2003 
              

    (Canadian Dollars in Thousands) 
Cash flows from operating activities                          
  Net income    $ 34,197     $ 36,951     $ 49,116   
  Adjustments for:                          
    Gain on debt settlement      (3,423 )     (843 )     —  
    Loan impairment      1,000       —      —  
    Amortization and depreciation      3,981       10,333       1,487   
    Minority interests      6,807       5,632       432   
    Gain on disposition of subsidiaries      (9,082 )     —      —  
    Financial advisory services revenue      —      —      (6,089 ) 
    Gain on short-term securities      (1,145 )     (7,225 )     (1,970 ) 
    Gain on sales of securities and assets, net      —      —      (17,574 ) 
    Impairment of a long-term investment      3,097       —      —  

    
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions and 

dispositions                          
      Short-term securities      552       18,105       8,991   
      Restricted cash      (12,784 )     (8,090 )     —  
      Receivables      (15,096 )     6,542       (4,687 ) 
      Receivables, commodities transactions      (1,003 )     11,753       14,146   
      Commodity inventories      (22,579 )     (11,531 )     1,080   
      Inventories      (38,589 )     (1,192 )     —  
      Real estate held for sale      3,208       (71 )     1,064   
      Accounts payable and accrued expenses      94,880       25,523       (2,617 ) 
      Provision for warranty costs      19,575       (1,350 )     —  
      Future income taxes      (1,659 )     (5,444 )     —  
      Contract deposits, prepaid and other      5,621       (18,282 )     (1,572 ) 
    Other      (125 )     (602 )     (4,444 ) 
                    

Cash flows provided by operating activities      67,433       60,209       37,363   
Cash flows from investing activities                          
  Net decrease (increase) in loans      (3,575 )     (9,761 )     52,438   
  Sales (purchases) of long-term securities, net      (65 )     (5,118 )     4,788   
  Purchases of property, plant and equipment      (2,952 )     (3,693 )     —  
  Disposition of subsidiaries, net of cash disposed      1,004       (207 )     —  
  Purchases of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired      (4,078 )     31,133       (755 ) 
  Proceeds from sale of assets      218       —      10,634   
  Distributions from equity method investees      4,187       1,439       —  
  Other      —      358       (2,175 ) 
                    

Cash flows (used in) provided by investing activities      (5,261 )     14,151       64,930   
Cash flows from financing activities                          
  Net increase (decrease) in deposits      (18,342 )     23,842       (13,516 ) 
  Borrowings      7,696       7,937       6,649   
  Debt repayments      (22,566 )     (30,459 )     (6,769 ) 
  Notes payable, commodities transactions      6,622       7,642       (24,953 ) 
  Issuance (repurchase) of common stock, net      (34 )     (10,058 )     (9,672 ) 
  Issuance of shares by a subsidiary      —      1,392       —  
  Other      (466 )     12       (31 ) 
                    

Cash flows (used in) provided by financing activities      (27,090 )     308       (48,292 ) 
Exchange rate effect on cash and cash equivalents      (24,254 )     (4,398 )     (10,962 ) 
                    

Increase in cash and cash equivalents      10,828       70,270       43,039   
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year      215,722       145,452       102,413   
                    

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year    $ 226,550     $ 215,722     $ 145,452   
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KHD HUMBOLDT WEDAG INTERNATIONAL LTD. AND SUBSIDIAR IES  
(Formerly MFC BANCORP LTD.)  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

Note 1.     The Company and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  

      The consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles (“GAAP”) applicable in Canada. The notes are stated in Canadian dollars (except otherwise indicated), as rounded to the nearest 
thousand (except per share amounts).  

      KHD Humboldt Wedag International Ltd. (formerly MFC Bancorp Ltd.) and its subsidiaries (“the Company”) operates internationally in 
the engineering services industry, and specializes in the cement, coal and mineral engineering services industries. The Company also operates 
in the financial service industry, which includes merchant banking, financial advisory services, proprietary investing, and trading activities on 
an international basis which are facilitated by the Company’s banking and trading subsidiaries. Subsequent to December 31, 2005, the majority 
of the financial service industry business was distributed to the shareholders of the Company (See Note 24, Subsequent Events).  

      In March 2004, the Company acquired a controlling interest in MFC Industrial Holdings AG, (“MFC Industrial”). MFC Industrial, through 
its major subsidiaries, KHD Humboldt Wedag AG groups of companies, together with the Company’s direct subsidiary, KHD Humboldt 
Wedag International GmbH and its subsidiaries, are engaged in the business of industrial and engineering services in the fields of cement, coal 
and minerals processing technologies. KHD Humboldt Wedag AG and KHD Humboldt Wedag International GmbH, with their subsidiaries, 
are collectively known as “KHD” in these financial statements.  

      As a result of the MFC Industrial acquisition, effective from April 1, 2004, the Company operates in two reportable business segments: 
financial services and industrial and engineering services.  

      The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and 
transactions have been eliminated. In 2005, the Company adopts Accounting Standards Board’s (“AcSB”) Accounting Guideline (“AcG”) 15, 
Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities , which requires consolidation of certain entities that are subject to control on a basis other than 
ownership of voting interests. The purpose of AcG 15 is to provide guidance for determining when an enterprise includes the assets, liabilities 
and results of activities of such an entity (a “variable interest entity”) in its consolidated financial statements. The Company determines that it 
does not have any variable interest entities. When a subsidiary issues shares to interests outside the Company, the effect of the change in the 
Company’s interest as a result of the share issue enters into the determination of consolidated net income.  

      The Company uses the equity method to account for investments when it has the ability to significantly influence the investee’s operating 
and financial policies. Under the equity method, the investment is initially recorded at cost, then reduced by distributions and increased or 
decreased by the Company’s proportionate share of the investee’s net earnings or loss and unrealized currency translation adjustment. When 
there is an other than temporary decline in value, the investment is written down and the unrealized loss is included in the results of operations.  

      In December 2003, the board of directors declared a distribution of assets consisting of the shares in a subsidiary with a carrying value of 
$64,718 and an investment in an equity method investee with a carrying value of $7,012, totaling $71,730. Both entities are involved in natural 
resources production. In December 2004, the Company completed the distribution of the shares. An adjustment of $745 was made to increase 
the carrying value of the assets distributed to reflect the change in the carrying value since December 2003.  

      Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less and are generally interest 
bearing. The Company regularly maintains cash balances in financial institutions in excess of insured limits.  
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KHD HUMBOLDT WEDAG INTERNATIONAL LTD. AND SUBSIDIAR IES  
(Formerly MFC BANCORP LTD.)  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)  

      Restricted cash consists of the following at December 31:  

      Securities are classified, based on management’s intentions, as trading account securities, short-term securities and long-term investment 
securities.  

      Trading account securities, which are purchased for sale within a short period of time by the Company’s banking subsidiary, are stated at 
their quoted market value with the unrealized gain or loss included in the results of operations. Short-term marketable securities are carried at 
the lower of aggregate cost or quoted market value. Short-term unlisted investments are carried at the lower of cost or estimated net realizable 
value.  

      Long-term investment securities are purchased with the original intention to hold the securities to maturity or until market conditions render 
alternative investments more attractive. Investment in resource property, which represents an investment in preferred shares, is stated at cost. 
The investee collects royalty income from an iron ore deposit and pays a fixed dividend of $4,900 per annum, plus a participating dividend, on 
the preferred shares. The iron ore deposit is currently leased to a joint venture of steel producers and a trader under certain lease agreements 
which will expire in 2055. Equity securities are stated at cost and debt securities at amortized cost unless there has been an other than 
temporary decline in value, at which time the security is written down and the write-down is included in the results of operations.  

      Realized gains or losses on sales of securities are determined on the specific identification basis.  

      Loans are stated at their principal balances net of any allowances for credit losses, accrued interest, reimbursable expenses and unamortized 
loan fees. Receivables are stated at their principal balances net of any allowance for credit losses. Receivables are considered past due on an 
individual basis based on the terms of the contracts.  

      Loans are classified as impaired when there is no longer reasonable assurance of the timely collection of principal and interest. Whenever a 
contractual payment is 90 days past due, loans are automatically classified as impaired unless they are fully secured and in the process of 
collection. When a loan is deemed impaired, its carrying amount is reduced to its estimated realizable value, measured by discounting the 
expected future cash flows at the effective interest rate in the loan or, as a practical expedient, based on a loan’s observable market price or the 
fair value of collateral if the loan is collateral dependent. In subsequent periods, any increase in the carrying value of the loan is credited to the 
provision for credit losses. Impaired loans are returned to performing status when there is no longer reasonable doubt regarding timely 
collection of principal and interest, all amounts in arrears including interest have been collected, and all charges for loan impairment have been 
reversed. Where a portion of a loan is written off and the remaining balance is restructured, the new loan is carried on the accrual basis when 
there is no longer any reasonable doubt regarding collectibility of principal and interest, and payments are not 90 days past due. Collateral is 
obtained for loans and receivables if, based on an evaluation of credit-worthiness, it is considered necessary for the overall credit facility.  

      Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans are recorded at the lesser of their fair value at the date of transfer or the carrying value of the loan. 
Any excess of the carrying value of the loan over the fair value of the assets acquired is written off. Operating results and gains and losses on 
disposal of such assets are treated as write-offs and recoveries.  
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    2005   2004 
          

Security for current industrial and engineering contracts    $ 25,067     $ 11,006   
Collateral for debt currently due      37       5,122   
Other      565       368   
              

    $ 25,669     $ 16,496   
              

Securities 

Loans and Receivables 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)  

      Interest income from loans is recognized when earned using the interest method unless the loan is classified as impaired at which time 
recognition of interest income ceases. Interest on impaired loans is credited to the carrying value of the loan when received. Loan origination 
fees are considered to be adjustments to loan yield and are deferred and amortized to interest income over the term of the loan. Commitment 
fees are amortized to income over the commitment period when it is unlikely that the commitment will be called upon; otherwise, they are 
deferred and amortized to interest income over the term of the resulting loan. Loan syndication fees are recognized in income unless the yield 
on any loans retained by the Company is less than that of other comparable lenders involved in the financing. In such cases, an appropriate 
portion of the fee is deferred and amortized to interest income over the term of the loan.  

      The Company’s allowance for credit losses is to be maintained at an amount considered adequate to absorb estimated credit-related losses. 
Such allowance reflects management’s best estimate of the losses in the Company’s credit portfolio and judgments about economic conditions. 
Estimates and judgments could change in the near-term, and could result in a significant change to a recognized allowance. Credit losses arise 
primarily from loans or receivables but may also relate to other credit instruments such as guarantees and letters of credit. An allowance for 
credit losses may be increased by provisions which are charged to income and reduced by write-offs net of any recoveries.  

      Specific provisions are established on a loan-by-loan or receivable basis. A general provision may be established to absorb potential credit 
losses attributable to the deterioration of credit quality on aggregate exposures for which specific provisions cannot yet be determined. A 
country risk provision may be made based on exposures in less developed countries and on management’s overall assessment of the underlying 
economic conditions in those countries. Write-offs are generally recorded after all reasonable restructuring or collection activities have taken 
place and there is no realistic prospect of recovery.  

      At December 31, 2005, the Company wrote down a loan by $1,000, due to an impairment charge (which was included in financial services 
expenses). No loans were considered impaired at December 31, 2004 and the Company did not consider it necessary to reserve for any other 
loans or receivables, country risks or general risks.  

      Derivative financial instruments are financial contracts whose value is derived from interest rates, foreign exchange rates or other financial 
or commodity indices. These instruments are either exchange-traded or negotiated. Derivatives may be designated as hedges, provided certain 
criteria are met. As at December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Company has no derivative financial instruments which have been designated as 
hedges.  

      The Company enters into derivative contracts usually to meet the needs of its customers, to take trading positions and to manage the interest 
rate fluctuation of its debt. These derivatives are marked to market with any unrealized gains or losses recognized immediately in the 
determination of income.  

      The Company held one interest rate swap derivative financial instrument with a notional amount of $nil at December 31, 2005 and $8,880 
at December 31, 2004. The Company recognized a fair value gain (loss) on this derivative of $28, $(14) and $(79) in 2005, 2004 and 2003, 
respectively, which is included in the determination of net income.  

      During 2002, the Company entered into a loan agreement with a client for $49,691, which contained an embedded derivative clause. This 
embedded derivative was designed to eliminate an inherent foreign currency risk. The loan was repaid in 2003 and there was no realized gain 
or loss on this embedded derivative.  

      Commodity inventories consist primarily of metals and paper products held for sale. These inventories are stated at the lower of cost 
(specific identification method) or estimated net realizable value and are subject to world-wide market price fluctuation.  
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)  

      Inventories consist of construction raw materials, work-in -progress (costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted 
contracts), and finished goods. Inventories are recorded at the lower of cost (specific identification and first-in first-out methods) or estimated 
net realizable value and consist of the following at December 31:  

      Real estate held for sale is stated at the cost and fair value, whichever is lower. The fair value measurement includes market value, appraisal 
value or estimated net realizable value. No write-down has been recorded in these consolidated financial statements. The Company’s real estate 
is being actively marketed and is, therefore, classified as a current asset. Profit or loss on sales of real estate is recognized when the amount of 
revenue is determinable, certain down payment requirements are met, collection of the proceeds of sale is reasonably assured, all other 
significant conditions and obligations are met, and no significant further involvement remains with respect to the real estate being sold.  

      Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Property, plant and equipment are reviewed periodically 
for impairment in value using the estimated future undiscounted cash flows. Any resulting write-downs to fair value are charged to the results 
of operations. No such losses have been recorded in these consolidated financial statements.  

      Properties used in natural resource processing facilities were depreciated using the units-of -production method. Units-of -production rates 
were based on estimated production from existing facilities using current operating methods. Other property, plant, and equipment are 
depreciated according to the following lives and methods:  

      Depreciation expense of property, plant and equipment amounting to $3,984 in 2005, $9,630 in 2004 and $784 in 2003, is included in cost 
of sales and general and administrative expenses, as applicable. Repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred.  

      The Company accounts for obligations associated with the retirement of long-lived assets that result from the acquisition, construction, 
development and the normal operation of long-lived assets under Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants’ (“CICA”) Handbook 
Section 3110, Asset Retirement Obligations. Under these rules, the fair value of the liability is initially recorded and the carrying value of the 
related asset is increased by the corresponding amount. The liability is accreted to its present value and the capitalized cost is amortized over 
the useful life of the related asset. The Company does not currently have any assets subject to asset retirement obligation accounting.  
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Inventories 

                  

    2005   2004 
          

Raw materials    $ 4,812     $ 4,073   
Work in progress      37,536       3,907   
Finished goods      2,704       3,039   
              

    $ 45,052     $ 11,019   
              

Real Estate Held for Sale 

Property, Plant and Equipment 

              

    Lives   Method 
          

Buildings      15 to 20  years     straight-line 
Investment property (building portion)      20 years     straight-line 
Manufacturing plant equipment      3 to 20 years     straight-line 
Office equipment      3 to 10 years     straight-line 

Asset Retirement Obligations 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)  

      Goodwill represents the difference between the acquisition cost of a business and the fair value of its net tangible assets after an allocation 
has been made for intangible assets with indefinite and finite lives. Goodwill is not amortized but is subject to fair value impairment tests, on at 
least an annual basis. Goodwill is allocated to reporting units and any potential goodwill impairment is identified by comparing the carrying 
value of the reporting unit with its fair value. If any potential impairment is identified, then the amount of the impairment is quantified by 
comparing the carrying value of goodwill to its fair value, based on the fair value of the assets and liabilities of the reporting unit. Any 
impairment of goodwill is charged to the results of operations in the period in which the impairment is determined.  

      The Company’s convertible bonds include both debt and equity components. The proceeds from the bonds have been allocated to those 
components on a relative fair value basis. Over the term of the debt obligation, the debt component will be accreted to the face value of the 
convertible bonds.  

      Revenues from trading in various basic materials are recognized as agreed upon activities are performed or as assets are disposed of with no 
substantial further involvement by the Company and collectibility is reasonably assured. Revenues from sales of marketable securities are 
recognized on the settlement dates. Revenues from other financial services are recognized as services are provided and collectibility is 
reasonably assured.  

      Revenue from construction contracts in the Company’s industrial and engineering segment is generally recognized under the percentage of 
completion method, measured by costs incurred to date to total estimated cost for each contract. This method is used because management 
considers total cost to be the best available measure of progress on contracts. Because of the inherent uncertainties in estimating costs, it is at 
least reasonably possible that the estimates used may change in the near term.  

      Contract costs include all direct material and labor costs as well as any other direct and indirect cost attributable to each individual contract. 
General and administrative expenses are charged to expense when incurred. If estimated costs to complete a contract indicate a loss, provision 
is made in the current period for the total anticipated loss.  

      The contracts and services of the Company’s industrial and engineering segment are generally covered by product and service warranty that 
is generally good for one year. Many of the Company’s construction contracts guarantee the plants for a predefined term against technical 
problems. Each contract defines the conditions under which a customer may make a claim. The provision is calculated per contract based on 
experience with past contracts. A liability for the estimated warranty expenses is established when the contracts and services are performed and 
completed, and the warranty expenses are charged to the cost of sales.  

      The Company has one defined benefit pension plan for employees of certain KHD companies in Germany who were hired prior to 1997. 
Employees hired after 1996 are not eligible for such benefits. The liability recognized in the consolidated balance sheet with respect to the 
defined benefit plan is the present value of the defined obligation at the balance sheet date. The Company relies on independently prepared 
actuarial reports to record pension costs and pension liabilities, using the projected unit credit method. The report is prepared based on certain 
demographic and financial assumptions. The variables in the actuarial  
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computation include, but are not limited to, the following: demographic assumptions about the future characteristics of the employees (and 
their dependants) who are eligible for benefits, the discount rate, and future salary.  

      The Company translates assets and liabilities of its self-sustaining foreign subsidiaries at the rate of exchange at the balance sheet date. 
Revenues and expenses have been translated at the average rate of exchange throughout the year. Unrealized gains or losses from these 
translations, or currency translation adjustments, are included in the equity section of the consolidated balance sheets. The currency translation 
adjustments do not recognize the effect of income tax because the Company expects to reinvest the amounts indefinitely.  

      Transaction gains that arise from exchange rate fluctuations on transactions denominated in a currency other than the local functional 
currency amounting to $2,156, $1,233 and $8,348 in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, have been included in general and administrative 
expenses in the consolidated statements of income.  

      The Company uses the asset and liability method to provide for income taxes on all transactions recorded in these consolidated financial 
statements. Under this method, future income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for temporary differences between the tax and accounting 
bases of assets and liabilities as well as for the benefit of losses to be carried forward to future years for tax purposes that are likely to be 
realized using expected tax rates in which the temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled.  

      Until December 31, 2003, the Company followed the intrinsic value based method of accounting for compensation resulting from the 
granting of stock options to employees, in accordance with CICA Handbook Section 3870, Stock-Based Compensation and Other Stock-Based 
Payments (“Section 3870”). Effective January 1, 2004, the Company adopted the amended Handbook Section 3870, which requires share-
based transactions to be measured on a fair value basis using an option-pricing model. Stock based payments to non-employees are to be 
expensed based on the fair value of shares or options issued. There have been no stock based payments to non-employees.  

      There were no stock options granted during 2005, 2004 or 2003. There was no effect on net income and earnings per share for 
compensation expense recognized on the basis of fair value of employee stock options granted. Therefore, no reconciliation is provided for the 
proforma net income and earnings per share.  

      Basic earnings per share is determined by dividing net income applicable to common shares by the average number of common shares 
outstanding for the year. Diluted earnings per share is determined using the same method as basic earnings per share except that the weighted 
average number of common shares outstanding includes the potential dilutive effect of stock options and warrants granted under the treasury 
stock method. The treasury stock method determines the number of additional common shares by assuming that outstanding stock warrants and 
options whose exercise price is less than the average market price of the Company’s common stock during the period are exercised and then 
reduced by the number of common shares assumed to be repurchased with the exercise proceeds. The dilutive effect of a Convertible debt is 
computed under the “if-converted” method. However, such potential dilution is not recognized in a loss year.  

      The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian and United States generally accepted accounting principles requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Key  
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areas of estimation where management has made difficult, complex or subjective judgments, often as a result of matters that are inherently 
uncertain, include those relating to allowance for credit losses, fair value of financial investments, provisions for warranties, pension liabilities 
other than temporary impairments of investment securities, accounting for construction contracts, and valuation of commodity investments, 
property, plant and equipment, resource property, goodwill, future income tax assets and provision for income taxes, among other items. 
Therefore, actual results could differ from those estimates.  

      Interest paid on a cash basis was $8,699, $6,569 and $4,001 for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Income 
tax of $1,702 and $847 was paid in 2005 and 2004 respectively and income tax paid in 2003 was insignificant.  

      In addition to nonmonetary transactions that are disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the Company had the 
following nonmonetary transactions.  

      Nonmonetary transactions in 2005 were: (1) the disposition of a wholly owned subsidiary to a third party for $3,106, consisting of cash of 
$1,311 and a receivable of $1,795, and a loss of $749 was recognized; (2) the issuance of 4,454 Company’s shares valued at $127 to acquire an 
additional 0.5% equity interest in a 95% owned subsidiary; (3) the settlement with another third party whereby, among other, the Company 
took over certain indebtedness owed to the third party by the Company and its subsidiaries, resulting in a gain of $3,021; and issued 54,289 
Company’s shares valued at $1,226 in exchange for the third party’s 23% equity interest in the Company’s 62% owned subsidiary, and (4) the 
receipt of shares in a publicly-traded company, valued at $129, by our banking subsidiary as deferred revenue. Nonmonetary transactions in 
2004 were: (1) the liquidation of a non-wholly owned subsidiary and subsequent distribution of common stock of the Company owned by the 
subsidiary to minority shareholders of the subsidiary, resulting in an increase to common stock of $2,775, (2) the conversion of a $2,074 loan 
receivable into shares of common stock of a company accounted for using the equity method, and (3) the conversion of a $2,442 loan 
receivable into shares of common stock of a company acquired in 2004. Nonmonetary transactions in 2003 include (1) receipt of debentures for 
financial advisory services in the amount of $6,089, valued based on the fair value of the debentures received, and (2) the reduction of a mining 
tax liability on resource property of $1,943.  

      Certain 2004 and 2003 amounts have been reclassified to conform to the 2005 presentation.  

      AcSB issued CICA Handbook Section 3855, Financial Instruments — Recognition and Measurement , which establish the standards for 
recognizing and measuring financial assets, financial liabilities and non-financial derivatives.  

      The AcSB issued CICA Handbook Section 3861 Financial Instruments — Disclosure and Presentation , which establishes standards for 
presentation of financial instruments and non-financial derivatives, and identifies the information that should be disclosed about them. The 
presentation paragraphs deal with the classification of financial instruments, from the perspective of the issuer, between liabilities and equity, 
the classification of related interest, dividends, losses and gains, and the circumstances in which financial assets and financial liabilities are 
offset. The disclosure paragraphs deal with information about factors that affect the amount, timing and certainty of an entity’s future cash 
flows relating to financial instruments.  

      Both sections apply to interim and annual financial statements relating to fiscal years beginning on or after October 1, 2006. Management is 
analyzing the requirements of these new sections.  
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      AcSB issued CICA Handbook Section 1530, Comprehensive Income , which establishes standards for reporting and display of 
comprehensive income. This section is effective for years beginning on or after October 1, 2006.  

      AcSB also revised CICA Handbook Section 3250, Surplus , and reissued it as CICA Handbook Section 3251, Equity. The section is also 
effective for years beginning on or after October 1, 2006. The changes in how to report and disclose equity and changes in equity are consistent 
with the new requirements of Section 1530, Comprehensive Income.  

      Management is analyzing the requirements of these new sections.  

      AcSB issued CICA Handbook Section 3865, Hedges , which describe when and how hedge accounting may be applied. The section is 
effective for years beginning on or after October 1, 2006. Management is analyzing the requirements of this new section.  

      AcSB issued CICA Handbook Section 3831, Non-Monetary Transactions , which replaces Section 3830 of the same title. It requires all 
non-monetary transactions to be measured at fair value except for limited cases. Commercial substance replaces culmination of the earnings 
process as a test for fair value measurement. This section will be effective after December 31, 2005. Management is analyzing the requirements 
of this new section.  

      AcSB issued Emerging Issue Committee Abstract No. 159, Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations , which requires (i) an entity should 
recognize a liability for the fair value of a conditional asset retirement obligation if the fair value of the liability can be reasonably estimated; 
(ii) an entity would have sufficient information to apply an expected present value technique, and therefore an asset retirement obligation 
would be reasonably estimable, if either of the two conditions (as defined) exists; and (iii) if sufficient information is not available at the time 
the liability is incurred, a liability should be recognized initially in the period in which sufficient information becomes available to estimate its 
fair value. This abstract shall be applied to financial statements ending after March 31, 2006. Management does not expect that it will have 
significant impact on the financial statements.  

Note 2.     Acquisitions and Dispositions of Subsidiaries  

      In September 2005, the Company and Sasamat Capital Corporation (“Sasamat”) entered into an agreement to increase its equity interest in 
Sasamat in exchange for cash of $4,523, which resulted in the Company’s equity interest in Sasamat increasing from 39.2% to 50.5%. Prior to 
September 30, 2005, Sasamat was accounted for by equity method and the carrying amount of the Company’s investment in Sasamat was 
$11,614 as at September 30, 2005, the date of acquisition. The major asset of Sasamat is approximately 34% equity interest in MFC Industrial 
which has been consolidated into the Company’s financial statements since March 31, 2004. The Company’s effective beneficial interest in 
MFC Industrial increased from 76.5% to 79.7% as a result of this transaction. Because the additional shares were acquired at less than carrying 
value of the proportionate interest in underlying net assets of $14,440, no goodwill nor other intangible assets were recorded as a result of this 
acquisition. Sasamat has been consolidated since its acquisition date.  

      In August 2005, the Company paid $1,664 in cash for a 70% equity interest in a newly incorporated entity in China, Tianjian Humboldt 
Wedag Liyuan Machinery & Technology Ltd., which is an equipment manufacturer. At the time of acquisition, its only asset was cash. This 
acquisition was not considered as a material business combination and no goodwill nor other intangible were acquired. The Company acquired 
interest in this subsidiary with intention to expand its industrial and engineering business in China.  
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      During 2005, the Company disposed of or reduced its equity interest in HIT International Trading AG, AWP Aluminium Walzprodukte 
GmbH, Alson Enterprises Corporation, Blake International, Inc. and other immaterial subsidiaries, resulting in these subsidiaries being 
deconsolidated. On the disposition of these subsidiaries, the Company recognized $9,082 net gain which was included in the financial services 
expenses. The dispositions of these significant subsidiaries, all of which were under financial services segment, were not considered as 
discontinued operations as the Company has significant continuing involvement in the operations of these former subsidiaries after the disposal 
transaction.  

Note 3.     Goodwill  

      The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill are as follows:  

      Based on a review of the fair value of the Company’s reporting units, management has determined that no impairment of goodwill was 
necessary at December 31, 2004 and 2003, and an impairment of $3 was necessary at December 31, 2005.  

Note 4.     Securities  

      Short-term marketable securities consisted of debt securities in ten companies (2004: nine companies) of $10,995 (having stated interest 
rates ranging from 4.5% to 6.25%, except one security of $380 having an interest rate at 11.8%) and $13,654 (having stated interest rates 
ranging from 4.125% to 6.0%), preferred shares in seven companies (2004: eight companies) of $756 and $903 and common shares of $5,712 
and $4,796 at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The carrying value of these marketable securities equals their quoted market value as 
at December 31, 2005 and 2004. Holding gains of $1,196, $8 and $12 were included in the results of operations for years ended December 31, 
2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. In addition, the Company has short-term investment in the common shares of two unlisted companies with 
estimated net realizable value of $1,500 and $1,760 as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.  

      Long-term securities consist of the following at December 31:  

      All of these long-term securities are unlisted, except for common shares with carrying value $149 and $398, which had a quoted market 
value of $152 and $902, as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Investment in two and one companies represented 99% and 96% 
(based on quoted market value) of the total listed investments as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.  

      At December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Company had long-term unlisted investments in the common shares of nine and eleven affiliates with 
a carrying value of $8,756 and $8,922, respectively.  

      For additional information on concentration, see Note 23.  
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    2005   2004 
          

Balance at beginning of year    $ 20,445     $ 16,127   
Acquisitions/dispositions, net      (1,170 )     4,294   
Impairment      (3 )     —  
Exchange rate effect      (4,131 )     24   
              

Balance at end of year    $ 15,141     $ 20,445   
              

                                                                  

    Unrealized Gains and Losses 
      

    2005   2004 
          

        Gross   Gross   Estimated       Gross   Gross   Estimated 
    Carrying   Unrealized   Unrealized   Market   Carrying   Unrealized   Unrealized   Market 
    Value   Gains   Losses   Value   Value   Gains   Losses   Value 
                                  

Preferred shares    $ 299     $ —    $ —    $ 299     $ 299     $ —    $ —    $ 299   
Common shares      8,903       3       —      8,906       9,559       504       —      10,063   
                                                  

    $ 9,202     $ 3     $ —    $ 9,205     $ 9,858     $ 504     $ —    $ 10,362   
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Note 5.     Loans  

Loan maturities:  

      Bank loans generally earn interest ranging from 6.4% to 9.1% and other loans generally earn interest ranging from 3.8% to 7.0% as of 
December 31, 2005.  

      At December 31, 2005, other loans include $2,492 due from an affiliate in which the Company has a less than 20% equity interest. At 
December 31, 2004, other loans include $9,546 due from four affiliates in which the Company has a less than 20% equity interest.  

Note 6.     Receivables  

      Generally, the receivables arise in the normal course of business and are expected to be collected within one year from the year end. Due 
from affiliates included $10,227 and $15,868 due from a 19% owned affiliate as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively (See Note 22, 
Related Party Transactions).  

Note 7.     Property, Plant and Equipment  
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    2005   2004 
          

Bank loans, collateralized by traded securities and other assets, amounts due from one company of $4,182 and 
$5,489 at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, are collateralized by patents    $ 4,183     $ 6,382   

Other loans, collateralized by traded securities, receivables, inventories and other tangible assets, due from 
two companies $16,731 at December 31, 2005 and due from two companies $18,145 at December 31, 2004      19,222       20,483   

              

    $ 23,405     $ 26,865   
              

                                  

    Within   1 – 5   More than   2005 
    1 Year   Years   5 Years   Total 
                  

Bank loans    $ 1     $ 4,182     $ —    $ 4,183   
Other loans      12,402       —      6,820       19,222   
                          

    $ 12,403     $ 4,182     $ 6,820     $ 23,405   
                          

                  

    2005   2004 
          

Sale of a subsidiary    $ 1,795     $ —  
Investment income      1,710       5,628   
Pension plan recovery      —      1,812   
Government taxes      5,474       2,080   
Due from affiliates      14,001       16,664   
Other      6,789       7,534   
              

    $ 29,769     $ 33,718   
              

                                                  

    2005   2004 
          

        Accumulated   Net Book       Accumulated   Net Book 
    Cost   Depreciation   Value   Cost   Depreciation   Value 
                          

Buildings    $ 2,083     $ (1,033 )   $ 1,050     $ 2,424     $ (1,030 )   $ 1,394   
Investment property      12,713       (4,775 )     7,938       12,232       (3,657 )     8,575   
Manufacturing plant and equipment      6,633       (3,775 )     2,858       16,026       (5,086 )     10,940   
Office equipment      2,000       (1,213 )     787       2,626       (1,427 )     1,199   
                                      

    $ 23,429     $ (10,796 )   $ 12,633     $ 33,308     $ (11,200 )   $ 22,108   
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      In 2005, the manufacturing plant and equipment and office equipment disposed as a result of dispositions of subsidiaries aggregated $3,825 
at the time of the dispositions.  

Note 8.     Contracts in Progress  

      Information relative to contracts in progress at December 31, 2005 and 2004, is as follows:  

      The following represents the Company’s backlog of contracts as of December 31, which includes executed contracts only:  

      KHD has facilities under credit lines of up to a maximum of $126,510 with a bank which issues performance bonds. The credit lines relate 
to KHD’s industrial and engineering contracts. As of December 31, 2005, $83,018 of the available credit lines has been committed, however, 
there are no claims outstanding against the credit lines at that date. As at December 31, 2005, cash of $25,067 has been collateralized against 
these credit lines and the banks charges 0.7% to 1.0% for issuing performance bonds.  
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    2005   2004 
          

Costs incurred to date on uncompleted contracts    $ 160,528     $ 68,010   
Estimated earnings recognized to date on these contracts      33,201       13,626   
              

      193,729       81,636   
Less billings to date      (199,848 )     (117,670 ) 
              

      (6,119 )     (36,034 ) 
Exchange      210       (875 ) 
              

    $ (5,909 )   $ (36,909 ) 
              

This amount is included in the balance sheet as follows:                  

  
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts (included in 

inventories)    $ 33,945     $ 3,907   

  Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts (included in accounts 
payable and accrued expenses)      (39,854 )     (40,816 ) 

              

    $ (5,909 )   $ (36,909 ) 
              

                      

    2005   2004 
          

Contracts in process                  
  Total contract amount    $ 477,562     $ 383,054   
  Less revenue recognized through December 31      (92,667 )     (81,636 ) 
  Exchange      (13,245 )     7,315   
              

    Total backlog    $ 371,650     $ 308,733   
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Note 9.     Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses  

Note 10.     Deposits  

      All deposits at December 31, 2005 and 2004, were payable to clients of the Company’s banking subsidiary on demand. Certain deposit 
accounts do not earn interest. As at December 31, 2005, the interest-bearing deposit accounts bear interest in the range of 0.25% to 2.67%. As 
at December 31, 2004, the deposits bear interest at not more than .25%. The banking subsidiary conducts limited commercial banking. At 
December 31, 2005, deposits from seven affiliates amounted to $12,244. At December 31, 2004, deposits from three affiliates amounted to 
$21,759. The Company has less than 50% equity interest in these affiliates.  

Note 11.     Provision for Warranty Costs  

      Warranty activity consisted of:  

Note 12.     Notes Payable  

      As at December 31, 2005, the Company’s financial services segment has line of credit arrangements with banks under which it may borrow 
up to a maximum aggregate amount of $143,542 ( € 103,979). $11,531 and $7,700 overdraft was drawn and outstanding as of December 31, 
2005 and 2004, respectively. The lines require quarterly interest payments. Overdraft of $8,978 pays a fixed interest rates ranging from 3.19% 
to 5.34% and the remainder of $2,553 pays variable interest rates ranging from European benchmark bank rates plus 0.8% to 4.5%, resulting in 
a range of 3.19% to 5.05% (except one overdraft of $14 paying 8.80%) as at December 31, 2005. Certain of the lines are on a revolving basis 
with termination rights retained by the banks. The lines are  
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    2005   2004 
          

Accounts payable    $ 118,487     $ 98,115   
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts      39,854       40,816   
Bank overdrafts      142       1,044   
Short-term financing, unsecured and payable on demand, interest at Euribor      5,922       —  
Government taxes      6,244       4,165   
Affiliates      3,475       906   
Commissions and compensation      6,294       1,626   
Interest      313       975   
Other      5,380       12,365   
              

    $ 186,111     $ 160,012   
              

                    

    2005   2004 
          

Balance at beginning of year    $ 13,200     $ —  
Balance at the time of the acquisition of KHD      —      15,225   
Costs incurred      (6,391 )     (3,876 ) 
Warranty reserves established on completed contracts      30,160       3,625   
Reversal of reserves at end of warranty period      (4,195 )     (1,587 ) 
Exchange differences      (3,680 )     (187 ) 
              

Balance, at end of year    $ 29,094     $ 13,200   
              

Included in the consolidated balance sheet as follows:                  
  Current portion    $ 23,932     $ 11,641   
  Long-term portion      5,162       1,559   
              

    $ 29,094     $ 13,200   
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collateralized by commodity transaction receivables of $12,184 and commodity investments of $578 at December 31, 2005.  

      The Company’s industrial and engineering services segment has line of credit arrangements with banks under which it may borrow up to a 
maximum aggregate amount of $4,142 ( € 3,000). $3,432 and $10,671 overdraft was drawn and outstanding as of December 31, 2005 and 
2004, respectively. The lines are due on demand and require monthly interest payments at fixed interest rates ranging from 7.5% to 8.75%. The 
lines are collateralized by real estate at December 31, 2005.  

Note 13.      Long-term Debt  

      As of December 31, 2005, the principal maturities of debt are as follows:  

      Interest expense on long-term debt was $934, $1,339 and $2,443 for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.  
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    2005   2004 
          

Bonds payable, € 2,523 at December 31, 2005 and 2004, interest at 4.4%, interest due annually in December, 
principal due December 2019, unsecured. These bonds are convertible, at holders’ option, into common 
shares of the Company at various contractually fixed prices increasing each year over the next four years 
ranging from € 18.23 to € 22.15 per share, until its maturity    $ 3,404     $ 3,995   

Bonds payable, US$869 and US$1,316 at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, interest at 5%, principal 
and interest due December 2016, unsecured      1,013       1,584   

Note payable to a bank, € 5,450 at December 31, 2004, interest at six-month Euribor plus 1.5% (resulting in a 
rate of 4.61%), interest and principal payments of $2,220 ( € 1,363) due semi-annually beginning June 2003, 
due in full December 2006, secured by commodity transactions receivables. Paid in full in 2005      —      8,880   

Note payable to a corporation, interest at six-month Euribor plus 2% (resulting in a rate of 3.98%), interest due 
annually and principal due on demand, secured by cash deposit of $3,421. Paid in full in 2005      —      3,421   

Note payable to a bank, € 1,857 at December 31, 2005, interest at 6% due annually and principal due 
December 2009, collateralized by land      2,564       2,441   

Note payable to a bank, € 964 and € 972 at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, interest at 3.5% due 
annually and principal due March 2006, collateralized by land and a building  

  
  1,331 

    
  1,581 

  

Other      850       654   
              

      9,162       22,556   
Less current portion      (1,872 )     (8,173 ) 
              

    $ 7,290     $ 14,383   
              

          

Maturity   Amount 
      

2006    $ 1,872   
2007      —  
2008      309   
2009      2,564   
2010      —  
thereafter      4,417   
        

    $ 9,162   
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Note 14.     Income Taxes  

      A reconciliation of the provision for income taxes calculated at applicable statutory rates in Canada to the provision in the consolidated 
statements of income is as follows:  

      The tax effect of temporary differences that give rise to significant components of future tax assets and liabilities are as follows:  

      In assessing the realizability of future tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the 
future tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of future tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income 
during the periods in which those temporary  
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    2005   2004   2003 
              

Income before income taxes and minority interests    $ 44,164     $ 38,415     $ 50,385   
                    

Computed provision for income taxes at statutory rates    $ (14,185 )   $ (12,339 )   $ (17,191 ) 
(Increase) decrease in taxes resulting from:                          
  Foreign statutory tax rate differences      (157 )     1,926       3,740   
  Non-taxable income      1,691       1,733       1,695   
  Permanent differences      (2,493 )     933       4,731   
  Recovery of valuation allowance      13,293       3,840       12,480   
  Non-capital loss lost from disposal of subsidiary      (1,436 )     —      (5,323 ) 
  Benefit of other non-capital loss acquired during the period      —      8,200       —  
  Other, net      127       (125 )     (969 ) 
                    

Recovery of (provision for) income taxes    $ (3,160 )   $ 4,168     $ (837 ) 
                    

                      

    2005   2004 
          

Future income tax assets:                  
  Non-capital tax loss carryforwards:      53,084       44,270   
  Pension liability      2,417       2,740   
  Other      1,363       1,570   
              

      56,864       48,580   
  Valuation allowance      (33,441 )     (30,982 ) 
              

    Future income tax assets    $ 23,423     $ 17,598   
              

Future income tax assets are included in the consolidated balance sheet as follows:                  
    Current    $ 8,854     $ 8,021   
    Non-current      14,569       9,577   
              

    $ 23,423     $ 17,598   
              

                      

    2005   2004 
          

Future income tax liabilities:                  
  Uncompleted contracts    $ (11,624 )   $ (4,606 ) 
  Other      (567 )     (1,668 ) 
              

    Future income tax liabilities    $ (12,191 )   $ (6,274 ) 
              

Future income tax liabilities are included in the consolidated balance sheet as follows:                  
    Current    $ (353 )   $ (6,274 ) 
    Non-current      (11,838 )     —  
    $ (12,191 )   $ (6,274 ) 
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differences become deductible. Management considers the scheduled reversal of future tax liabilities, projected future taxable income and tax 
planning strategies in making this assessment. Management believes it is more likely than not the Company will realize the benefits of these 
deductible differences, net of the valuation allowances.  

      At December 31, 2005, the Company had estimated accumulated non-capital losses which expire in the following countries as follows:  

Note 15.     Earnings Per Share  

      Earnings per share data for years ended December 31 from operations is summarized as follows:  

Note 16.     Stock Option Plan  

      The Company has a stock option plan which enables certain employees and directors to acquire common shares. Under the plan, options 
vest on grant and have a five-year term. The Company is authorized to issue up to 2,762,000 shares under this plan, of which 1,397,500 had 
been granted and exercised, and 1,364,500 are available for granting in future periods.  

      Following is a summary of the status of the plan:  
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Country   Amount   Expiration dates 
          

Germany    $ 114,504       Indefinite   
Canada      14,883       2007-2012   
Switzerland      5,743       2006-2013   
Austria      2,796       Indefinite   
Barbados      2,665       2009   
Other      151       2010-2020   

                          

    2005   2004   2003 
              

Basic earnings from operations available to common shareholders    $ 34,197     $ 36,951     $ 49,116   
Effect of dilutive securities Interest on convertible bonds      182       327       1,599   
                    

Diluted earnings from operations    $ 34,379     $ 37,278     $ 50,715   
                    

                            

    Shares 
      

    2005   2004   2003 
              

Basic earnings per share, weighted average number of common shares outstanding      13,609,348       13,520,221       13,054,727   
Effect of dilutive securities:                          
  Convertible bonds      145,345       298,153       1,020,951   
  Options      —      —      52,943   
                    

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding — diluted      13,754,693       13,818,374       14,128,621   
                    

                    

        Weighted Average 
    Number of   Exercise Price 
    Shares   Per Share 
          

Outstanding at December 31, 2002      495,000     $ 10.05   
  Exercised      (487,500 )     (10.04 ) 
  Forfeited      (7,500 )     (10.50 ) 
              

Outstanding at December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005      —    $ —  
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Note 17.     Commitments and Contingencies  

      Future minimum commitments under long-term non-cancelable leases are as follows for the next five years:  

      Rent expense was $4,579, $6,884 and $1,919 for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.  

      The Company and its subsidiaries are subject to litigation in the normal course of business. Management considers the aggregate liability 
which may result from such litigation not material at December 31, 2005.  

      In the normal course of business, the Company enters into agreements which meet the definition of a guarantee pursuant to AcG 14, 
Disclosure of Guarantees .  

      The Company has provided a five-year guarantee expiring August 2007 to a former affiliate with respect to a $1,656 asset sale transaction. 
The Company has provided a guarantee of $1,381 plus expenses for a former subsidiary and received $2,761 cash from its immediate parent 
company as deposit. The deposit was included in accounts payable and accrued expenses. The Company has provided payment guarantees up 
to $10,172 ($5,830 expired in January 2006) plus interest and expenses to two former subsidiaries. The Company has also provided a guarantee 
to one of these two subsidiaries against certain indebtedness which may arise under certain business finance agreement and supply agreements, 
and the guarantee for the supply agreements expired in February 2006. The Company has provided payment guarantees up to $7,851 plus 
interest and expenses to a former subsidiary which was sold to a 27.8% equity method investee in 2005. A bank, on behalf of a subsidiary, 
guarantees up to $2,761 trade payables of an affiliate in its normal course of commodities trading and the subsidiary undertakes to reimburse 
the bank if the affiliate defaults. The guarantee is collateralized by the affiliate’s trading goods. The Company’s banking subsidiary had 
guarantees in the amount of $267 outstanding as of December 31, 2005. KHD had outstanding guarantees to customers and suppliers 
aggregating $56,418 (consisting of gross guarantee amount of $93,007 minus liability of $27,165 recorded in accounts payable and accrued 
expenses and $9,423 recorded in provision for warranty) as of December 31, 2005, relating to its contract performance and its product 
warranty.  

      In the normal course of business, the banking subsidiary commits credit facilities to its clients. As at December 31, 2005, the banking 
subsidiary has an outstanding credit facility of $23,318 granted to a 27.8% owned affiliate, of which $21,482 has not been used. This credit 
facility will expire in March 2009.  

      The Company’s wholly-owned banking subsidiary is located in Switzerland. The subsidiary is subject to the rules and regulations of the 
Swiss Federal Banking Commission which require equity capital amounting to $10,320 to be maintained as of December 31, 2005. The 
subsidiary is in compliance with this regulation as of December 31, 2005.  
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Leases 

          

Year   Amount 
      

2006    $ 4,176   
2007      1,013   
2008      945   
2009      694   
2010      614   
        

    $ 7,442   
        

Litigation 

Guarantees 

Commitment 

Regulations 
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Note 18.     Interest Rate Sensitivity Position  

      Management has analyzed the bank subsidiary’s interest rate sensitivity position at December 31, 2005. Because of the current nature (over 
80% of assets and liabilities and off-balance sheet positions are due within three months) of the bank subsidiary’s position, the total interest rate 
gap is not significant at December 31, 2005, assuming no interest rate hedging is undertaken over the next twelve months.  

Note 19.     Employee Future Benefits  

      The Company maintains a defined benefit plan that provides pension benefits for the employees of certain KHD companies in Germany 
who were hired prior to 1997, as a result of the Company’s acquisition of MFC Industrial in March 2004. Employees of KHD hired after 1996 
are not eligible for such benefits. The employees are not required to make contributions to the plan.  

      The defined benefit plan is unfunded and, therefore, does not have any plan assets. Also, the plan has no unamortized prior service costs or 
gains or losses.  

      The table below shows the net pension expense and the change in benefit obligations of the plan.  

      An actuarial report is completed yearly as at December 31. Significant actuarial assumptions for the accrued benefit obligation (which 
approximates the projected benefit obligation) and the benefit cost as at December 31, and for the year then ended are as follows:  

      Under the German laws, the pension liability is an unsecured claim and does not rank in priority to any other unsecured creditors. The 
pension liability is non-recourse to the Company.  

      The benefits are expected to be paid are as follows:  
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    2005   2004 
          

Accrued benefit obligation, beginning of year    $ 36,792     $ —  
  Accrued benefit obligation at the time of acquisition of MFC Industrial      —      36,330   
    Current service cost      382       33   
    Interest cost      1,598       1,389   
    Deferred compensation      180       —  
              

  Net pension cost      2,160       1,422   
  Cash benefit payments      (1,735 )     (1,468 ) 
  Exchange difference      (5,653 )     508   
              

Accrued benefit obligation, end of year    $ 31,564     $ 36,792   
              

                  

    2005   2004 
          

Weighted average discount rate      4.8 %     5.5 % 
Rate of increase in future compensation      0.0 %     1.5 % 

          

Year   Amount 
      

2006    $ 1,736   
2007      1,874   
2008      1,919   
2009      1,966   
2010      2,021   
Thereafter      22,048   
        

    $ 31,564   
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      Effective from April 2004, the Company operates in two reportable business segments: financial services and industrial and engineering 
services, and a corporate sector. The segments are managed separately because each business requires different production and marketing 
strategies. Intersegment transactions are accounted for under normal business terms. Prior to April 2004, the Company operated in financial 
services segment only. The financial services segment includes, but not limited to, the banking subsidiary and investment in resource property 
(see Note 24, Subsequent Events). The results of operations for corporate primarily represent the corporate revenues less expenses (including 
expenses incurred for corporate by subsidiaries). The corporate segment assets include the entity’s gross assets, other than its investments in the 
equity of the subsidiaries.  
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Note 20. Business Segment Information 

                                    

    Year ended December 31, 2005 
      

    Industrial and     
    Engineering   Financial     
    Services   Services   Corporate   Total 
                  

Revenues from external customers    $ 398,475     $ 557,535     $ —    $ 956,010   
Intersegment revenues      303       1,455       1,438       3,196   
Interest expense                                  
  External      4,218       4,659       189       9,066   
  Internal      473       144       829       1,446   
Income (loss) from operations before income taxes and minority 

interests      30,532       15,159       (1,527 )     44,164   

                                    

    Year ended December 31, 2004 
      

    Industrial and     
    Engineering   Financial     
    Services   Services   Corporate   Total 
                  

Revenues from external customers    $ 199,092     $ 498,672     $ —    $ 697,764   
Intersegment revenues      120       788       360       1,268   
Interest expense                                  
  External      3,539       3,535       369       7,443   
  Internal      80       280       714       1,074   
Income (loss) from operations before income taxes and minority 

interests  
  

  17,056 
    

  28,775 
    

  (7,416 ) 
  

  38,415 
  

                                    

    Year ended December 31, 2003 
      

    Industrial and     
    Engineering   Financial     
    Services   Services   Corporate   Total 
                  

Revenues from external customers    $ —    $ 409,513     $ —    $ 409,513   
Intersegment revenues      —      1,253       632       1,885   
Interest expense                                  
  External      —      2,971       1,421       4,392   
  Internal      —      632       605       1,237   
Income (loss) from operations before income taxes and minority 

interests      —      55,887       (5,502 )     50,385   
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      The following table presents revenues attributed to Canada, the Company’s country of domicile, and other geographic areas based upon the 
customer’s location:  

      The following table presents long-lived assets, which include property, plant and equipment, resource property and goodwill, by geographic 
area based upon the location of the assets.  

      There were no revenue concentrations in 2005, 2004, or 2003.  
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    As at December 31, 2005 
      

    Industrial and     
    Engineering   Financial     
    Services   Services   Corporate   Total 
                  

Segment assets    $ 344,078     $ 342,329     $ 43,221     $ 729,628   
Less: intercorporate investment                              (119,797 ) 
                          

Consolidated total assets                              609,831   
                          

Equity method investments      6,555       10,113       2,011       18,679   
Cash expenditures for capital assets and goodwill      2,792       160       —      2,952   
                                  

    As at December 31, 2004 
      

    Industrial and     
    Engineering   Financial     
    Services   Services   Corporate   Total 
                  

Segment assets    $ 255,896     $ 448,644     $ 40,679     $ 745,219   
Less: intercorporate investment                              (141,520 ) 
                          

Consolidated total assets                            $ 603,699   
                          

Equity method investments      8,137       9,283       1,070       18,490   
Cash expenditures for capital assets and goodwill      2,267       1,422       4       3,693   

                          

    2005   2004   2003 
              

Canada    $ 9,499     $ 10,042     $ 7,872   
Europe      494,915       403,804       391,282   
United States      34,764       46,320       9,563   
Asia      381,051       207,320       —  
Africa      20,350       23,522       796   
Other      15,431       6,756       —  
                    

    $ 956,010     $ 697,764     $ 409,513   
                    

                  

    2005   2004 
          

Canada    $ 35,344     $ 35,345   
Europe      25,887       40,560   
United States      264       302   
Asia      1,277       932   
Africa      111       191   
Other      232       564   
              

    $ 63,115     $ 77,894   
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      The fair value of financial instruments at December 31 otherwise not disclosed in the financial statements is summarized as follows:  

      The fair value of cash and cash equivalents is based on reported market value. The fair value of short-term listed securities is based on 
quoted market prices. The short-term unlisted securities is based on their estimated net realized value. The fair value of loans is based on the 
value of similar loans. The fair value of receivables and accounts payable and accrued expenses approximates carrying value as they are subject 
to normal trade credit terms. The fair value of deposits approximates their carrying value as they are all due on demand. The fair value of Notes 
payable and debt was determined using discounted cash flows at prevailing market rates or based on reported market value for the Company’s 
publicly traded debt. The fair value of the interest rate swap is obtained from a dealer’s quote. This value represents the estimated amount the 
Company would pay to terminate the agreement taking into consideration current interest rates, the credit-worthiness of the counterparties, and 
other factors. The Company does not anticipate nonperformance with respect to any of its derivative financial instruments.  

      In the normal course of operations, the Company enters into transactions with related parties. Related parties are affiliates whereby the 
Company has a significant equity interest (10% or more) in the affiliates or has the ability to influence the affiliates’ operating and financing 
policies through significant shareholding, representation on the board of directors, corporate charter and/or bylaws. These related party 
transactions are measured at the exchange value, which represents the amount of consideration established and agreed to by all the parties. In 
addition to transactions disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Company had the following transactions with affiliates.  

      During 2004, a subsidiary of the Company sold real estate properties to a corporation in which the subsidiary owns approximately 19%. 
The majority shareholder of the purchaser corporation placed cash deposits and other securities with the Company’s banking subsidiary. The 
Company has an irrevocable right to deduct the purchase price from the cash deposits and other securities account. The sale resulted in a gain 
of $7,843 and the Company had a receivable of $15,868 at December 31, 2004 and $10,227 at December 31, 2005. The receivable is non-
interest bearing, is secured by the cash deposits and other securities account and the real estate sold, and is currently due in 2006. Neither the 
Company nor its subsidiaries have any continuing involvement with the property.  

      In the normal course of commodities trading transactions, the Company purchases commodities from and sells commodities to its affiliates. 
The Company sold $2,741 to two affiliates during 2005. The Company sold $926 and purchased $19,574 from an affiliate during 2004. The 
Company’s interest in the affiliate was sold in July 2004 and it was not related after that date. The Company also purchased $11,531 from 
another affiliate during 2004. The Company also sold $7,840 during 2003.  

      During 2005, 2004 and 2003, the Company recognized fee income in the normal course from affiliates amounting to $3,843, $4,025 and 
$4,579. The Company earned dividends of $5,214, $5,395 and $4,900 on  
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Note 21. Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

                                  

    2005   2004 
          

    Carrying       Carrying     
    Amount   Fair Value   Amount   Fair Value 
                  

Cash and cash equivalents (including restricted cash)    $ 252,219     $ 252,219     $ 232,218     $ 232,218   
Short-term securities      18,963       21,113       21,113       21,113   
Loans      23,405       23,405       26,865       26,865   
Receivables, total      82,279       82,279       98,126       98,126   
Accounts payable and accrued expenses      186,111       186,111       160,012       160,012   
Deposits      20,202       20,202       46,523       46,523   
Notes payable and debt      24,125       24,204       40,927       41,042   
Interest rate swap derivative contract, liability      —      —      93       93   

Note 22. Related Party Transactions 
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preferred shares of stock in an affiliate in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, of which $318 and $4,995 is included in receivables at 
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.  

      During 2005, 2004 and 2003, the Company recognized equity income (loss) of $3,923, $1,206 and $(905), respectively, from its equity 
method investees. During 2005, the Company recognized $636 expense reimbursement from and $17 interest expense to an equity method 
investee which subsequently became a subsidiary in the same year. During 2005, the Company sold a wholly-owned subsidiary to another 
equity method investee (27.8% owned) for a total consideration of $12,276, consisting cash of $5,931 and promissory note of $6,346. The 
Company recognized a gain of $8,858 and the promissory note receivable had $5,909 outstanding as at December 31, 2005. The Company 
recognized interest income of $153 from and interest expense of $18 to this affiliate in 2005.  

      In addition, the Company had a long-term liability of $269 and $415 payable to an affiliate at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.  

      The Company’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP in Canada, which conform in all material 
respects with those in the United States (U.S.), except as set forth below:  

79  

Note 23. United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 

                          

    December 31 
      

    2005   2004   2003 
              

Reconciliation of Net Income                          
Net income in accordance with Canadian GAAP    $ 34,197     $ 36,951     $ 49,116   
Interest accretion on convertible bonds      15       22       —  
Fair value of guarantees issued      (40 )     —      —  
Gain on reduction of interest in a subsidiary      (8,858 )     —      —  
                    

Net income in accordance with U.S. GAAP    $ 25,314     $ 36,973     $ 49,116   
                    

Basic earnings per common share U.S. GAAP    $ 1.86     $ 2.73     $ 3.76   
                    

Diluted earnings per common share U.S. GAAP    $ 1.85     $ 2.70     $ 3.59   
                    

Reconciliation of Shareholders’  Equity                          
Shareholders’  equity in accordance with Canadian GAAP    $ 284,783     $ 269,421     $ 218,447   
Deferred income taxes      (1,530 )     (1,530 )     (1,530 ) 
Equity component of convertible debt      (146 )     (146 )     —  
Unrealized gains on available for sale investments      3       504       (3,342 ) 
Fair value of guarantees issued      (40 )     —      —  
Interest accretion on convertible bonds      37       22       —  
Gain on reduction of interest in a subsidiary      (8,858 )     —      —  
                    

Retained earnings in accordance with U.S. GAAP    $ 274,249     $ 268,271     $ 213,575   
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      U.S. GAAP requires that certain investments be classified into available-for-sale or trading securities categories and be stated at their fair 
values. Any unrealized holding gains or losses are to be reported as a component of other comprehensive income until realized for available-
for-sale securities, and included in earnings for trading securities.  

      At December 31, 2005, investment in one trading security represented approximately 25% of total investments in trading securities. At 
December 31, 2004, investment in one trading security represented approximately 28% of total investment in trading securities.  

      The fair value of trading securities is summarized as follows:  

      Available-for-sale securities consist of common shares at December 31, 2005 and 2004. At December 31, 2005 and 2004, securities in two 
and one companies represented 99% and 96%, respectively, of the total available-for-sale securities of $152 and $902. The cost of these 
securities was $149 and $398 at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The proceeds from the sale of these securities amounted to $nil, 
$nil, and $2,519, which resulted in realized gains of $nil, $nil, and $182, during 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. At December 31, 2005, 
2004 and 2003, respectively, net unrealized holding gains (losses) included in accumulated other comprehensive income was $3, $504, and 
$(3,342). No available-for-sale securities at December 31, 2005 and 2004, were in a loss position.  

      The Company accounts for its convertible bonds in accordance with their contractual terms and, as such, they are presented in the financial 
statements in their liability and equity component parts. Under  
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    December 31 
      

    2005   2004   2003 
              

Comprehensive Income                          
Net income in accordance with U.S. GAAP    $ 25,314     $ 36,973     $ 49,116   
Other comprehensive income, net of tax                          
  Foreign currency translation adjustment      (20,170 )     4,920       (35,851 ) 
  Unrealized gains (losses) on securities:                          
    Unrealized holding gains (losses) arising during the year      (280 )     647       (3,524 ) 
    Reclassification adjustment for gains realized in net income      —      —      (182 ) 
    Reclassification adjustment for shares becoming trading securities      —      (58 )     —  

    
Reclassification adjustment for shares becoming subsidiaries or equity method 

investments      —      3,257       —  
    Reclassification adjustment for other than temporary decline in value      (221 )     —      66   
                    

    Net unrealized gains (losses) on securities      (501 )     3,846       (3,640 ) 
                    

      (20,671 )     8,766       (39,491 ) 
                    

Comprehensive income    $ 4,643     $ 45,739     $ 9,625   
                    

Securities 

                  

    December 31 
      

    2005   2004 
          

Debt securities    $ 10,995     $ 13,654   
Preferred shares      756       903   
Common shares      5,712       4,796   
              

    $ 17,463     $ 19,353   
              

Convertible Bonds 
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U.S. GAAP, the convertible bonds met the requirement to be exempted from Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 133, 
Accounting for Derivatives and Hedging Activities, and thus the conversion feature was not required to be bifurcated from the debt instrument. 
The convertible bonds were recorded in accordance with Emerging Issue Task Force (“EITF”) No.  00-27, Application of Issue No.  98-5 to 
Certain Convertible Instruments . As the fair value of the Company’s common stock on the commitment date is less than the conversion price, 
no beneficial conversion feature was initially recorded at the date of commitment.  

      In October 2005, the term of the convertible bonds was extended for ten years. The Company assesses the modification in accordance with 
EITF  96-19, Debtor’s Accounting for a Modification or Exchange of Debt Instruments . As the modification did not result in change to the 
present value of the cash flows (including the changes to the fair value of the embedded conversion feature upon modification) under the terms 
of the new convertible bonds is less than 10%, the new convertible bonds are not considered substantially different from the original 
convertible bonds and thus are recorded as a modification of debt.  

      The Company followed the intrinsic value based method of accounting for compensation resulting from the granting of stock options to 
employees, in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, as allowed under 
SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-based Compensation . Stock based payments to non-employees are to be expensed based on the fair value 
of shares or options issued. There have been no stock based payments to non-employees.  

      There were no stock options granted during 2005, 2004 or 2003. There was no effect on net income and earnings per share for 
compensation expense recognized on the intrinsic value basis of employee stock options granted.  

      Effective from December 31, 2002, the Company adopts FASB’s Interpretation No. 45, Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure 
Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Other, which requires that a guarantor recognize, at the 
inception of a guarantee, a liability for the obligations it has undertaken in issuing the guarantee, including its ongoing obligation to stand ready 
to perform over the term of the guarantee in the event that the specified triggering events or conditions occur. This liability is based on the fair 
value of the guarantee. The initial recognition of the fair value of the liability is inconsistent with Canadian GAAP , specifically those related to 
CICA Section 3290, Contingencies, whereby a liability for a contingent loss is only recognized if it is likely that a future event will confirm 
that an asset had been impaired or a liability incurred. The Company takes into consideration the nature of the guarantee, the likelihood of the 
occurrence of the triggering events, the financial conditions of the guaranteed parties and the quality of the collateral to determine the fair value 
of the guarantee.  

      During the year, the Company disposed of its investment in a subsidiary to an equity-method investee, with the sale price based upon an 
independent valuation. The transaction was recorded using the exchange value under Canadian GAAP. Under U.S. GAAP, the disposition did 
not meet all the criteria to be accounted for as a divestiture. Consequently, for U.S. GAAP purposes, the gain on reduction of interest in the 
subsidiary was deferred.  

      SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004, “SFAS 123R”), Share-Based Payments, eliminates the option to apply the intrinsic value measurement 
provisions of Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, to stock compensation awards 
issued to employees. SFAS No. 123R is effective as of the beginning of the first interim or annual reporting period that begins after June 15, 
2005. Management is analyzing the requirements of this statement.  
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Stock-Based Compensation 

Guarantee 

Gain on Reduction of Interest in Subsidiary 

Future Changes to United States Accounting Standards 
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      SFAS No. 151, Inventory Costs an amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4 deals with inventory pricing with respect to abnormal amounts of 
idle facility expenses, freight, handling costs, and spoilage. SFAS No. 151 is effective for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years 
beginning after June 15, 2005. Management is analyzing the requirements of this new standard and believes that its adoption will not have any 
significant impact on the Company’s financial statements.  

      SFAS No. 154, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections , replaces APB Opinion No. 20, Accounting Changes , and SFAS No. 3, 
Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements , and changes the requirements for the accounting for and reporting of a change 
in accounting principle. This Statement applies to all voluntary changes in accounting principle. It also applies to changes required by an 
accounting pronouncement in the unusual instance that the pronouncement does not include specific transition provisions. SFAS No. 154 is 
effective for accounting changes and corrections of errors made in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005.  

      FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) No. FAS 115-1 and FAS 124-1, The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and Its Application to 
Certain Investments , addresses the determination as to when an investment is considered impaired, whether that impairment is other than 
temporary and the measurement of an impairment loss. This FSP also includes accounting considerations subsequent to the recognition of an 
other-than-temporary impairment and requires certain disclosures about unrealized losses that have not been recognized as 
other-than-temporary impairment. This FSP shall be applied to reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2005. The Company’s 
preliminary assessment does not indicate that this FSP will have a significant impact on the financial statements.  

      The Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) reached consensus on Issue No.  05-7, Accounting for Modifications to Conversion Options 
Embedded in Debt Instruments and Related Issues that (i) an entity should include, upon the modification of a convertible debt instrument, the 
change in fair value of the related embedded conversion option in the analysis to determine whether a debt instrument has been extinguished 
pursuant to Issue No.  96-19; (ii) the modification of a convertible debt instrument should affect subsequent recognition of interest expense for 
the associated debt instrument for changes in the fair value of the embedded conversion option; and (iii) the issuer should not recognize a 
beneficial conversion feature or reassess an existing beneficial conversion feature upon modification of a convertible debt instrument. This 
issue shall be applied to future modifications of debt instruments beginning in the first interim or annual reporting period beginning after 
December 15, 2005. Management is analyzing the requirements of this statement.  

      The EITF reached consensus on Issue No.  05-8, Income Tax Consequences of Issuing Convertible Debt with a Beneficial Conversion 
Feature that (i) the issuance of convertible debt with a beneficial conversion feature results in a basis difference for purposes of applying 
SFAS No. 109; (ii) the basis difference that results from the issuance of convertible debt with a beneficial conversion feature is a temporary 
difference for purposes of applying SFAS No. 109; and (iii) the recognition of deferred taxes for the temporary difference of the convertible 
debt with a beneficial conversion feature should be recorded as an adjustment to additional paid-in capital. This issue shall be applied to 
financial statements beginning in the first interim or annual reporting period beginning after December 15, 2005. Management is analyzing the 
requirements of this statement.  

      In December 2005, the Company’s board of directors resolved to distribute the majority of the Company’s financial services business to its 
shareholders. Pursuant to this resolution, the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Mass Financial Corp. (formerly Sutton Park 
International Ltd., “Mass Financial”) entered into a restructuring agreement and a share exchange agreement. Upon the closing of the 
agreements, Mass Financial held all the financial services business of the Company, except for the Company’s banking subsidiary (and its 
Swiss affiliates) and investment in resource property; and the Company held the Class A preferred shares and Class A common shares in the 
capital of Mass Financial. On January 31, 2006, the Company distributed all its Class A common shares in Mass Financial to shareholders of 
the Company on pro rata basis.  
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      The non-voting Class A preferred shares are redeemable by Mass Financial at any time and the Company has the right to cause a retraction 
of the Class A preferred shares at a rate of 1/15 per year (based on a proposed 15 year retraction period) starting after January 31, 2010. The 
redemption and retraction amount is equal to (i) the fair market value of the common shares that were exchanged for the Class A preferred 
shares at the time of the exchange less $100, multiplied by (ii) 1.04 multiplied by the number of months the preferred shares have been 
outstanding divided by 12. Upon the Company giving notice of a retraction, it shall be entitled to a dividend equal to the redemption amount. 
No dividends on the Class A common shares can be paid if Mass Financial is late on the redemption or retraction of any tranche of the Class A 
preferred shares or if payment of the dividend will reduce Mass Financial’s net asset value to less than the outstanding retraction amount of the 
then issued Class A preferred shares. In the event of liquidation, dissolution, winding up or any other distribution of the assets of Mass 
Financial, then the Company shall be entitled to receive, in priority and preference to the Class A common shares, the redemption amount.  

      Following the distribution, Mass Financial has agreed to perform certain management services for two investments of the Company in 
accordance with the terms of a services agreement to be entered into by the Company and Mass Financial. Firstly, Mass Financial has agreed to 
provide management services in connection with the investment in MFC Merchant Bank in consideration for the Company paying Mass 
Financial 15% of the after tax profits of MFC Merchant Bank and a right of first refusal. The right of first refusal grants Mass Financial an 
option whereby Mass Financial has the right to: (i) purchase MFC Merchant Bank on the same terms as any bona fide offer from a third-party 
purchaser acceptable to the Company; or to (ii) assist in the sale, if ever, of MFC Merchant Bank for and additional service fee of 5% of the 
purchase price.  

      Secondly, Mass Financial has agreed to provide management services in connection with the review, supervision and monitoring of the 
royalty provided to the Company’s 49% equity method investee in connection with the Company’s investment in resource property. The 
Company has agreed to pay 8% of the net royalty income (calculated as the royalty income net of any royalty expenses and mining and related 
taxes) that the equity method investee receives in connection with the royalty in consideration for the management services.  

      The services agreement contemplates that the agreement may be terminated at any time if agreed to in writing by both parties. The 
Company also has the right to terminate the services agreement at any time upon at least six months prior notice after which Mass Financial is 
entitled to receive compensation prorated to the end of the notice period.  

      Pursuant to the terms of the restructuring agreement, the Company and Mass Financial have agreed that all current and outstanding 
guarantees issued by the respective parties shall continue to be in force for a reasonable period of time following the consummation of the 
distribution. Similarly, both parties have agreed to issue guarantees when required for a reasonable period of time following consummation of 
the distribution.  
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Exhibit     
Number   Description 

      

  1.1     Articles of Amalgamation.(1) 
  1.2     By-laws.(1) 
  1.3     Certificate of Continuance(6) 
  1.4     Notice of Articles(6) 
  1.5     Articles(8) 
  1.6     Certificate of Change of Name(9) 
  2.1     Master Trust Indenture between our company and Norwest Bank Minnesota, National Association, as trustee, dated 

March 31, 1998.(1) 
  2.2     Trust Indenture between our company and Computershare Trust Company of Canada, dated January 7, 2004(7) 
  2.3     Supplemental Indenture between our company and Computershare Trust Company of Canada, dated October 27, 2005.

(9) 
  4.1     Memorandum of Agreement between our company and Wabush Iron Co. Limited, Stelco Inc. and Dofasco Inc. dated 

November 24, 1987.(2) 
  4.2     Amendment to Mining Lease between our company and Wabush Iron Co. Limited, Stelco Inc. and Dofasco Inc. dated 

January 1, 1987.(2) 
  4.3     First Amendment to Memorandum of Agreement between our company and Wabush Iron Co. Limited, Stelco Inc. and 

Dofasco Inc.(2) 
  4.4     Assignment Agreement between our company and Prada Holdings Ltd. Dated as of January 1 1992.(1) 
  4.5     Separation Agreement between Mercer International Inc. and our company dated for reference March 29, 1996.(1) 
  4.6     Purchase Agreement between our company and Volendam Securities C.V. dated for reference May 17, 1996.(1) 
  4.7     Purchase Agreement between our company and Volendam Securities C.V. dated for reference May 27, 1996.(1) 
  4.8     Share Purchase Agreement between our company and Frederick Wong dated June 6, 1996.(1) 
  4.9     Subscription Agreement between our company and Drummond Financial Corporation dated June 20, 1996.(1) 
  4.10     Share Purchase Agreement between our company and Med Net International Ltd. Dated June 20, 1996.(1) 
  4.11     Share Purchase Agreement among our company and various shareholders of Logan International Corp. dated June 20, 

1996.(1) 
  4.12     Subscription Agreement between Drummond Financial Corporation and Logan International Corp. dated June 20, 1996. 

Incorporate by reference to Logan International Corp.’s Form 8-K dated June 27, 1996. 
  4.13     Share Purchase Agreement between Lehman Brothers Bankhats AG and our company dated October 3, 1996.(1) 
  4.14     Purchase Agreement between our company and Robabond Holding AG dated June 27, 1997.(1) 
  4.15     Share Purchase Agreement between our company and Procom Holding AG dated September 22, 1997.(1) 
  4.16     Supplementary Agreement to Share Purchase Agreement between our company and Procom Holding AG dated 

September 22, 1997.(1) 
  4.17     Agreement between our company and the holders of our company’s Class A Preferred Shares dated December 1, 1996.

(1) 
  4.18 

    
Subscription Agreement between our company and Logan International Corp. dated December 2, 1996. Incorporated by 
reference to our company’s Schedule 13D/A (Amendment No. 1) dated December 16, 1996 with respect to Logan 
International Corp. 

  4.19     Shareholder Protection Rights Plan Agreement between our company and Montreal Trust Company of Canada dated as 
of May 18, 1993.(1) 
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Exhibit     
Number   Description 

      

  4.20     Amended 1997 Stock Option Plan of our company.(1) 
  4.21     Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between our company and Michael J. Smith made effective as of 

November 20, 2000.(1) 
  4.22     Director’s Indemnity Agreement between our company and Michael J. Smith dated for reference November 20, 2000.(1) 
  4.23     Indemnity Agreement between our company and Roy Zanatta dated for reference November 20, 2000.(1) 
  4.24 

    
Investment and Restructuring Agreement among Sutton Park International Limited, Garda Investments Corp., our 
company, Glamiox Beteiligungsverwaltunds GmbH, Hovis GmbH, Jurriaan J. Hovis, Johannes Hovis and Ferdinand 
Steinbauer dated for reference October 1, 2001.(1) 

  4.25     Owners’ Agreement among Garda Investments Corp., Glamiox Beteiligungsverwaltunds GmbH, Jurriaan J. Hovis and 
Ferdinand Steinbauer dated for reference October 1, 2004.(1) 

  4.26     Dividend Trust Settlement Agreement between our company and The Dividend Trust Committee of the Board of 
Directors of our company dated for reference December 21, 2001.(1) 

  4.27     Share Sale Agreement among Newmont Australia Limited, Newmont LaSource S.A.S., and our company dated 
August 7, 2002.(4) 

  4.28     Royalty Deed among our company, Newmont Australia Limited and Newmont LaSource S.A.S. dated August 7, 2002.
(4) 

  4.29 
    

Arrangement Agreement between Trimble Resources Corporation Resources Corporation and our company dated 
May 17, 2002.(4) 

  4.30     Stock Purchase Agreement among Occidental (East Shabwa) LLC, Intercap Yemen, Inc. and our company dated July 23, 
2002.(4) 

  4.31     Share Purchase Agreement between Mazak Ltd. and Trident Alloys Ltd. dated July 24, 2003(5) 
  4.32     Trust Indenture, dated January 7, 2004, between our company and Computershare Trust Company of Canada, as Trustee, 

for the issuance of 4.4% Convertible Unsecured Subordinated Bonds due December 31, 2009.(8) 
  4.33 

    
General Security Agreement made as of October 11, 2004 between Med Net International Ltd., as Debtor, and our 
company, MFC Commodities GmbH and Sutton Park International Ltd., as Secured Parties, as security for the present 
and future indebtedness of the Debtor and as a supplement to the existing demand guarantee.(8) 

  4.34 
    

Share Pledge Agreement made as of October 12, 2004 between Med Net International Ltd., as Pledgor, and our 
company, MFC Commodities GmbH and Sutton Park International Ltd., as additional security for the Secured 
Liabilities.(8) 

  4.35 
    

General Security Agreement made as of October 12, 2004 between Lasernet Limited, as Debtor, and our company, MFC 
Commodities GmbH and Sutton Park International Ltd., as Secured Parties, as security for the present and future 
indebtedness of the Debtor and as a supplement to the existing demand guarantee.(8) 

  4.36     Share Pledge Agreement made as of October 12, 2004 between Lasernet Limited, as Pledgor, and our company, MFC 
Commodities GmbH and Sutton Park International Ltd., as additional security for the Secured Liabilities.(8) 

  4.37 
    

Variation Agreement dated December 22, 2004 between our company and Sutton Park International Limited varying our 
company’s interest obligation to Sutton Park International Limited in respect of the 4.4% Convertible Unsecured 
Subordinated Bond in the principal amount of € 6,786,436, maturing December 31, 2009.(8) 

  4.38 
    

Restructuring Agreement dated December 29, 2005 between our company and Mass Financial Corp. for the restructuring 
of our company.(9) 

  4.39     Share Exchange Agreement dated December 29, 2005 between our company and Mass Financial Corp. for the 
restructuring of our company.(9) 

  4.40     Services Agreement dated February 1, 2006 between our company and Mass Financial Corp.(9) 
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Exhibit     
Number   Description 

      

  8.1     Significant subsidiaries of our company as at March 31, 2006: 
          MFC Merchant Bank S.A. 
          Robabond Holding AG 
          MFC Commodities AG 
          KHD Humboldt Wedag International Holdings GmbH 
          KHD Humboldt Wedag International GmbH 
          Humboldt Wedag Inc. 
          Humboldt Wedag India Ltd. 
          Sasamat Capital Corporation 
          MFC Industrial Holdings AG 
          KHD Humboldt Wedag GmbH 
          Zementanlagenbau Dessau GmbH 
          Altmark Industriepark AG 
          ZAB Industrietechnik & Service GmbH 
  11.1     Code of Ethics(7) 
  12.1     Section 302 Certification under Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for Michael J. Smith.(9) 
  12.2     Section 302 Certification under Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for James B. Busche.(9) 
  13.1     Section 906 Certification under Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for Michael J. Smith(9) 
  13.2     Section 906 Certification under Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for James B. Busche(9) 
  99.1     Audit Committee Charter(9) 

  

(1)  Incorporated by reference to our Form  20-F’s filed in prior years. 
  

(2)  Incorporated by reference to our Form  10-K for the year ended December 31, 1989. 
  

(3)  Incorporated by reference to our Schedule 13D dated June 27, 1996 with respect to Logan International Corp. 
  

(4)  Incorporated by reference to our Form  20-F filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 28, 2003. 
  

(5)  Incorporated by reference to our Form  6-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 7, 2003. 
  

(6)  Incorporated by reference to our Form  6-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 23, 2004. 
  

(7)  Incorporated by reference to our Form  20-F filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 26, 2004. 
  

(8)  Incorporated by reference to our Form  20-F filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 6, 2005. 
  

(9)  Filed herewith. 
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SIGNATURES  

      The registrant hereby certifies that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form  20-F and that it has duly caused and authorized the 
undersigned to sign this annual report on its behalf.  

Date: March 31, 2006  
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  KHD Humboldt Wedag International Ltd. 

  
  /s/ MICHAEL J. SMITH  
  

   

  Michael J. Smith 
  Chairman, Chief Financial Officer, 
  Secretary and Director 
  (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) 





   

EXHIBIT 1.6 

CERTIFICATE  

OF  

CHANGE OF NAME  

BUSINESS CORPORATIONS ACT  

I Hereby Certify that MFC BANCORP LTD. changed its name to KHD HUMBOLDT WEDAG INTERNATIONAL LTD. on October 28, 
2005 at 12:01 AM Pacific Time.  

 

 

 

      

    

Number: C0707841 

  

Issued under my hand at Victoria, British Columbia  
On October 28, 2005  

  
RON TOWNSHEND  

Registrar of Companies  
Province of British Columbia  

Canada  





   

EXHIBIT 2.3 

MFC BANCORP LTD.  

- and -  

COMPUTERSHARE TRUST COMPANY OF CANADA  

SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE  

4.4% Convertible Unsecured Subordinated Bonds  

Dated as of October 27, 2005  



   

   

          THIS SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE is made as of October 27, 2005  

BETWEEN:  

MFC BANCORP LTD. , a corporation continued under the laws of British Columbia and having an office at Unit 803, 8/F, Dina 
House, Ruttonjee Centre, 11 Duddell Street, Central, Hong Kong SAR, China  

(the “Company”)  

AND:  

COMPUTERSHARE TRUST COMPANY OF CANADA , a trust company incorporated under the laws of Canada and having an 
office at 510 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia Canada V6C 3B9  

(the “Trustee”)  

           WHEREAS the Company and the Trustee entered into a trust indenture (the “Trust Indenture”) dated January 7, 2004 with respect to 
4.4% convertible unsecured subordinated bonds of the Company (the “Bonds”);  

           AND WHEREAS pursuant to Sections 10.11.1(b) and 10.15, the requisite majority of holders of the Bonds have approved in an 
instrument in writing a majority resolution to extend the maturity date of the Bonds and to make such other amendments necessary or 
appropriate in relation to the extended maturity date, including setting out conversion prices and interest payment dates for the extended 
maturity term;  

           AND WHEREAS such amendments to the Trust Indenture are consistent with the terms of the Trust Indenture pursuant to 
Sections 10.11.1(b) and 10.15;  

           THIS INDENTURE WITNESSES THAT in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained and other good 
and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged by each of the parties hereto, the parties hereto 
covenant, agree and declare as follows:  

ARTICLE 1 – INTERPRETATION  

1.1 Definitions.  

Unless otherwise set out in this Supplemental Indenture, all initially capitalized terms used herein without definition shall have the respective 
meanings assigned in the Indenture.  
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1.2 Applicable Law.  

This Supplemental Indenture shall be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the province of British Columbia 
and the laws of Canada applicable therein and shall be treated in all respects as British Columbia contracts.  

1.3 Schedules.  

The following schedules are hereby incorporated in, and form a part of, this Supplemental Indenture:  

Schedule A: Specimen Bond Certificate  
Schedule B: Form of Redemption Notice  
Schedule C: Form of Notice of Conversion  

ARTICLE 2 — AMENDMENTS  

2.1 General.  

In paragraph 1.1.51 of the Trust Indenture, the word, “Yukon” shall be deleted in its entirety and be replaced with “British Columbia”.  

2.2 Maturity Date.  

Paragraph 1.1.38 of the Indenture shall be deleted in its entirety and be replaced with the following: ““Maturity Date” means December 31, 
2019;”.  

2.3 Interest Payment Date.  

Paragraph 1.1.34 of the Trust Indenture shall be deleted in its entirety and be replaced with the following: ““Interest Payment Date” means each 
of December 31, 2004, December 31, 2006, December 31, 2008, December 31, 2010, December 31, 2012, December 31, 2014, December 31, 
2016 and December 31, 2018 provided that, if any Interest Payment Date falls on a day which is not a business day, the payment of any interest 
otherwise payable on such Interest Payment Date shall be the last business day in December of the applicable year;”.  

2.4 Specimen and Forms.  

Schedules A, B and C of the Trust Indenture shall be deleted in its entirety and the Schedules A, B and C attached to this Supplemental 
Indenture be substituted in their place, respectively.  

2.5 Exchange of Bond Certificates.  

2.5.1 The holders of Bonds may exchange their respective bond certificates for new bond certificates in the form set out in the Schedule A 
attached to this Supplemental Indenture.  

2.5.2 Exchanges of bond certificates representing Bonds previously issued and certified by or on behalf of the Trustee substantially in the form 
set out in the original Schedule A of the Trust Indenture (prior to the date of this Supplemental Indenture) may be made at the offices of  
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the Trustee or at the offices of any other registrar or registrars where registers are maintained for the Bonds pursuant to the provisions of 
Section 2.9 of the Trust Indenture and all such bond certificates tendered for exchange shall be surrendered to the Trustee or appropriate 
registrar and shall be cancelled.  

2.5.3 Notwithstanding any provision in this Supplemental Indenture, all Bonds previously issued and certified by or on behalf of the Trustee 
(prior to the date of this Supplemental Indenture) substantially in the form set out in the original Schedule A of the Trust Indenture shall be a 
form approved by the Trustee. Such signed certificate in this approved form for each Bond shall be conclusive evidence that such Bond is duly 
issued, is a valid obligation of the Company and the holder thereof is entitled to the benefits under the Trust Indenture, as amended by this 
Supplemental Indenture and shall be deemed to incorporate the changes set forth in Schedule A attached hereto.  

2.6 Full Force and Effect.  

Each of the parties hereto acknowledges and agrees that all other provisions of the Trust Indenture remain in full force and effect.  

2.7 Further Acts.  

Each of the parties hereto agrees to do and execute all such further and other acts, deeds, things, devices, documents and assurances as may be 
required in order to carry out the true intent and meaning of this Supplemental Indenture.  

ARTICLE 3 – EXECUTION AND FORMAL DATE  

3.1 Counterpart Execution.  

This Supplemental Indenture may be simultaneously executed in several counterparts, each of which when so executed shall be deemed to be 
an original and such counterparts together shall constitute one and the same instrument.  

3.2 Formal Date.  

This Supplemental Indenture may be referred to as bearing the formal date of October 27, 2005 irrespective of the actual date of execution 
hereof.  
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           IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have executed these presents under their respective corporate seals and the hands of their 
proper officers in that behalf.  
          
MFC BANCORP LTD. 
           
Per:   /s/ Michael J. Smith 

   

    
     Authorized Signatory     
           
Per:         
   

  
  

  
  

     Authorized Signatory     
           
COMPUTERSHARE TRUST COMPANY OF CANADA 
           
Per:   /s/ Signed     
   

  
  

  
  

     Authorized Signatory     
           
Per:   /s/ Signed     
   

  
  

  
  

     Authorized Signatory     



   

SCHEDULE A  
SPECIMEN BOND CERTIFICATE  

MFC BANCORP LTD.  

4.4% CONVERTIBLE UNSECURED SUBORDINATED BONDS  

THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED HEREBY HAVE BEEN OFFERED  IN AN OFFSHORE TRANSACTION TO PERSONS WHO 
ARE NOT U.S. PERSONS (AS DEFINED IN REGULATION S UNDER THE 1933 ACT) PURSUANT TO REGULATION S UNDER 
THE UNITED STATES SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE “1933 ACT”).  

NONE OF THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED HEREBY HAVE BEEN  REGISTERED UNDER THE 1933 ACT, OR ANY U.S. 
STATE SECURITIES LAWS, AND, UNLESS SO REGISTERED, NONE MAY BE OFFERED OR SOLD IN THE UNITED STATES 
OR, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, TO U.S. PERSONS (AS DEFINED IN REGULATION S UNDER THE 1933 ACT) EXCEPT IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS OF REGULATION S UNDE R THE 1933 ACT, PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE 
REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE 1933 ACT, OR PURSUANT TO AN AVAILABLE EXEMPTION FROM, OR IN A 
TRANSACTION NOT SUBJECT TO, THE REGISTRATION REQUIR EMENTS OF THE 1933 ACT AND IN EACH CASE ONLY 
IN ACCORDANCE WITH APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS.  

No.:                                            

MFC BANCORP LTD. , a company duly organized and subsisting under the laws of Yukon Territory (the “Company”), for value received, 
hereby promises to pay to  

[insert name and address]  

or its registered assigns, the principal amount set out above of euros on December 31, 2019.  

This Bond shall bear interest and the interest shall accrue and be calculated in the manner and shall be paid as specified on the reverse of this 
Bond. This Bond is subject to redemption and conversion as specified on the reverse of this Bond. All capitalized terms used herein without 
definition shall have the respective meanings assigned thereto in the Indenture referred to on the reverse of this Bond.  

      
Issue Date    January 7, 2004 
Principal Amount    EURO                      
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Additional provisions of this Bond are set forth on the reverse of this Bond, which additional provisions shall for all purposes have the same 
effect as if set forth at this place.  

MFC BANCORP LTD.  

Computershare Trust Company of Canada , as Trustee, certifies that this bond is a Bond referred to in the within-mentioned Indenture.  

COMPUTERSHARE TRUST COMPANY OF CANADA  

          
Per:         
   

  
  

  
  

     Authorized Signatory     

          
Per:         
   

  
  

  
  

     Authorized Signatory     
          
Per:         
   

  
  

  
  

     Authorized Signatory     



   

   

(FORM OF REGISTRATION PANEL)  

(No writing hereon except by Trustee or other registrar)  
          

Date of Registration   In Whose Name Registered   Signature of Trustee or Registrar 
           



   

   

[FORM OF REVERSE OF BOND]  

4.4% Convertible Unsecured Subordinated Bond  

1.   Interest 

  (a)   The Company shall pay simple interest on each Bond in arrears in biannual installments on the Interest Payment Dates commencing on 
December 31, 2004 at the rate of 4.4% per annum computed on the basis of a 365 day year. Subject to the terms and conditions of the 
Indenture hereinafter referred to, interest shall accrue from and including the most recent date to which interest has been paid or made 
available for payment or, if no interest has been paid or made available for payment, from and including January 7, 2004. The interest 
so payable will, subject to certain exceptions provided in the Indenture, be paid to the person in whose name this Bond is registered at 
the close of business on the tenth day preceding each Interest Payment Date whether or not such day is a business day. Interest shall 
cease to accrue on (and excluding) the earlier of (i) the Maturity Date; or (ii) any Conversion Date, Redemption Date or other date on 
which interest shall cease to accrue in accordance with the Indenture. 

  (b)   If the principal amount hereof or any portion of the principal amount hereof is not paid when due (whether upon acceleration pursuant 
to Section 7.1 of the Indenture, upon the Redemption Date pursuant to paragraph 6 hereof or upon the Maturity Date) or if interest is 
not paid when due upon the Interest Payment Dates provided for in Section 1(a) hereof, or if Common Shares are not delivered when 
due upon the conversion of this Bond then in each such case the Company shall pay interest on the overdue amount at the rate of 4.4% 
per annum, which interest (to the extent payment of such interest shall be legally enforceable) shall accrue from the date such overdue 
amount was due to, but excluding, the date payment of such amount, including interest thereon, has been made or duly provided for. 

2.   Method of Payment 
  

    Subject to the terms and conditions of the Indenture and certain exceptions contained therein, the Company will make payments as set forth 
in the Indenture. Holders must surrender Bonds to the Trustee to collect payments in respect of the Bonds, other than payments of interest 
only. The Company will pay cash amounts in euros and may make such cash payments by cheque, electronic transfer of funds or other 
method acceptable to the Trustee. Interest will be payable at the office of the Trustee or the Paying Agent, except that, at the option of the 
Company, payment of interest may be made by electronic transfer of funds or by cheque mailed first-class mail to the address of the person 
entitled thereto at such address as shall appear in the principal register for the Bonds. 

  

3.   Registrar 
  

    Initially, Computershare Trust Company of Canada (the “Trustee”) will act as registrar and Paying Agent. The Company may appoint and 
change any Paying Agent upon notice 
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    to the Trustee and the Bond holders. The Company or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Company may act as Paying Agent. 

4.   Indenture 
  

    The Company issued the Bonds under an Indenture dated as of January 7, 2004, as amended, (the “Indenture”) between the Company and 
the Trustee. Capitalized terms used herein and not defined herein have the meanings ascribed thereto in the Indenture. If there is an 
inconsistency between the terms of this Bond and the terms set out in the Indenture, the terms of the Indenture will govern. The Indenture is 
incorporated by reference in this Bond. 

  

5.   Subordination 
  

    The indebtedness evidenced by this Bond is subordinated in right of payment, to the extent and in the manner provided in the Indenture, to 
the prior payment in full of all Senior Indebtedness whether outstanding at the date of the Indenture or thereafter created, incurred, assumed 
or guaranteed. 

  

6.   Redemption at the Option of the Company 
  

    At any time on or after December 31, 2005, the Company may, at its option, redeem the Bonds in whole at any time or in part from time to 
time at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon (less any withholding or 
other tax required by law to be deducted) to but excluding the Redemption Date (the “Redemption Price” ). 

  

    If fewer than all the Bonds are to be redeemed, the Bonds will be redeemed in principal amounts of €1,000 or integral multiples of €1,000 
pro rata or by another method that complies with the requirements of any exchange on which the Bonds are listed or quoted and that the 
Trustee shall deem equitable. 

  

7.   Notice of Redemption 
  

    Notice of redemption will be mailed at least 30 days but not more than 60 days before the Redemption Date to each holder of Bonds to be 
redeemed to the holder’s registered address. If cash sufficient to satisfy the Redemption Price of all Bonds (or portions thereof) to be 
redeemed on the Redemption Date are deposited with the Trustee prior to or on the Redemption Date, on and after such Redemption Date, 
interest shall cease to accrue on such Bonds or portions thereof. 

  

    Bonds in denominations larger than €1,000 principal amount may be redeemed in part but only in integral multiples of €1,000 principal 
amount. 

  

8.   Conversion 
  

    Subject to and conditional upon the Company obtaining any necessary regulatory approval for the Conversion Privilege, a holder of a Bond 
may convert it into Common 
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    Shares at any time prior to the close of business on the Maturity Date in accordance with the Indenture, provided that if the Bond is called 
for redemption, the holder is entitled to convert it at any time before the close of business on the last business day prior to the Redemption 
Date. 

  

    The Conversion Price shall be (i) € 16.53 if the Bonds are converted on or before June 30, 2004, (ii) € 17.36 if the Bonds are converted after 
June 30, 2004 but on or before June 30, 2005, (iii) € 18.23 if the Bonds are converted after June 30, 2005 but on or before June 30, 2006, 
(iv) € 19.14 if the Bonds are converted after June 30, 2006 but on or before June 30, 2007, (v) € 20.09 if the Bonds are converted after 
June 30, 2007 but on or before June 30, 2008, (vi) € 21.10 if the Bonds are converted after June 30, 2008 but on or before June 30, 2009 and 
(vii) € 22.15 if the Bonds are converted after June 30, 2009. The Conversion Price is subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of certain 
events described in the Indenture, including the events described below. 

  

    Subject to the Indenture, to convert a Bond, a holder must: (1) complete and manually sign a conversion notice in the form attached as 
Schedule C to the Indenture and deliver such notice to the Trustee, (2) surrender the Bond to the Trustee, (3) furnish appropriate 
endorsements and transfer documents if required by the Trustee or the Company, and (4) pay any transfer or similar tax, if required. 

  

    A Bond holder may elect to convert a portion of a Bond, plus interest accrued and unpaid thereon (less any withholding or other tax required 
by law to be deducted) as calculated in accordance with Section 2.5 of the Indenture, if the principal amount of such portion is € 1,000 or an 
integral multiple of € 1,000. No payment or adjustment will be made for dividends or other distributions on the Common Shares except as 
provided in the Indenture. 

  

    Within five business days of surrender of any Bonds to be converted and subject to the Company obtaining all approvals as set forth in 
Section 4.12 of the Indenture, the Company shall issue or cause to be issued and deliver or cause to be delivered to the holder whose Bond is 
so surrendered, or on his or her written order, a certificate or certificates in the name or names of the person or persons specified in such 
notice for the number of Common Shares deliverable upon the conversion of such Bond (or specified portion thereof). Such conversion shall 
be deemed to have been effected immediately prior to the close of business on the date such Bonds were surrendered for conversion and at 
such time the rights of the holder of such Bond as such holder shall cease and the person or persons in whose name or names any certificate 
or certificates for Common Shares shall be deliverable upon such conversion shall be deemed to have become on such date the holder or 
holders of record of the Common Shares represented thereby; provided, however, that no such surrender on any date when the share transfer 
registers for Common Shares of the Company shall be closed shall be effective until the close of business on the next succeeding day on 
which such share transfer registers are open and such conversion shall be at the Conversion Price in effect at the close of business on such 
next succeeding day. 
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    If the Company is a party to a consolidation, amalgamation, merger or binding share exchange, a transfer of distributions or certain other 
transactions described in the Indenture, the right to convert a Bond may be changed into a right to convert it into securities, property or 
assets (including cash) of the Company or another person. 

  

9.   Denominations; Transfer; Exchange 
  

    The Bonds are issued in denominations of € 1,000 and integral multiples thereof. A holder may transfer or exchange Bonds in accordance 
with the Indenture. The Trustee may require a holder, among other things, to furnish appropriate endorsements and transfer documents and 
to pay any taxes and fees required by law or permitted by the Indenture. The Trustee need not transfer or exchange any Bonds selected for 
redemption (except, in the case of a Bond to be redeemed in part, the portion of the Bond not to be redeemed) for a period of 15 days 
before a selection of Bonds to be redeemed or any Bonds that the Company may have acquired in any manner whatsoever. 

  

10.   Persons Deemed Owners 
  

    The registered holder of this Bond may be treated as the owner of this Bond for all purposes. 
  

11.   Unclaimed Money or Securities 
  

    Subject to applicable law, the Trustee shall return to the Company upon written request any money or securities held by the Trustee for the 
payment of any amount with respect to the Bonds that remains unclaimed for six years after the date upon which payment became due. 
After return to the Company, holders entitled to the money or securities must look to the Company for payment as general creditors unless 
an applicable abandoned property law designates another person. 

  

12.   Amendments; Waiver 
  

    Subject to certain exceptions set forth in the Indenture, the Indenture or the Bonds may be amended by majority resolution of the Bond 
holders. Without the consent of any Bond holder, the Company and the Trustee may amend the Indenture or the Bonds: to cure any 
ambiguity, defect or inconsistency provided, however that such amendment does not adversely affect the rights of any holder; to provide 
for the succession of another person to the Company, or successive successions, and the assumption by the successor person of the 
covenants, agreements and obligations of the Company, in compliance with, or otherwise to comply with, Article 9 or Section 4.9 of the 
Indenture; to make any change that does not adversely affect the rights of any Bond holder; to add to the covenants or obligations of the 
Company under the Indenture or to surrender any right, power or option conferred in the Indenture upon the Company; or to comply with 
any requirement under the Trust Indenture Legislation. 
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13.   Defaults and Remedies 
  

    Under the Indenture, events of default include (i) a default in the payment of interest in cash when due on the Bond and the continuance of 
such default for 15 business days; (ii) default in the payment of the principal amount, Redemption Price or any other amounts payable on 
any Bond when the same becomes due and payable, whether at maturity of such Bond, upon redemption or otherwise and such default 
continues for five business days; (iii) failure by the Company to comply with any material term, covenant or other agreements in the 
Bonds or the Indenture and such failure continues for 30 days after receipt by the Company of a Notice of Default; (iv) failure to deliver 
Common Shares in accordance with the terms of the Indenture when such Common Shares are required to be delivered upon conversion of 
a Bond and such failure is not remedied for a period of 10 days; (v) default by the Company under the terms of any agreement or 
instrument evidencing or under which the Company has at the date of the Indenture or thereafter outstanding any indebtedness for 
borrowed money and such indebtedness shall be accelerated so that the same shall be or become due and payable prior to the date on 
which the same would otherwise become due and payable and the aggregate amount thereof so accelerated exceeds € 10 million and such 
acceleration is not rescinded or annulled within five business days after written notice thereof to the Company from the Trustee or to the 
Company and the Trustee from the holders of at least 50% in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then outstanding in accordance 
with the Indenture unless that default has been cured or waived within 30 days; provided however, that, if such default under such 
agreement or instrument is remedied or cured by the Company or waived by the holders of such indebtedness, then the Event of Default 
under the Indenture by reason thereof shall be deemed likewise to have been thereupon remedied, cured or waived without further action 
upon the part of the Trustee or any of such holders; and (vi) certain events of bankruptcy or insolvency by the Company. If an Event of 
Default occurs and is continuing, the Trustee, or the holders of at least 50% in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds at the time 
outstanding, by notice in writing to the Company (and to the Trustee if given by the holders) may declare all the Bonds to be due and 
payable immediately. Certain events of bankruptcy or insolvency are events of default which will result in the Bonds becoming due and 
payable immediately upon the occurrence of such events of default. 

  

    Bond holders may not enforce the Indenture or the Bonds except as provided in the Indenture. The Trustee may refuse to enforce the 
Indenture of the Bonds unless it receives reasonable indemnity and sufficient funds. Subject to certain limitations, holders of a majority in 
aggregate principal amount of the Bonds at the time outstanding may direct the Trustee in its exercise of any trust or power. The Trustee 
may withhold from Bond holders notice of any continuing Event of Default in certain circumstances if it determines that withholding 
notice is in the Bond holders’  interests. 

  

14.   Trustee Dealings with the Company 
  

    Subject to certain limitations imposed by the Trust Indenture Legislation, a Trustee, in its individual or any other capacity, may become 
the owner or pledgee of Bonds and may otherwise deal with and collect obligations owed to it by the Company or its Affiliates 
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    and may otherwise deal with the Company or its Affiliates with the same rights it would have if it were not a Trustee. 
  

15.   No Recourse Against Others 
  

    A director, officer, employee or shareholder, as such, of the Company shall not have any liability for any obligations of the Company 
under the Bonds or the Indenture or for any claim based on, in respect of or by reason of such obligations or their creation. By accepting a 
Bond, each Bond holder waives and releases all such liability. The waiver and release are part of the consideration for the issue of the 
Bonds. 

  

16.   Authentication 
  

    This Bond shall not be valid until an authorized signatory of the Trustee manually signs the Trustee’s certificate of authentication on the 
other side of this Bond. 

  

17.   Governing Law 
  

    THIS SECURITY SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE PROVINCE OF 
BRITISH COLUMBIA, AS APPLIED TO CONTRACTS MADE AND PERFORMED WITHIN THE PROVINCE OF BRITISH 
COLUMBIA. 



   

FORM OF ASSIGNMENT  

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, THE UNDERSIGNED SELL(S), ASSIGN(S) AND TRANSFER(S) UNTO:  

NAME OF TRANSFEREE:                                                                                                                                                           

OF:  

ADDRESS OF TRANSFEREE:                                                                                                                                                     

THE FOLLOWING SECURITIES OF MFC BANCORP LTD . (THE “ISSUER”):  

HEREBY IRREVOCABLY CONSTITUTES AND APPOINTS:  

   

(THIS SPACE SHOULD BE LEFT BLANK )  

   

ATTORNEY OF THE UNDERSIGNED TO TRANSFER THE AFOREMENTIONED SECURITIES ON THE BOOKS OF THE ISSUER 
WITH FULL POWER OF SUBSTITUTION IN THE PREMISES.  

DATED AT                                           THIS                                           DAY OF                                           ,                      
                                                                                                                                        MONTH                      YEAR  

READ CAREFULLY  

*THE NAME OF THE REGISTERED HOLDER AND SIGNATORY TO THIS FORM MUST CORRESPOND WITH THE NAME AS 
WRITTEN ON THE BOOKS OF THE ISSUER WITHOUT ANY CHANGE. THE SIGNATURE (S) OF THE REGISTERED HOLDER 
AND SIGNATORY EXECUTING THIS ASSIGNMENT MUST BE GUARANTEED BY A CANADIAN CHARTERED BANK, OR A 
GUARANTEE UNDER THE NORTH AMERICAN STAMP, SEMP OR MSP MEDALLION PROGRAMS.  

          
    DESCRIPTION  OF SECURITY      
    (INCLUDES CLASS OF SHARES AND     
    PAR VALUE , IF  ANY , RATE  AND     
    MATURITY  OF BONDS,   CERTIFICATE  

NMBER  OF SHARES OR PRINCIPAL    DEBENTURES OR OTHER    OR 
AMOUNT  OF OTHER  SECURITIES    SECURITIES )   SERIAL  NUMBER  

     4.4% CONVERTIBLE UNSECURED     
     SUBORDINATED BONDS     
     MATURING DECEMBER 31, 2019     

      
*SPACE FOR GUARANTEES OF SIGNATURES:      
   

  
  

       
   

  
  

       
   

  
  

       
   

  
  

     PERSON(S) EXECUTING THE POWER SIGN HERE 

  



   

SCHEDULE B  
FORM OF REDEMPTION NOTICE  

MFC BANCORP LTD.  

4.4% CONVERTIBLE UNSECURED SUBORDINATED BONDS  

REDEMPTION NOTICE  

Notice is hereby given pursuant to Section 3.3 of the trust indenture (the “ Indenture ”) dated as of January 7, 2004 between the Company and 
Computershare Trust Company of Canada (the “ Trustee ”), as amended by the supplemental indenture dated as of October 27, 2005, that the 
aggregate principal amount of € ______of the € ______of Bonds outstanding will be redeemed as of ______ (the “ Redemption Date ”), upon 
payment of a redemption amount of € ______for each € 1,000 principal amount of Bonds, being equal to the aggregate of (i) € ______(the “ 
Redemption Price ”), and (ii) all accrued and unpaid interest hereon to but excluding the Redemption Date (collectively, the “ Total 
Redemption Price ”).  

The Total Redemption Price will be payable upon presentation and surrender of the Bonds called for redemption at the following corporate 
trust office:  

Computershare Trust Company of Canada  
510 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia  

Canada V6C 3B9  

The interest upon the principal amount of Bonds called for redemption shall cease to be payable from and after the Redemption Date, unless 
payment of the Total Redemption Price shall not be made on presentation for surrender of such Bonds at the above-mentioned corporate trust 
office on or after the Redemption Date or prior to the setting aside of the Total Redemption Price pursuant to the Indenture.  

   

      
To:    Holders of 4.4% Convertible Unsecured Subordinated Bonds (the “  Bonds ” ) of MFC Bancorp Ltd. (the “  Company ” ) 
       
Note:  

  
All capitalized terms used herein have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Indenture mentioned below, unless otherwise 
indicated and all references to € shall be to lawful money of the European Union, unless otherwise indicated. 
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In this connection, upon presentation and surrender of the Bonds for payment on the Redemption Date, the Company shall, on the Redemption 
Date, make the delivery to the Trustee of any Paying Agent, for delivery to and on account of the holders, of cash representing the Redemption 
Price.  

MFC BANCORP LTD.  

   

          
DATED:         
   

  
  

  
  

          
Per:         
   

  
  

  
  

     Authorized Signatory     



   

SCHEDULE C  
FORM OF NOTICE OF CONVERSION  

CONVERSION NOTICE  

The undersigned registered holder of 4.4% Convertible Unsecured Subordinated Bonds bearing Certificate No. ___irrevocably elects to convert 
such Bonds (or € ___* principal amount thereof*) in accordance with the terms of the Indenture referred to in such Bonds and tenders herewith 
the Bonds, and, if applicable, directs that the Common Shares of MFC Bancorp Ltd. issuable upon a conversion be issued and delivered to the 
person indicated below. (If Common Shares are to be issued in the name of a person other than the holder, all requisite transfer taxes must be 
tendered by the undersigned).  

Dated:  

(Signature of Registered Holder)  

* If less than the full principal amount of the Bonds, indicate in the space provided the principal amount (which must be € 1,000 or integral 
multiples thereof).  

(Print name in which Common Shares are to be issued, delivered and registered)  

   

 

      
To:    MFC BANCORP LTD. 
     c/o Computershare Trust Company of Canada 
     510 Burrard Street 
     Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada V6C 3B9 
       
Note:  

  
All capitalized terms used herein have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Indenture mentioned below, unless otherwise 
indicated and all references to € shall be to lawful money of the European Union, unless otherwise indicated. 

      
NOTE: 

  

IF COMMON SHARES ARE TO BE ISSUED IN THE NAME OF A PERSON OTHER THAN THE HOLDER, THE 
SIGNATURE OF THE REGISTERED HOLDER AND SIGNATORY EXECUTING THIS NOTICE MUST BE 
GUARANTEED BY A CANADIAN CHARTERED BANK, OR A GUARANTEE UNDER THE NORTH AMERICAN 
STAMP, SEMP OR MSP MEDALLION PROGRAMS. 

          
Name:         
   

  
  

  
  

          
(Address)         
   

  
  

  
  

          
(Address)         
   

  
  

  
  

          
Name of guarantor:         
   

  
  

  
  

          
Authorized signature:         
   

  
  

  
  





   

EXHIBIT 4.38 

RESTRUCTURING AGREEMENT  

THIS AGREEMENT is made as of the 29 day of December, 2005  

BETWEEN:  

KHD HUMBOLDT WEDAG INTERNATIONAL LTD. , a corporation continued under the laws of British Columbia, Canada  

(“KHD”)  

AND:  

MASS FINANCIAL CORP. , a company continued under the laws of Barbados  

(“MFC”)  

WHEREAS:  

A. KHD’s business consists of two segments: (i) an industrial and engineering services business segment (the “Industrial and Engineering 
Services Business”), and (ii) a financial services business segment (the “Financial Services Business”);  

B. KHD wishes to realign its business to focus on the expansion of the Industrial and Engineering Services Business and to pursue an active 
acquisition program to acquire other companies that will compliment such operations;  

C. As part of KHD’s realignment of its business, KHD wishes to distribute the Financial Services Business, which includes commodities 
trading and merchant banking, to its shareholders by way of a dividend in kind consisting of all the Class A common shares of MFC;  

D. As part of the proposed distribution of the Financial Services Business, KHD wishes to transfer to MFC its interests in certain subsidiaries, 
which are involved or related to the Financial Services Business and not complimentary to the Industrial and Engineering Services Business 
and MFC wishes to transfer to KHD its interests in certain subsidiaries, which are complimentary to the Industrial and Engineering Services 
Business;  

E. Each of the boards of directors of KHD and MFC has determined that the proposed distribution is expected to enhance the success of both 
KHD and MFC and is expected thereby to maximize shareholder value over the long-term for each company by enabling each company to 
continue to pursue its own focused strategy and enable investors to evaluate the financial performance, strategies and other characteristics of 
each of KHD and MFC separately in comparison to companies within their respective industries; and  

F. KHD and MFC have agreed to enter into this Agreement setting out the terms and conditions on which the restructuring and distribution will 
be carried out;  
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NOW THEREFORE THIS AGREEMENT WITNESSES THAT in consideration of the premises and the respective covenants and 
agreements herein contained, the parties hereto covenant and agree as follows:  

ARTICLE 1  
INTERPRETATION  

1.1   Definitions 
  

    In this Agreement, unless the subject matter or context is inconsistent therewith: 

  (a)   “Act”  means the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia), as now enacted or as the same may be amended; 
  

  (b)   “Agreement”, “hereof”, “herein”, “hereunder” and similar expressions means this Agreement, including Schedules A, B and C, and 
not any particular article, section or other portion hereof and includes any agreement or instrument supplementary or ancillary 
hereto; 

  

  (c)   “Business Day”  means a day other than a Saturday, Sunday or a civic or statutory holiday in Vancouver, British Columbia; 
  

  (d)   “Confidential Information” has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 4.8 of this Agreement; 
  

  (e)   “Disclosing Party”  has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 4.8 of this Agreement; 
  

  (f)   “Distribution Date”  means the date on which the KHD Distribution is effected; 
  

  (g)   “Distribution Record Date” has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 2.1(b)(iv) of this Agreement; 
  

  (h)   “Exemption Order”  has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 2.1(a) of this Agreement; 
  

  (i)   “Financial Services Business”  has the meaning ascribed thereto in Recital A of this Agreement; 
  

  (j)   “ Industrial and Engineering Services Business”  has the meaning ascribed thereto in Recital A of this Agreement; 
  

  (k)   “ Intended Purposes”  has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 4.8 of this Agreement; 
  

  (l)   “KHD Distribution”  has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 2.1(b)(v) of this Agreement; 
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  (m)   “KHD Financial Instruments” includes all credit facilities, guaranties, commercial paper, foreign currency forward exchange contracts, 
comfort letters, letters of credit and similar instruments related to the Industrial and Engineering Services Business under which MFC 
or any of its subsidiaries (after completion of the KHD Transfers and the MFC Transfers) has any primary, secondary, contingent, 
joint, several or other Liability after the Distribution Record Date; 

  

  (n)   “KHD Shareholders”  means at any time the holders at that time of KHD Shares; 
  

  (o)   “KHD Shares”  means the common shares in the capital of KHD; 
  

  (p)   “KHD Transfers” means the share transfers by KHD and its subsidiaries, if applicable, to MFC as set out in Schedule A for the 
consideration as set out in Section 2.1(b) of this Agreement; 

  

  (q)   “Liability or Liabilities” includes all debts, liabilities and obligations whether absolute or contingent, matured or unmatured, liquidated 
or unliquidated, accrued or unaccrued, known or unknown, whenever arising, and whether or not the same would properly be reflected 
on a balance sheet; 

  

  (r)   “MFC Financial Instruments” includes all credit facilities, guaranties, commercial paper, foreign currency forward exchange contracts, 
comfort letters, letters of credit and similar instruments related to the Financial Services Business under which KHD or any of its 
subsidiaries (after completion of the KHD Transfers and the MFC Transfers) has any primary, secondary, contingent, joint, several or 
other Liability after the Distribution Record Date; 

  

  (s)   “MFC Shareholders”  means at any time the holders at that time of MFC Shares; 
  

  (t)   “MFC Shares”  means the Class A common shares in the capital of MFC; 
  

  (u)   “MFC Split”  has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 2.1(b)(iv) of this Agreement; 
  

  (v)   “MFC Transfers” means the share transfers by MFC to KHD as set out in Schedule B for the consideration as set out in Section 2.1(b) 
of this Agreement; 

  

  (w)   “Restructuring”  means the transactions set out Section 2.1 of this Agreement; 
  

  (x)   “Rule 12g3-2(b) Exemption” means the exemption granted by the Securities and Exchange Commission from the registration 
requirements of Section 12(g) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934; 

  

  (y)   “Securities Act”  means the Securities Act (British Columbia), as now enacted or as the same may be amended; 
  

  (z)   “Securities Legislation” means the United States Securities Act of 1933 , the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934 , and such 
other provincial, state or territorial securities legislation as may be applicable, as now enacted or as the same may be amended and the 
applicable rules, regulations, rulings, orders and 
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                  forms made or promulgated under such statutes and the published policies of the regulatory authorities administering such statutes; 

   (aa)     “Share Exchange Agreement”  means the share exchange agreement dated December 29, 2005 between KHD and MFC; 
  

   (bb)     “Tax Act”  means the Income Tax Act (Canada), as now enacted or as the same may be amended; and 
  

   (cc)     “Termination Date”  means 11:59 p.m., Pacific Standard Time, on March 31, 2006. 

1.2   Subsidiaries 
  

    When reference is made in this Agreement to subsidiaries of any entity, the word “subsidiary” means any corporation of which 
outstanding voting securities carrying more than 50 percent of the votes for the election of directors are, or any partnership, joint venture 
or other entity more than 50 percent of whose total equity interest is, directly or indirectly, owned by such entity. 

  

1.3   Currency 
  

    All sums of money which are referred to in this Agreement are expressed in lawful money of Canada unless otherwise stated. 
  

1.4   Interpretation Not Affected by Headings, etc. 
  

    The division of this Agreement into articles, sections and other portions and the insertion of headings are for convenience of reference 
only and shall not affect the construction or interpretation of this Agreement. 

  

1.5   Number, etc. 
  

    Unless the subject matter or context requires the contrary, words importing the singular number only shall include the plural and vice 
versa; words importing the use of any gender shall include all genders; and words importing persons shall include natural persons, firms, 
trusts, partnerships and corporations. 

  

1.6   Date for Any Action 
  

    In the event that any date on which any action is required to be taken hereunder by any of the parties hereto is not a Business Day, such 
action shall be required to be taken on the next succeeding day which is a Business Day. 

  

1.7   Entire Agreement 
  

    This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties hereto pertaining to the subject mater hereof and supersedes all prior 
agreements, understandings, negotiations, and discussions, whether oral or written, between the parties hereto with 
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ARTICLE 2  
THE RESTRUCTURING  

          respect to the subject matter hereof. There are no representations, warranties, covenants or conditions with respect to the subject matter  
  hereof except as contained herein. 

2.1     The Restructuring 

(a)   As soon as reasonably practicable, KHD and MFC shall apply to the United States Securities and Exchange Commission for the 
Rule 12g3-2(b) Exemption and apply to all relevant Canadian securities commissions for a discretionary exemption order (the 
“Exemption Order” ) in connection with the KHD Distribution. 

  

  (b)   Subject to the issuance of the Rule 12g3-2(b) Exemption and the Exemption Order and prior to the Termination Date: 

  (i)   KHD will complete and, if applicable, cause its subsidiaries to complete, the KHD Transfers in consideration of the issuance 
by MFC of one (1) common share of MFC to KHD and the completion of the MFC Transfers; 

  

  (ii)   MFC will complete the MFC Transfers in consideration of the KHD Transfers; 
  

  (iii)   upon the completion of the KHD Transfers and the MFC Transfers, KHD and MFC will complete the transaction set out in 
the Share Exchange Agreement; 

  

  (iv)   upon the completion of the Share Exchange Agreement, MFC will divide the issued and outstanding MFC Shares by a factor 
to be determined jointly by MFC and KHD so that the number of issued and outstanding MFC Shares is equal to the number 
of issued and outstanding KHD Shares (the “MFC Split”) on the record date set by KHD to distribute all of the MFC Shares 
held by KHD as part of the KHD Distribution (the “Distribution Record Date” ); 

  

  (v)   upon the completion of the MFC Split, KHD will declare a dividend payable to KHD Shareholders by distribution of the post-
split MFC Shares KHD received under the Share Exchange Agreement pursuant to which holders of one KHD Share will 
receive one MFC Share (the “KHD Distribution”); and KHD Shareholders will not be required to pay for the MFC Shares 
received in the KHD Distribution or to surrender or exchange KHD Shares in order to receive MFC Shares or to take any 
other action in connection the KHD Distribution; 

  

  (vi)   MFC will use all reasonable commercial efforts to apply to have the MFC Shares listed and traded on the Cayman Islands 
Stock Exchange or other 
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      exchange or market acceptable to the applicable regulatory authorities; and 

  (vii)   KHD will prepare an information statement that will contain information substantially similar to that information which would 
be made available to shareholders in a proxy or information statement complying with Schedule 14A or 14C of the United 
States Securities Exchange Act of 1934 , describing the Distribution and MFC, to be sent to KHD Shareholders. 

2.2   Transfers and Conveyancing Agreements 

   (a)   In connection with the KHD Transfers and the MFC Transfers, each of KHD and MFC herewith assigns the shares being transferred, 
as set out in this Agreement, to the other party who accepts the assignment. For reasons of precaution, each of KHD and MFC 
herewith assigns in accordance with Sec. 398,410 German Civil Code to the other party, who accepts such assignment, all of the 
membership rights pertaining to the shares being transferred, as set out in this Agreement. Where shares exist in physical form 
(“Physical Shares”), such Physical Shares shall be physically delivered to the other party. Where shares are entered into an electronic 
system (e.g. where shares are booked in security deposits of banks), each of KHD and MFC herewith assigns to the other party, who 
accepts such assignment, each and any of its claims for return of the shares against both the bank and Clearstream. If applicable, each 
of KHD and MFC herewith irrevocably instructs the depositary bank to transfer the shares being transferred, as set out in this 
Agreement, to the other party’s account and to instruct Clearstream to hold constructive possession of the shares for the other party’s 
bank. 

  

   (b)   In connection with the KHD Transfers and the MFC Transfers, KHD and MFC shall execute, or cause to be executed by the 
appropriate entities, such transfer and conveyancing instruments, notarized deeds, bank directions and other documents, in such 
forms as shall be reasonably acceptable to KHD and MFC to effect the KHD Transfers and the MFC Transfers. 

2.3   Transfers Not Effected Prior to the Distribution; Transfers Deemed Effective as of the Distribution Date 
  

    To the extent that the any of the KHD Transfers or the MFC Transfers have not been consummated on or prior to the Distribution Date, 
the parties shall cooperate and use reasonable best efforts to effect the transfer of such shares as promptly following the Distribution Date 
as shall be practicable. Nothing herein shall be deemed to require the transfer of any of shares contemplated by the KHD Transfers or the 
MFC Transfers which by their terms or operation of law cannot be transferred until such time as all legal impediments to such transfer 
have been removed; provided, however, that KHD and MFC shall, and shall cause their respective subsidiaries to, use its reasonable best 
efforts to obtain any necessary consents or approvals for the completion of the KHD Transfers and the MFC Transfers. In the event that 
any of the KHD Transfers or the MFC Transfers have not been consummated, effective on or before the Distribution Date, the party 
retaining the shares subject to such transfer shall thereafter hold such shares in trust for the use and benefit of the party entitled thereto (at 
the expense of the party entitled 
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2.5    Guarantee Obligations and Liens Relating to KHD  

    thereto) and take such other action as may be reasonably requested by the party to which such shares are to be transferred, in order to 
place such party, insofar as reasonably practicable, in substantially the same position as would have existed had such shares been 
transferred as contemplated hereby. As and when any such shares becomes transferable, such transfer automatically and without any 
further action shall be effected forthwith. Subject to the foregoing, the parties agree that, as of the Distribution Date (or such earlier time 
as any such shares may have been transferred or indebtedness assumed), each party hereto shall be deemed to have acquired complete and 
sole beneficial ownership over all of such shares, together with all rights, powers and privileges incident thereto, which such party is 
entitled to acquire pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. 

2.4    Guarantee Obligations and Liens Relating to MFC 

  (a)   KHD and MFC shall cooperate and use their respective reasonable best efforts to: 

  (i)   cause MFC, or one of its subsidiaries (after completion of the KHD Transfers and the MFC Transfers) to be substituted in all 
respects for KHD or any of its subsidiaries (after completion of the KHD Transfers and the MFC Transfers) in respect of, all 
obligations of KHD or any of its subsidiaries (after completion of the KHD Transfers and the MFC Transfers) under any 
Liabilities of MFC for which such may be liable, as guarantor, original tenant, primary obligor or otherwise; and 

  

  (ii)   cause assets of MFC to be substituted in all respects for any assets of KHD or any of its subsidiaries (after completion of the 
KHD Transfers and the MFC Transfers) in respect of, any liens or encumbrances on any assets of KHD or any of its 
subsidiaries (after completion of the KHD Transfers and the MFC Transfers) which are securing any Liabilities of MFC. 

  (b)   If such a termination or substitution is not effected by the Distribution Date, MFC shall indemnify and hold harmless KHD and any 
of its subsidiaries (after completion of the KHD Transfers and the MFC Transfers) for any loss arising from or relating thereto. 

  (a)   KHD and MFC shall cooperate and use their respective reasonable best efforts to: 

  (i)   cause KHD, or one of its subsidiaries (after completion of the KHD Transfers and the MFC Transfers) to be substituted in all 
respects for MFC or any of its subsidiaries (after completion of the KHD Transfers and the MFC Transfers) in respect of, all 
obligations of MFC or any of its subsidiaries (after completion of the KHD Transfers and the MFC Transfers) under any 
Liabilities of KHD for which such may be liable, as guarantor, original tenant, primary obligor or otherwise; and 

  

  (ii)   cause assets of KHD to be substituted in all respects for any assets of MFC or any of its subsidiaries (after completion of the 
KHD Transfers and the MFC Transfers) in respect of, any liens or encumbrances on any assets of 
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      MFC or any of its subsidiaries (after completion of the KHD Transfers and the MFC Transfers) which are securing any 
Liabilities of KHD. 

   (b)   If such a termination or substitution is not effected by the Distribution Date, KHD shall indemnify and hold harmless MFC and any 
of its subsidiaries (after completion of the KHD Transfers and the MFC Transfers) for any loss arising from or relating thereto. 

2.6   Guarantee Obligations and Liens of MFC and KHD following the Distribution 
  

    Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, MFC and KHD agree that all current obligations under any Liabilities of each party and 
their respective subsidiaries for which such may be liable, as guarantor, original tenant, primary obligor or otherwise (collectively, the 
“Guarantees”), that are not terminated or otherwise extinguished prior to the Distribution Date shall continue to be in force for a 
reasonable period of time following the Distribution Date and both parties and their respective subsidiaries shall issue such Guarantees as 
are reasonably required for a reasonable period of time following the Distribution Date. 

  

2.7   Financial Instruments 

   (a)   MFC will, at its expense, take or cause to be taken all actions, and enter into (or cause the subsidiaries of MFC to enter into) such 
agreements and arrangements, as shall be reasonably necessary to effect the release of and substitution for each member of KHD 
and/or its subsidiaries (after completion of the KHD Transfers and the MFC Transfers), as of the Distribution Date, from all primary, 
secondary, contingent, joint, several and other Liabilities in respect of MFC Financial Instruments to the extent related to the 
Financial Services Business (it being understood that all such Liabilities in respect of MFC Financial Instruments are Liabilities of 
MFC). 

  

   (b)   KHD will, at its expense, take or cause to be taken all actions, and enter into (or cause its subsidiaries to enter into) such agreements 
and arrangements, as shall be necessary to effect the release of and substitution for MFC and its subsidiaries (after completion of the 
KHD Transfers and the MFC Transfers), as of the Distribution Date, from all primary, secondary, contingent, joint, several and other 
Liabilities, if any, in respect of KHD Financial Instruments to the extent related to the Industrial and Engineering Services Business 
(it being understood that all such Liabilities in respect of KHD Financial Instruments are Liabilities of KHD). 

  

   (c)   The parties’ obligations under this Section 2.7 will continue to be applicable to all MFC Financial Instruments and KHD Financial 
Instruments identified at any time by KHD or MFC, whether before, at or after the Distribution Date. 
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ARTICLE 3  
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES  

2.8   Intercompany Accounts 

  (a)   KHD and MFC shall agree on the amounts of all intercompany accounts that existed among KHD and MFC, and their respective 
subsidiaries, as at December 31, 2005 (or at such other applicable date) (the “ Intercompany Accounts” ). 

  

  (b)   KHD and MFC may adjust the Intercompany Accounts provided that such adjustment does not give rise to any tax cost or liabilities 
on the part of KHD, MFC or any of their respective subsidiaries. KHD and MFC may settle any Intercompany Accounts through 
the issuance of preferred shares. 

2.9   Tax Adjustments 
  

    If the Minister of National Revenue or any other competent authority at any time questions or proposes to issue or issues any assessment 
or assessments that would impose or imposes any liability for tax of any nature or kind on any of the parties or on any other person in 
connection with the Restructuring or the KHD Distribution, then the parties shall do all such things and perform all such acts as may be 
necessary to minimize the liability for such assessment or assessments. 

2.10   The Agent and Delivery of Shares to the Agent 

   (a)   Prior to the Distribution Date, MFC shall enter into an agreement with a transfer agent (the “Agent”) providing for, among other 
things, the distribution to the KHD Shareholders of the MFC Shares. 

  

   (b)   On or prior to the Distribution Date, KHD shall irrevocably authorize the book-entry transfer by the Agent of all of the outstanding 
MFC Shares to be distributed in connection with the KHD Distribution, immediately following which the Agent shall distribute by 
book-entry transfer all of the MFC Shares. After the Distribution Date, upon the request of the Agent, MFC shall provide all book-
entry transfer authorizations that the Agent shall require in order to issue shares certificates to evidence the MFC Shares. 

3.1   Mutual Representations and Warranties 
  

    Each party represents and warrants to the other party as follows and acknowledges that the other party is relying upon such 
representations and warranties in connection with the matters contemplated by this Agreement: 

   (a)   it is duly incorporated and validly existing under the laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation and has the corporate power and 
authority to own or lease its property and assets and to carry on its business as now conducted by it; 

  

   (b)   the execution and delivery of this Agreement by it, including all matters contemplated hereby, have been authorized by all 
necessary corporate action and 
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ARTICLE 4  
COVENANTS  

      it has the corporate power and authority to enter into and perform its obligations under this Agreement; 

   (c)   it has duly executed and delivered this Agreement, and this Agreement is a valid and binding agreement enforceable against it in 
accordance with its terms, subject to bankruptcy, insolvency and other laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally 
and to general principles of equity; and 

  

   (d)   the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the completion of the transactions contemplated hereby do not now and will not: 

  (i)   conflict with, or result in a breach of, or create a state of facts which after notice or lapse of time or both results or may result 
in a breach of, any of the terms, conditions or provisions of its constating documents or the constating documents of any of its 
subsidiaries or any material agreement, instrument, licence, permit, undertaking, commitment or understanding to which it or 
any of its subsidiaries is a party or by which it is bound; or 

  

  (ii)   violate any provision of law or administrative regulation or any judicial or administrative award, judgment or decree 
applicable and known to it (after due inquiry), the breach of which would have a material adverse effect on it. 

4.1   Covenants of KHD 

   (a)   Subject to the issuance of the Rule 12g3-2(b) Exemption and Exemption Order, KHD will execute and deliver all documents, and 
cause its subsidiaries to execute and deliver all documents necessary to complete the Restructuring in the order as set out in 
Section 2.1 of this Agreement, subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions in Sections 5.1 and 5.3 of this Agreement, on 
or before the Termination Date. 

  

   (b)   Subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions contained in Sections 5.1 and 5.3 of this Agreement, KHD shall complete the 
Restructuring. 

  

   (c)   KHD will use all reasonable commercial efforts to procure the Rule 12g3-2(b) Exemption and the Exemption Order. 

4.2   Covenants of MFC 

   (a)   Subject to the issuance of the Exemption Order, MFC will execute and deliver all documents, and cause its subsidiaries to execute 
and deliver all documents necessary to complete the Restructuring in the order as set out in Section 2.1 of this Agreement, subject to 
the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions in Sections 5.1 and 5.2 of this Agreement, on or before the Termination Date. 
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  (b)   Subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions contained in Sections 5.1 and 5.2 of this Agreement, MFC shall complete the 
Restructuring. 

  

  (c)   MFC will use all reasonable commercial efforts to procure the Rule 12g3-2(b) Exemption. 

4.3   Mutual Covenants 
  

    Except as contemplated in this Agreement, each of KHD and MFC agrees, except with the prior written agreement of the other, that: 

  (a)   it will use all reasonable commercial efforts to satisfy (or cause the satisfaction of) the conditions precedent to its obligations 
hereunder and to take, or cause to be taken, all other action and to do, or cause to be done, all other things necessary, proper or 
advisable under applicable laws and regulations to complete the Restructuring; 

  

  (b)   to co-operate with the other in good faith in order to ensure the timely completion of the Restructuring; 
  

  (c)   to use all reasonable commercial efforts to co-operate with each other in connection with the performance by the other of its 
obligations under this section; 

  

  (d)   prior to the KHD Distribution, it will not, and will not permit any of its subsidiaries to, enter into any transaction or perform any act 
which might interfere with or be inconsistent with the successful completion of the Restructuring or which would render inaccurate 
any of its representations and warranties set forth herein if such representations and warranties were made at a date subsequent to 
such transaction or act and all references to the date hereof were references to such later date; and 

  

  (e)   it will not take or fail to take any action within its control which would result in a condition precedent to the Restructuring not being 
satisfied. 

4.4   Co-operation, Consents and Approvals 
  

    Each party will, and will cause its subsidiaries to, co-operate and use their respective reasonable commercial efforts to obtain all 
authorizations, waivers, exemptions, consents, orders and other approvals from domestic or foreign courts, governmental or regulatory 
agencies, boards, commissions or other authorities, shareholders and third parties as are necessary for the consummation of the 
transactions contemplated by the Restructuring and the KHD Distribution. Each party will vigorously defend or cause to be defended any 
lawsuits or other legal proceedings brought against it or any of its subsidiaries challenging this Agreement or the completion of the 
Restructuring or the KHD Distribution. Neither party will settle or compromise any claim brought by their respective present, former or 
purported holders of any of their securities in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement prior to the KHD 
Distribution without the prior written consent of the other, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld. 
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4.5   Public Announcements 
  

    No news release or other public announcement concerning the proposed transactions contemplated by this Agreement will be made by 
any party hereto without the prior consent of the other, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld; provided, however, that any party 
may without such consent make such disclosure as may be required by any stock exchange on which its securities are listed or by any 
Securities Legislation or any regulatory authority having jurisdiction over such party and, if such disclosure is required, the party making 
the disclosure will use reasonable efforts to give prior oral or written notice to the other party and an opportunity to allow the other party 
to comment on the disclosure. 

  

4.6   Material Changes 
  

    Each party will advise the other party orally and in writing of any material change with respect to it or its subsidiaries on a consolidated 
basis (and for this purpose, MFC and its subsidiaries shall not be considered subsidiaries of KHD at any time) promptly after it has 
occurred and will promptly send to the other a copy of any press release or material change report filed by it with securities regulatory 
authorities. 

  

4.7   Notification 
  

    Each party will promptly notify the other if any of the representations and warranties made by it in this Agreement ceases to be true, 
accurate and complete in any material respect and of any failure to comply in any material respect with any of its obligations hereunder. 

  

4.8   Confidential Information 
  

    Each of the parties confirms and acknowledges that it has been provided, in connection with the review of the proposed transactions 
among them and the preparation of materials required to implement those transactions which have culminated in the parties entering into 
this Agreement (the “Intended Purposes”), certain confidential information concerning the affairs of the disclosing party (the “Disclosing 
Party”) in written, electronic, spoken or other form in presentations, discussions, tours or other means including direct disclosure and 
disclosure by way of authorized agents, representatives and consultants (which disclosed information together with all third party reports 
to any party based in whole or in part on such disclosed information is herein referred to as the “Confidential Information”). Each party 
acknowledges that the Confidential Information is the property of the Disclosing Party, is confidential and material to the interests, 
business and affairs of the Disclosing Party and includes information that has not been generally disclosed to the public and that 
disclosure thereof, other than as contemplated herein, would cause irreparable harm to the Disclosing Party and its shareholders. 
Accordingly, each party will maintain the confidentiality of the Confidential Information and will not disclose the Confidential 
Information to any person except as part of the Intended Purposes or except as required by applicable law or legal process, in which latter 
case such party shall provide the Disclosing Party with prompt notice of such requirement to allow the Disclosing Party to seek an 
appropriate protective order or other remedy. Each of the parties acknowledges and agrees that any Disclosing Party and its 
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    shareholders would be irreparably damaged and that compensation by damages alone would be insufficient if any provision of this 
Section 4.8 is not performed by any of the other parties in accordance with its terms. Accordingly, the Disclosing Party will be entitled to 
an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of the provisions of this Section 4.8 and may specifically enforce such provisions by an 
action instituted in a court having jurisdiction and the party in breach of such provisions will be deemed to have waived defences to such 
an action. These specific remedies are in addition to any other remedy to which a Disclosing Party may be entitled at law or in equity. 

  

4.9   Provision of Corporate Records 

  (a)   Prior to or as promptly as practicable after the Distribution Date, KHD shall deliver or make available to MFC all corporate books 
and records of MFC and any of its subsidiaries (after completion of the KHD Transfers and the MFC Transfers) in its possession 
and complete and accurate copies of all relevant portions of all corporate books and records relating directly and primarily to the 
Financial Services Business. KHD and its subsidiaries may retain complete and accurate copies of such books and records. From 
and after the Distribution Date, all such books, records and copies shall be the property of MFC. 

  

  (b)   Prior to or as promptly as practicable after the Distribution Date, MFC shall deliver or make available to KHD, all corporate books 
and records of KHD and any of its subsidiaries (after completion of the KHD Transfers and the MFC Transfers) in its possession 
and complete and accurate copies of all relevant portions of all corporate books and records relating directly and primarily to the 
Industrial and Engineering Services Business. MFC may retain complete and accurate copies of such books and records. From and 
after the Distribution Date, all such books, records and copies shall be the property of KHD. 

4.10   Access to Information 
  

    From and after the Distribution Date, each of KHD and MFC shall afford to the other and to the other’s representatives reasonable access 
and duplicating rights during normal business hours to all information within the possession or control of such party relating to the other 
party’s business as it existed prior to the KHD Distribution or relating to or arising in connection with the relationship between the parties 
on or prior to the Distribution Date, insofar as such access is reasonably required for a reasonable purpose. Without limiting the 
foregoing, information may be requested under this Section 4.10 for audit, accounting, regulatory, claims, litigation and tax purposes, as 
well as for purposes of fulfilling disclosure and reporting obligations. 

  

4.11   Production of Witnesses 
  

    After the Distribution Date, each of KHD and MFC shall, and shall cause each member of its respective business to make available to the 
other party. upon reasonable prior written request, such party’s directors, managers or other persons acting in a similar capacity, officers, 
employees and agents as witnesses to the extent that any such person may reasonably be required in connection with any litigation, 
administrative or other proceedings in which the requesting party may from time to time be involved and relating 
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ARTICLE 5  
CONDITIONS  

    to other party’s business as it existed prior to the KHD Distribution or relating to or in connection with the relationship between the 
parties on or prior to the Distribution Date. 

  

4.12   Retention of Records 
  

    Except as otherwise agreed in writing, each of KHD and MFC shall, and shall cause its respective subsidiaries, retain all information in 
such party’s possession or under its control, relating directly and primarily to other party’s business as it existed prior to the KHD 
Distribution as required by law. 

  

4.13   Cooperation with Respect to Government Reports and Filings 
  

    KHD, on behalf of itself and each of its subsidiaries (after completion of the KHD Transfers and the MFC Transfers), agrees to provide 
MFC or any of its subsidiaries (after completion of the KHD Transfers and the MFC Transfers), and MFC, on behalf of itself and each of 
its subsidiaries (after completion of the KHD Transfers and the MFC Transfers), agrees to provide KHD or any of its subsidiaries (after 
completion of the KHD Transfers and the MFC Transfers), with such cooperation and information as may be reasonably requested by the 
other in connection with the preparation or filing of any government report or other government filing contemplated by this Agreement or 
in conducting any other government proceeding relating to the businesses or each party as such existed prior to the KHD Distribution or 
relating to or in connection with the relationship between the parties on or prior to the Distribution Date. Such cooperation and 
information shall include promptly forwarding copies of appropriate notices, forms and other communications received from or sent to 
any government authority. Each party shall make its employees and facilities available during normal business hours and on reasonable 
prior notice to provide explanation of any documents or information provided hereunder. 

5.1   Mutual Conditions Precedent 
  

    The obligations of each of the parties to this Agreement to complete the Restructuring are subject to the fulfilment or mutual waiver by 
each of KHD and MFC of each of the following conditions: 

  (a)   the Rule 12g3-2(b) Exemption shall have been granted in form and substance satisfactory to each of KHD and MFC; 
  

  (b)   the Exemption Order shall have been obtained in form and substance satisfactory to each of KHD and MFC; 
  

  (c)   the Restructuring and this Agreement shall have been approved by the respective board of directors of each of the parties; 
  

  (d)   there shall not have occurred any actual or threatened (including any proposal by the Minister of Finance (Canada)) change or 
amendment to the Tax Act or 
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      regulations thereunder or to any applicable provincial tax legislation or the regulations thereunder or any publicly stated 
administrative position or practice in relation thereto which, directly or indirectly, has or may have any material adverse 
significance with respect to the Restructuring including, without limitation, the KHD Distribution; 

  

  (e)   all requisite stock exchange approvals, all requisite domestic and foreign regulatory approvals and consents, and rulings or orders 
from the securities regulatory authorities providing that all trades relating to the KHD Transfers and the MFC Transfers are exempt 
from prospectus and registration requirements, shall each have been obtained on terms and conditions satisfactory to KHD and 
MFC, acting reasonably; 

  

  (f)   no order or decree of any domestic or foreign court, tribunal, governmental agency or other regulatory authority or administrative 
agency, board or commission, and no law, regulation, policy, directive or order shall have been enacted, promulgated, made, issued 
or applied to cease trade, enjoin, prohibit or impose material limitations on, the Restructuring or the transactions contemplated 
thereby; 

  

  (g)   there shall not exist any prohibition at law against the completion of the Restructuring; and 
  

  (h)   this Agreement shall not have been terminated pursuant to the provisions hereof. 

5.2   Additional Conditions Precedent to the Obligations of MFC 
  

    The obligations of MFC to complete the Restructuring will also be subject to the following conditions, each of which is for MFC’s 
exclusive benefit and may be asserted or waived by it in its sole discretion at any time, in whole or in part: 

  (a)   KHD shall have performed each covenant or obligation to be performed by it hereunder in favour of MFC; 
  

  (b)   the representations and warranties of KHD set out in this Agreement shall be true and correct on and as of the date of the KHD 
Distribution as if made on and as of such date, except as affected by transactions contemplated or permitted by this Agreement; 

  

  (c)   any required governmental or regulatory approvals, which if not received would have a material adverse effect on the business or 
prospects of KHD or MFC and their respective subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, shall have been obtained or waived on terms 
satisfactory to MFC, acting reasonably; 

  

  (d)   no act, action, suit or proceedings shall have been taken before or by any domestic or foreign court or tribunal or governmental 
agency or other regulatory authority or administrative agency or commission by any elected or appointed public official or private 
person (including, without limitation, any individual, corporation, firm, group or other entity) in Canada or elsewhere, whether or 
not 
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      having the force of law, or no law, regulation or policy shall have been proposed, enacted, promulgated or applied which, in the sole 
judgement of MFC, acting reasonably in the circumstances, if the Restructuring was consummated would materially and adversely 
affect MFC and its subsidiaries; and 

  

  (e)   KHD and its subsidiaries shall have co-operated in taking all steps required to meet regulatory requirements, provided that such 
steps would not have adverse consequences to the holders of MFC Shares or to MFC or any of its subsidiaries if the Restructuring 
were not completed. 

5.3   Additional Conditions Precedent to the Obligations of KHD 
  

    The obligations of KHD to complete the Restructuring will also be subject to the following conditions, each of which is for KHD’s 
exclusive benefit and may be asserted or waived by it in its sole discretion at any time, in whole or in part: 

  (a)   MFC shall have performed each covenant or obligation to be performed by it hereunder in favour of KHD; 
  

  (b)   the representations and warranties of MFC set out in this Agreement shall be true and correct on and as of the date of the KHD 
Distribution as if made on and as of such date, except as affected by transactions contemplated or permitted by this Agreement; 

  

  (c)   MFC’s registrar and transfer agent has received valid and irrevocable instructions to distribute by book-entry transfer, all of the 
MFC Shares to the holders of KHD Shares; 

  

  (d)   any required governmental or regulatory approvals, which if not received would have a material adverse effect on the business or 
prospects of KHD or MFC and their respective subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, shall have been obtained or waived on terms 
satisfactory to KHD, acting reasonably; 

  

  (e)   no act, action, suit or proceedings shall have been taken before or by any domestic or foreign court or tribunal or governmental 
agency or other regulatory authority or administrative agency or commission by any elected or appointed public official or private 
person (including, without limitation, any individual, corporation, firm, group or other entity) in Canada or elsewhere, whether or 
not having the force of law, or no law, regulation or policy shall have been proposed, enacted, promulgated or applied which, in the 
sole judgement of KHD, acting reasonably in the circumstances, if the Restructuring was consummated would materially and 
adversely affect KHD and its subsidiaries; and 

  

  (f)   from and after the date of this Agreement, there shall not have occurred or arisen (or there shall have been generally disclosed or 
discovered, if not previously disclosed in writing to and acknowledged by KHD), any change or fact (or any condition, event or 
development involving a prospective change) in the business, operations, affairs, assets, liabilities (including any contingent 
liabilities that may arise through outstanding, pending or threatened litigation or otherwise), 



   

- 17 -  

ARTICLE 6  
TERMINATION AND AMENDMENT  

      capitalization, financial condition, licenses, permits, rights or privileges, whether contractual or otherwise, or prospects of MFC and 
any of its subsidiaries considered on a consolidated basis which, in the sole judgement of KHD, acting reasonably in the 
circumstances, has or may have a material adverse effect either on the value of MFC and its subsidiaries considered on a 
consolidated basis. 

5.4   Satisfaction of Conditions 
  

    The conditions set out in Sections 5.1, 5.2 and 5.3 hereof shall be conclusively deemed to have been satisfied, waived or released when 
the Restructuring and Distribution are complete. 

6.1   Termination 
  

    This Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the date of the KHD Distribution: 

  (a)   by agreement in writing executed by KHD and MFC; 
  

  (b)   by MFC at any time on or after the Termination Date if, by that date, the conditions set forth in Sections 5.1 and 5.2 have not been 
satisfied or waived; or 

  

  (c)   by KHD at any time on or after the Termination Date if, by that date, the conditions set forth in Sections 5.1 and 5.3 have not been 
satisfied or waived. 

6.2   Effect of Termination 
  

    In the event of any termination of this Agreement, the provisions hereof will become void and no party will have any liability to any other 
party in respect of this Agreement, except in respect of any breach of this Agreement which occurred on or before the Termination Date. 

  

6.3   Amendment 
  

    Subject as hereinafter provided, this Agreement may, at any time and from time to time, but not later than the date of the KHD 
Distribution, be amended by written agreement of KHD and MFC (or, in the case of a waiver, by written instrument of the party giving 
the waiver) without, subject to applicable law, notice to or authorization on the part of the shareholders of KHD or MFC. Without 
limiting the generality of the foregoing, any such amendment may: 

  (a)   change the time for performance of any of the obligations or acts of the parties hereto; 
  

  (b)   waive any inaccuracies or modify any representation or warranty contained herein or in any document to be delivered pursuant 
hereto; or 
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ARTICLE 7  
GENERAL PROVISIONS  

The date of receipt of any such notice shall be deemed to be the date of delivery thereof or, in the case of notice sent by telecopy, the date 
of successful transmission thereof (unless transmission is received after normal business hours, in which case the date of receipt shall be 
deemed to be the next Business Day).  

  (c)   waive compliance with or modify any of the covenants herein contained or waive or modify performance of any of the obligations 
of the parties hereto. 

  

  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the terms of this Agreement shall not be amended in a manner prejudicial to KHD or MFC without the 
approval of KHD or MFC, as the case may be. 

7.1   Notices 
  

    All notices and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be delivered by hand to the parties at the following 
addresses or sent by telecopy at the following telecopier numbers or at such other addresses or telecopier numbers as shall be specified by 
the parties by like notice: 

  (a)   if to KHD: 
      
   

  

Unit 803, 8/F, Dina House, Ruttonjee Centre  
11 Duddell Street, Central  
Hong Kong 

       
     Attention: Michael J. Smith 
     Fax: 852.2537.3689 

  (b)   if to MFC: 
      
     Palm Court 
     28 Pine Road 
     Belleville, St. Michael 
     Barbados 
       
     Attention: Michael J. Smith 
     Fax: 246.429.5143 

7.2   Survival of Representations and Warranties 
  

    The respective representations, warranties and covenants of KHD and MFC contained herein shall expire with, and be terminated and 
extinguished upon, completion of the Restructuring except for the provisions of Section 4.8 which shall survive as continuing covenants 
following the completion of the Restructuring. 
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7.3   Applicable Law 
  

    This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the Province of British Columbia and the federal 
laws of Canada applicable therein and shall be treated in all respects as a British Columbia contract. 

  

7.4   Binding Effect and Assignment 
  

    This Agreement and all the provisions hereof shall be binding upon and enure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective 
successors and permitted assigns. Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights hereunder or under the Restructuring shall be assigned by 
any of the parties hereto without the prior written consent of the other party hereto. 

  

7.5   Time of Essence 
  

    Time shall be of the essence of this Agreement. 
  

7.6   Counterparts 
  

    This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, and each signed copy sent by electronic 
facsimile transmission shall be deemed to be an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. 

  

7.7   Further Assurances 
  

    Each party shall make, do and execute, or cause to be made, done and executed all such further acts, deeds, agreements, transfers, 
assurances, instruments or documents as may be reasonably required in order to implement this Agreement. 



   

- 20 -  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF each of the parties hereto has executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.  

KHD HUMBOLDT WEDAG INTERNATIONAL LTD.  

MASS FINANCIAL CORP.  

7.8   Bulk Transfer Laws 
  

    Each of KHD and MFC hereby waive compliance, on their own behalf and on behalf of each of their respective subsidiaries, with the 
requirements and provisions of the “bulk-sale”  or “bulk-transfer”  laws of any jurisdiction. 

      
Per:   /s/ Michael J. Smith 
     Authorized Signatory 

      
Per:   /s/ Michael J. Smith 
     Authorized Signatory 
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SCHEDULE A  

TRANSFERS FROM KHD AND SUBSIDIARIES TO MFC  

In the event of a good faith error or omission as to the number of shares to be transferred from KHD to MFC, the parties to the Restructuring 
Agreement have agreed to use their best efforts to rectify such error or omission with the issuance of additional shares of preferred stock.  
          
    Corporate Jurisdiction   Number and Class of Shares 
Name of Company   of the Company   to be Transferred from 
to be Transferred   to be Transferred   KHD to MFC 
           
Cathay Merchant Group, Inc.    U.S.A.   1,486,100 common shares 
           
CVD Financial Corporation    British Virgin Islands   2,611,881 common shares 
         1,467,150 preferred shares 
           
DTA Holding AG (In Liquidation)    Germany   all shares held by KHD 
           
Ellsway Holdings Limited    Canada   10,097,441 common shares 
           
         10,097,342 preferred shares 
           
Lasernet Limited    Liberia   266,797 shares 
           
MFC Bancorp Ltd. (formerly  
Ballinger Holding Corporation)    

Canada 
  

1 common share 

           
New Image Investment Company  
Limited    

U.S.A 
  

7,640,960 common shares 

           
Newfoundland and Labrador  
Corporation Limited    

Canada 
  

all shares held by KHD 

           
Trimble Resources Corporation    Turks and Caicos Islands   all shares held by KHD 
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SCHEDULE B  

TRANSFERS FROM MFC TO KHD  

In the event of a good faith error or omission as to the number of shares to be transferred from MFC to KHD, the parties to the Restructuring 
Agreement have agreed to use their best efforts to rectify such error or omission with the issuance of additional shares of preferred stock.  

   

 

          
    Corporate Jurisdiction   Number and Class of Shares 
Name of Company   of the Company   to be Transferred from 
to be Transferred   to be Transferred   MFC to KHD 
           
MFC Industrial Holdings AG    Germany   6,015,985 common shares 
           
Sasamat Capital Corporation    Canada   2,671,767 common shares 
           
Tianjin Humboldt Wedag  
Liyuan Machinery & Technology Ltd.    

China 
  

70% of MFC’s Holdings 

           
MFC & KHD International Industries  
Limited    

Samoa 
  

all shares held by MFC 





   

   

EXHIBIT 4.39 

SHARE EXCHANGE AGREEMENT  

THIS AGREEMENT made December 29, 2005  

BETWEEN:  

MASS FINANCIAL CORP. , a company incorporated under the laws of Barbados  

(the “Company”)  

AND:  

KHD HUMBOLDT WEDAG INTERNATIONAL LTD , a corporation continued under the laws of British Columbia  

(the “Shareholder”)  

WHEREAS:  

NOW THEREFORE THIS AGREEMENT WITNESSES that for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are 
acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:  

The parties agree to take all necessary steps to:  

A.   The authorized capital of the Company consists of an unlimited number of shares of one class designated as common shares (the 
“Common Shares” ); 

  

B.   There are eleven (11) Common Shares in the capital of the Company issued to the Shareholder; and 
  

C.   The Company and the Shareholder wish to reorganize the capital of the Company under the provisions of the Companies Act (Barbados) 
and the Income Tax Act (Canada); 

1.   Amendment to Articles 

  (a)   increase the authorized capital of the Company by creating a series of a new class of preferred shares without par value (the 
“Series A Preferred Shares”) with special rights and restrictions substantially similar to the special rights and restrictions set out in 
Schedule A of this Agreement and by creating a new class of common shares without par value (the “New Common Shares” ); and 

  

  (b)   exchange the eleven (11) Common Shares held by the Shareholder for one (1) Series A Preferred Share and one (1) New Common 
Share (the “Exchange”). 
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If:  

then  

2.   Estimated Value of Shares 
  

2.1   The Company will: 

  (a)   determine the best estimate of the fair market value of the issued Common Shares immediately prior to the Exchange (the 
“Estimated Value of the Common Shares”), such determination to be made in consultation with an independent valuator, having 
regard to the principles of business valuation as endorsed by the Association of Business Valuators, within 90 days of the 
Exchange; and 

  

  (b)   set the initial redemption amount of the Series A Preferred Shares equal to the Estimated Value of the Common Shares less $100. 

2.2   The Company may from time to time amend the Estimated Value of the Common Shares based on the results of appraisals and other 
information subsequently made available provided, however, that subject to paragraph 3, any determination of value by such independent 
valuator will be final and binding on the Company and the Shareholder. 

  

2.3   The New Common Shares issued by the Company to KHD on the Exchange will have a nominal fair market value of $100. 

3.   Adjustment 

  (a)   the Minister of National Revenue or any other competent authority at any time questions or proposes to issue or issues any 
assessment or assessments that would impose or imposes any liability for tax of any nature or kind on any of the parties or on any 
other person on the basis that the fair market value of the issued Common Shares immediately prior to the Exchange is greater or 
less than the Estimated Value of the Common Shares; and 

  

  (b)   the Company and the Shareholder agree or a competent tribunal finally adjudges that the fair market value of the issued Common 
Shares immediately prior to the Exchange is a greater or lesser amount (the “Adjusted Value of the Common Shares”) than the 
Estimated Value of the Common Shares; 

  (c)   the initial redemption amount in respect of each Series A Preferred Share in the capital of the Company, as that term is defined by 
reference to the articles of the Company and this Agreement, will be determined by reference to the Adjusted Value of the Common 
Shares to the exclusion of the Estimated Value of the Common Shares; and 

  

  (d)   the Company and the Shareholder will do all such things and perform all such acts as may be necessary to revise the initial 
redemption amount accordingly. 
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The date of receipt of any such notice shall be deemed to be the date of delivery thereof or, in the case of notice sent by telecopy, the date 
of successful transmission thereof (unless transmission is received after normal business hours, in which case the date of receipt shall be 
deemed to be the next business day).  

4.   Agreement to Vote 
  

    The Shareholder agrees that it will vote its shares so as to enable the Company to alter its articles in the manner set out in this Agreement. 
  

5.   Subsequent Shareholders 
  

    The Company agrees that in the event any person subscribes for Series A Preferred Shares in the capital of the Company at any time in 
the future, the Company will cause such person to agree in writing to be bound by the terms and conditions of paragraph 3 of this 
Agreement and to consent to and do any and all acts or things which may be necessary to give effect to the terms thereof. 

  

6.   Notices 
  

    All notices and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be delivered by hand to the parties at the following 
addresses or sent by telecopy at the following telecopier numbers or at such other addresses or telecopier numbers as shall be specified by 
the parties by like notice: 

  (a)   if to the Shareholder: 
      
     Unit 803, 8/F, Dina House, Ruttonjee Centre 
     11 Duddell Street, Central 
     Hong Kong 
       
     Attention: Michael J. Smith 
     Fax: 852.2537.3689 

  (b)   if to the Company: 
      
     Palm Court 
     28 Pine Road 
     Belleville, St. Michael 
     Barbados 
       
     Attention: Michael J. Smith 
     Fax: 246.429.5143 
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IN WITNESS THEREOF the parties have entered into this Agreement as of the date and year first above written.  

MASS FINANCIAL CORP.  

KHD HUMBOLDT WEDAG INTERNATIONAL LTD  

7.   Applicable Law 
  

    This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the Province of British Columbia and the federal 
laws of Canada applicable therein and shall be treated in all respects as a British Columbia contract. 

  

8.   Currency 
  

    All sums of money which are referred to in this Agreement are expressed in lawful money of the United States of America unless 
otherwise stated. 

  

9.   Binding Effect and Assignment 
  

    This Agreement and all the provisions hereof shall be binding upon and enure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective 
successors and permitted assigns. Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights hereunder shall be assigned by any of the parties hereto 
without the prior written consent of the other party hereto. 

  

10.   Time of Essence 
  

    Time shall be of the essence of this Agreement. 
  

11.   Counterparts 
  

    This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, and each signed copy sent by electronic 
facsimile transmission shall be deemed to be an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. 

  

12.   Further Assurances 
  

    Each party shall make, do and execute, or cause to be made, done and executed all such further acts, deeds, agreements, transfers, 
assurances, instruments or documents as may be reasonably required in order to implement this Agreement. 

      
Per:   /s/ Michael J. Smith 
     Authorized Signatory 

      
Per:   /s/ Michael J. Smith 
     Authorized Signatory 



   

   

SCHEDULE A  

SPECIAL RIGHTS AND RESTRICTIONS  
ATTACHED TO SERIES A PREFERRED SHARES  

The Series A Preferred Shares shall have attached to them the following special rights and restrictions:  

For the purposes of this Schedule, the following terms shall have the following meanings:  

1.   DEFINITIONS 

1.1   “  Common Shareholders ”  means the registered holders of the Old Common Shares or the New Common Shares, as applicable; 
  

1.2   “  Company ”  means Mass Financial Corp.; 
  

1.3   “  Constating Documents ”  means the Articles of Continuance, as amended; 
  

1.4   “ Cumulative Redemption Amount ” in respect of a Preferred Share means the aggregate of the Redemption Amount plus the amount 
of any dividends payable on the Preferred Share under section 6.8 of this Schedule; 

  

1.5   “ Initial Redemption Amount ” in respect of a Preferred Share means the amount equal to the quotient contained by dividing (i) the fair 
market value of the Old Common Shares, at the time the Old Common Shares were exchanged for the Preferred Shares and the New 
Common Shares, less $100, by (ii) the number of Preferred Shares issued at the time the Old Common Shares were exchanged for the 
Preferred Shares and the New Common Shares; 

  

1.6   “ New Common Shares ” means the class of common shares authorized by the Constating Documents, which, together with the 
Preferred Shares, were issued in exchange for the Old Common Shares; 

  

1.7   “ Old Common Shares ” means the class of common shares authorized by the Constating Documents, which were issued by the 
Company and outstanding as of December 1, 2005 and which were exchanged for the Preferred Shares and the New Common Shares; 

  

1.8   “  Preferred Shareholders ”  means the registered holders of the Preferred Shares; 
  

1.9   “ Preferred Shares ” means the class of Series A preferred shares issued by the Company, together with the New Common Shares, in 
exchange for the Old Common Shares; 

  

1.10   “ Redemption Amount ” means the redemption amount of each Preferred Share as calculated in accordance with section 5.4 of this 
Schedule; 
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1.11   “ Redemption ” means the repurchase by the Company, at the direction of the Company, of all or any of the then outstanding and issued 
Preferred Shares from time to time as provided for by section 5 of this Schedule; 

  

1.12   “  Redemption Notice ”  has the meaning set out in section 5.1 of this Schedule; 
  

1.13   “  Redemption Priority Special Dividend ”  has the meaning set out in section 5.5(a) of this Schedule; 
  

1.14   “ Retraction ” means the repurchase by the Company, at the direction of a Preferred Shareholder, of all or any of the then outstanding 
and issued Preferred Shares held by such Preferred Shareholder from time to time as provided for by section 6 of this Schedule; 

  

1.15   “  Retraction Notice ”  has the meaning set out in section 6.1 of this Schedule; 
  

1.16   “  Retraction Priority Special Dividend ”  has the meaning set out in section 6.4(a) of this Schedule; 
  

1.17   “  Sale Priority Special Dividend ”  has the meaning set out in section 7.1(a) of this Schedule; and 
  

1.18   “ Surplus Entitlement ” has the meaning set out in the Regulation 5905(10) to the Income Tax Act , 1985 R.S.C. c. 1 (5 th Supplement) 
(as amended). 

  

2.   RANKING OF PREFERRED SHARES 
  

2.1   In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, whether voluntary or involuntary, or any other distribution of 
the assets of the Company among its shareholders for the purpose of winding up its affairs, the Preferred Shareholders shall be entitled to 
receive in respect of each Preferred Share, in preference and priority over the New Common Shares, an amount equal to the Cumulative 
Redemption Amount and no more. 

  

2.2   No class of shares may be created or issued ranking as to capital or dividends prior to or on parity with the Preferred Shares without the 
prior approval of all of the Preferred Shareholders given in accordance with applicable law by resolution passed by not less than a 
majority of the votes cast on such resolution by the Preferred Shareholders represented in person or proxy at a meeting of the Preferred 
Shareholders duly called and held at which at least 10% of the outstanding and issued Preferred Shares at that time are present or 
represented by proxy. 

  

3.   NO VOTING 
  

3.1   The Preferred Shareholders are not entitled to receive notice of, to attend or to vote at any meeting of the Common Shareholders of the 
Company. 
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4.   DIVIDENDS 
  

4.1   Subject to the Constating Documents, as amended, the Company’s by-laws and any applicable restrictions imposed by law, the Preferred 
Shares shall be entitled to dividends as provided for in this Schedule. 

  

4.2   No dividends shall at any time be declared or paid or set apart for payment on the New Commons Shares if: 

  (a)   the payment of such dividend would reduce the value of the net assets of the Company to less than the aggregate Cumulative 
Redemption Amount of all of the issued and outstanding Preferred Shares from time to time; 

  

  (b)   the Company is in arrears on any outstanding Cumulative Redemption Amount for any Redemption or Retraction of any of its 
issued Preferred Shares; 

  

  (c)   the Company is in arrears on any outstanding Redemption Priority Special Dividend, Retraction Priority Special Dividend, or Sale 
Priority Special Dividend; or 

  

  (d)   the Company is in default of the obligations imposed under section 6 of this Schedule. 

5.   REDEMPTION 
  

5.1   Subject to the Constating Documents, as amended, the Company’s by-laws and any applicable restrictions imposed by law, the Company 
may, at its option and at any time, redeem all or any number of the outstanding and issued Preferred Shares on payment of the 
Redemption Amount for each Preferred Share to be redeemed; provided, however, that not less than 21 days’ notice in writing (the 
“Redemption Notice”) of such Redemption is given to the Preferred Shareholders specifying a date and place or places of Redemption 
unless the Preferred Shareholders waive the notice required to be given under this section, whether given before or after the Redemption, 
which waiver will be deemed to cure any default in giving such notice. If notice of any Redemption is given by the Company and an 
amount sufficient to redeem the Preferred Shares subject to the Redemption Notice is deposited with any trust company or chartered bank 
as specified in any notice given, on or before the date fixed for Redemption, such Preferred Shareholders will thereafter have no rights 
against the Company in respect of such Preferred Shares except upon the surrender of certificates for such redeemed Preferred Shares to 
receive payment for them out of the monies so deposited. 

  

5.2   If the Company does not redeem all of the outstanding and issued Preferred Shares, the Preferred Shares to be redeemed may be selected 
in such manner as the directors of the Company determine and need not be selected either in proportion to the number of Preferred Shares 
registered in the name of each Preferred Shareholder or from every or any particular Preferred Shareholder. 
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Redemption Amount =  

     Initial Redemption Amount X (1.04) (number of months Preferred Shares have been outstanding/12)  

5.3   If the Company redeems only part of the Preferred Shares represented by any one Preferred Share certificate, then a new certificate 
representing the Preferred Shares that are not redeemed shall be issued at the expense of the Company. 

  

5.4   The Redemption Amount shall be initially fixed as the Initial Redemption Amount. The Redemption Amount will be adjusted over time 
by reference to the following formula: 

5.5   Upon receiving a Redemption Notice from the Company: 

  (a)   each Preferred Shareholder has the right to give notice, and shall be deemed to have given notice, to the Company requiring each 
Preferred Share, whether or not subject to the Redemption Notice, held by that Preferred Shareholder to become entitled to a 
priority special dividend in an amount equal to the Cumulative Redemption Amount (the “Redemption Priority Special Dividend”); 
and 

  

  (b)   the Company shall not declare or pay a dividend on any other class of shares in its capital stock until such time as the Company has 
paid the Redemption Priority Special Dividend to the Preferred Shareholder. 

5.6   The notice deemed to have been given by each Preferred Shareholder in accordance with section 5.5(a) of this Schedule shall be deemed 
to be withdrawn after the Redemption set out in the Redemption Notice is completed. 

  

5.7   For greater certainty, payment of the Priority Special Dividend by the Company will reduce the Cumulative Redemption Amount payable 
by the Company on each Preferred Share. 

  

5.8   For greater certainty, the deemed notice and Redemption Priority Special Dividend referred to in section 5.5(a) of this Schedule are 
intended to ensure that the Surplus Entitlement of a Preferred Share held immediately prior to a Redemption in accordance with section 5 
of this Schedule reflects the Surplus Entitlement of the Old Common Share for which the Preferred Share was, together with any New 
Common Share(s), exchanged. 

  

6.   RETRACTION 
  

6.1   Beginning in the fourth year after the date of issuance of the Preferred Shares, each Preferred Shareholder shall be able to cause a 
redemption of the Preferred Shares at the rate of up to 1/15 per year of the initial number of Preferred Shares issued to such Preferred 
Shareholder. 

  

6.2   Subject to section 6.1 of this Schedule, the Company shall, upon receiving notice from a Preferred Shareholder (the “Retraction Notice”), 
redeem the number of Preferred Shares registered in the name of the Preferred Shareholder as stated in the Retraction Notice by paying to 
such Preferred Shareholder, for each Preferred Share to be redeemed, the 
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 Redemption Amount; provided, however, that not less than 21 days’ notice in writing of such Retraction must be given to the Company by 
 
 the Preferred Shareholder seeking to have its Preferred Shares redeemed, such notice to be delivered by mailing to the registered office of  
 the Company a notice specifying the number of Preferred Shares to be redeemed and surrendering the relevant share certificates for  
 cancellation unless the Company waives the notice required to be given under this section, whether given before or after the Retraction,  
 which waiver will be deemed to cure any default in giving such notice.  

6.3   Notwithstanding anything in this Schedule to the contrary, any Retraction of Preferred Shares by the Company upon receipt of a 
Retraction Notice from any Preferred Shareholder need not be made on a pro rata basis among every or any particular Preferred 
Shareholder. 

6.4   Upon the Company receiving a Retraction Notice from a Preferred Shareholder: 

   (a)   each such Preferred Shareholder has the right to give notice, and shall be deemed to have given notice, to the Company requiring 
each Preferred Share, whether or not subject to the Retraction Notice, held by that Preferred Shareholder to become entitled to a 
priority special dividend in an amount equal to the Cumulative Redemption Amount (the “Retraction Priority Special Dividend”); 
and 

  

   (b)   the Company shall not declare or pay a dividend on any other class of shares in its capital stock until such time as the Company has 
paid the Retraction Priority Special Dividend to the Preferred Shareholder. 

6.5   The notice deemed to have been given by each Preferred Shareholder in accordance with section 6.4(a) of this Schedule shall be deemed 
to be withdrawn after the Retraction set out in the Retraction Notice is completed. 

6.6   For greater certainty, payment of the Retraction Priority Special Dividend by the Company will reduce the Cumulative Redemption 
Amount payable by the Company on each Preferred Share. 

6.7   For greater certainty, the deemed notice and Retraction Priority Special Dividend referred to in section 6.4(a) of this Schedule are intended 
to ensure that the Surplus Entitlement of a Preferred Share held immediately prior to a Retraction in accordance with section 6 of this 
Schedule reflects the Surplus Entitlement of the Old Common Share for which the Preferred Share was, together with any New Common 
Share(s), exchanged. 

6.8   If a Preferred Shareholder exercises the right of Retraction with respect to its Preferred Shares under section 6.1 of this Schedule and the 
Company does not redeem such Preferred Shares within 21 days after receiving the Retraction Notice, the Company shall pay to the 
Preferred Shareholder a dividend of 4% of the Redemption Amount for the Preferred Shares, subject to the Retraction Notice, for each 
30 day period (on a pro-rata basis) during which such Preferred Shares are not redeemed. 
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7.      SALE OR TRANSFER OF PREFERRED SHARES  

 

7.1   Upon the Company receiving notice of a proposed transfer or sale (the “Notice of Sale” ) by a Preferred Shareholder: 

   (a)   each such Preferred Shareholder has the right to give notice, and shall be deemed to have given notice, to the Company requiring 
each Preferred Share, whether or not subject to such transfer or sale, held by that Preferred Shareholder to become entitled to a 
priority special dividend in an amount equal to the Cumulative Redemption Amount (the “Sale Priority Special Dividend”); and 

  

   (b)   the Company shall not declare or pay a dividend on any other class of shares in its capital stock until such time as the Company has 
paid the Sale Priority Special Dividend to the Preferred Shareholder. 

7.2   The notice deemed to have been given by each Preferred Shareholder in accordance with section 7.1(a) of this Schedule shall be deemed 
to be withdrawn after the transfer or sale set out in the Notice of Sale is completed. 

7.3   For greater certainty, payment of the Sale Priority Special Dividend by the Company will reduce the Cumulative Redemption Amount 
payable by the Company on each Preferred Share. 

7.4   For greater certainty, the deemed notice and Sale Priority Special Dividend referred to in section 7.1(a) of this Schedule are intended to 
ensure that the Surplus Entitlement of a Preferred Share held immediately prior to a Sale in accordance with section 7 of this Schedule 
reflects the Surplus Entitlement of the Old Common Share for which the Preferred Share was, together with any New Common Share(s), 
exchanged. 





   

EXHIBIT 4.40 

MANAGEMENT SERVICES AGREEMENT  

THIS AGREEMENT is dated for reference the 1st day of February, 2006  

BETWEEN:  

KHD HUMBOLDT WEDAG INTERNATIONAL LTD. , a corporation continued under the laws of British Columbia  

(“KHD”)  

AND:  

MASS FINANCIAL CORP. , a company continued under the laws of Barbados  

(“Mass”)  

WHEREAS:  

A. Pursuant to a Restructuring Agreement, dated December 29, 2005 (the “Restructuring Agreement”), between KHD and Mass, KHD agreed 
to distribute certain assets of its financial services business segment (the “Financial Services Business”) to its shareholders;  

B. Pursuant to the Restructuring Agreement, KHD agreed to transfer to Mass its interests in certain subsidiaries, which are involved or related 
to the Financial Services Business and not complimentary to industrial and engineering services business segment (the “Industrial and 
Engineering Services Business”), except for MFC Merchant Bank S.A. (and its Swiss affiliates) and its passive royalty interest in an iron ore 
mine (the “Excluded Assets”);  

C. Mass, by and through its officers, employees, agents, representatives and affiliates, has expertise in the areas of corporate management, 
finance, investment, acquisitions and other matters related to the operation of the Excluded Assets;  

D. KHD wishes Mass to perform certain management services for KHD in connection with the Excluded Assets and KHD wishes to 
compensate Mass for the performance of such management services; and  

E. KHD and Mass wish to enter into this Agreement setting out the terms and conditions on which the management services will be carried out; 

NOW THEREFORE THIS AGREEMENT WITNESSES THAT in consideration of the premises and the respective covenants and 
agreements herein contained, the parties hereto covenant and agree as follows:  
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ARTICLE 1  
INTERPRETATION  

1.1  Definitions  

In this Agreement, unless the subject matter or context is inconsistent therewith:  

    (a)   “Bank Assets”  has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 6.1 of this Agreement; 
  

    (b)   “Bank Services” means the management services to be provided by Mass to KHD in connection with the operation of MFC Merchant 
Bank, as detailed in Schedule A attached hereto; 

  

    (c)   “Bank Shares”  has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 6.1 of this Agreement; 
  

    (d)   “Business Day”  means a day other than a Saturday, Sunday or a civic or statutory holiday in Vancouver, British Columbia; 
  

    (e)   “Cade”  means Cade Struktur Corporation, a corporation existing under the laws of Yukon; 
  

    (f)   “Confidential Information” includes without limitation any business, technical or other information disclosed by a party and relating to 
such party’s operations, plans, strategy, finances, development, know-how, trade secrets or employees, and which, at the time of 
disclosure, is designated as confidential, is disclosed in circumstances of confidence, or would be understood by the receiving party, 
exercising reasonable business judgment, to be confidential; 

  

    (g)   “Financial Services Business”  has the meaning ascribed thereto in Recital A of this Agreement; 
  

    (h)   “ Industrial and Engineering Services Business”  has the meaning ascribed thereto in Recital B of this Agreement; 
  

    (i)   “MFC Merchant Bank”  means MFC Merchant Bank SA, an entity existing under the laws of Switzerland; 
  

    (j)   “Notice”  has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 6.1 of this Agreement; 
  

    (k)   “Offer Terms”  has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 6.1 of this Agreement; 
  

    (l)   “Offered Price”  has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 6.1 of this Agreement; 
  

    (m)   “Offeror”  has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 6.1 of this Agreement; 
  

    (n)   “Restructuring Agreement”  has the meaning ascribed thereto in Recital A of this Agreement; 



   

- 3 -  

   (o)   “Right of First Refusal”  has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 6.1 of this Agreement; 
  

   (p)   “Royalty Services” means the management services to be provided by Mass to KHD in connection with the review, supervision and 
monitoring of the royalty provided to Cade in connection with the Wabush Mine; 

  

   (q)   “Services”  includes the Bank Services and the Royalty Services; 
  

   (r)   “Standard”  means the higher of: 

  (i)   the standard implied or imposed by law or in equity, 
  

  (ii)   the standard in the applicable industry or discipline, 
  

  (iii)   the standard prescribed by the provisions of or incorporated in this Agreement, and 
  

  (iv)   the standard that may be agreed to by KHD and Mass from time to time. 

   (s)   “Term” has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 7.1 of this Agreement; and 
  

   (t)   “Wabush Mine” means the mine that is operated by Cliffs Mining Company Inc. (or its assignee or successor) on the lands governed 
by the Amendment and Consolidation of Mining Leases, dated September 2, 1959, and the Knoll Lake Mining Lease, dated May 17, 
1962, as each has been or may be amended from time to time (and all related agreements), between Cade (the assignee or successor to 
Canadian Javelin Limited) and Wabush Iron Co. Limited, Dofasco Inc. and Stelco Inc. (the assignee or successor to Wabush Iron Co. 
Limited). 

1.2   Currency 
  

    All sums of money which are referred to in this Agreement are expressed in lawful money of Canada unless otherwise stated. 
  

1.3   Interpretation Not Affected by Headings, etc. 
  

    The division of this Agreement into articles, sections and other portions and the insertion of headings are for convenience of reference 
only and shall not affect the construction or interpretation of this Agreement. 

  

1.4   Number, etc. 
  

    Unless the subject matter or context requires the contrary, words importing the singular number only shall include the plural and vice 
versa; words importing the use of any gender shall include all genders; and words importing persons shall include natural persons, firms, 
trusts, partnerships and corporations. 
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ARTICLE 2  
THE SERVICES  

1.5   Date for Any Action 
  

    In the event that any date on which any action is required to be taken hereunder by any of the parties hereto is not a Business Day, such 
action shall be required to be taken on the next succeeding day which is a Business Day. 

  

1.6   Entire Agreement 
  

    This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties hereto pertaining to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior 
agreements, understandings, negotiations, and discussions, whether oral or written, between the parties hereto with respect to the subject 
matter hereof. There are no representations, warranties, covenants or conditions with respect to the subject matter hereof except as 
contained herein. 

2.1   Engagement 
  

    Effective as of February 1, 2006, KHD hereby engages Mass to perform the Services for KHD and Mass hereby accepts such engagement 
and agrees to perform the Services for KHD, upon and subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement. 

  

2.2   Services 

  (a)   Mass shall provide the Bank Services and the Royalty Services to KHD in accordance with the provisions and stipulations of this 
Agreement. 

  

  (b)   Mass shall have the right to engage the services of third party contractors to perform some or all of the Services without the prior 
consent of KHD, provided that Mass causes such contractors to perform the Services in accordance with the terms and conditions of 
this Agreement. No subcontracting shall release Mass from its responsibility for its obligations under this Agreement. Mass shall be 
responsible for all payments to all such third party contractors. 

  

  (c)   Mass shall, for the benefit of KHD, provide the Services to the Standard and shall at all times comply with and perform to the 
Standard. 

  

  (d)   Except as otherwise specifically provided for herein, KHD shall provide all equipment, supplies and materials necessary in 
connection with providing and carrying out the Services. 

  

  (e)   Mass, while on KHD’s premises, shall (i) comply, and cause its respective representatives to comply with, the reasonable requests, 
standard rules and regulations of KHD regarding security, safety and health and personal and professional conduct generally 
applicable to such premises (and of which Mass 
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      has received prior notice) and (ii) otherwise conduct themselves in a businesslike manner. 
  

  (f)   Mass shall appoint individuals to perform the Services with suitable training and skills to perform the Services. 
  

  (g)   In the event KHD determines that a particular individual appointed by Mass to perform the Services is not conducting himself or 
herself in accordance with this Agreement, KHD may notify Mass of such conduct. Upon receipt of such notice, Mass shall promptly 
investigate the matter and take appropriate action which may include (i) removing the applicable person from the performance of the 
Services and providing KHD with prompt notice of such removal, and replacing the applicable person with a similarly qualified 
individual, or (ii) taking other appropriate disciplinary action to prevent a recurrence. In the event there are repeat violations of these 
provisions by a particular member of Mass, Mass shall promptly remove the individual from the performance of the Services. 

2.3   Reporting and Contract Administration 

  (a)   Mass shall provide KHD with reports regarding the performance of the Services at such intervals as KHD may reasonably request 
and such reports shall be in a form acceptable to KHD and shall contain such information and details as KHD may require from time 
to time. 

  

  (b)   The parties will participate in regularly scheduled review meetings, at mutually agreed to locations, or through teleconferences, as 
determined by the parties, to review the performance of the Services. 

  

  (c)   Each party shall designate one individual as a contract manager, who shall be that party’s primary point of contact for all questions 
and issues relating to this Agreement. Each such contract manager shall have overall responsibility for managing and coordinating 
performance of that party’s obligations under this Agreement and shall be authorized to act for and on behalf of that party with 
respect to all matters relating to this Agreement. Each party recognizes the benefits inherent in maintaining the continuity of contract 
management personnel under this Agreement and agrees to use reasonable commercial efforts to maintain its contract management 
personnel under this Agreement throughout the Term. 

2.4   Audit and Regulatory Requirements 
  

    Mass shall assist KHD in meeting its audit and regulatory requirements, as they relate to the Services, to enable KHD, government 
authorities and KHD’s auditors to comply with and satisfy any applicable regulatory requirements and to conduct appropriate audits. 

  

2.5   Compensation 

  (a)   In consideration of the provision of the Services, KHD shall pay Mass the compensation set out in Schedule B attached hereto. 
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ARTICLE 3  
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES  

   (b)   Except where approved by Mass, KHD shall be responsible for reimbursement for Mass’s reasonable disbursements, expenses, costs 
and overhead in connection with the provision of the Services. Mass shall keep proper accounts and records of all disbursements, 
expenses, costs, overhead and other expenditures made in connection with the Services and all invoices, receipts and vouchers 
relating thereto. All expenses in excess of $25,000 shall be pre-approved by KHD. 

2.6   Books and Records 
  

    Mass shall keep proper accounts and records of all expenditures made by it in connection with the performance of the Services and all 
invoices, receipts and vouchers relating thereto. 

  

2.7   Devotion to Agreement 
  

    During the term of this Agreement, Mass shall devote sufficient time, attention, and ability as is reasonably necessary for the proper 
performance of the Services. Nothing contained herein shall be deemed to require Mass to devote its exclusive time, attention and ability 
to the performance of the Services. During the term of this Agreement, Mass shall cause each of its agents assigned to performance of the 
Services to: 

   (a)   at all times perform the services faithfully, diligently and to the best of their abilities; and 
  

   (b)   devote such of its time, labour and attention as is necessary for the proper performance of the Services. 

3.1   Mutual Representations and Warranties 
  

    Each party represents and warrants to the other party as follows and acknowledges that the other party is relying upon such representations 
and warranties in connection with the matters contemplated by this Agreement: 

   (a)   it is duly incorporated and validly existing under the laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation and has the corporate power and 
authority to own or lease its property and assets and to carry on its business as now conducted by it; 

  

   (b)   the execution and delivery of this Agreement by it, including all matters contemplated hereby, have been authorized by all necessary 
corporate action and it has the corporate power and authority to enter into and perform its obligations under this Agreement; 

  

   (c)   it has duly executed and delivered this Agreement and this Agreement is a valid and binding agreement enforceable against it in 
accordance with its terms, subject 
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ARTICLE 4  
OTHER AGREEMENTS AND COVENANTS  

      to bankruptcy, insolvency and other laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and to general principles of equity; 
and 

  (d)   the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the completion of the transactions contemplated hereby do not now and will not: 

  (i)   conflict with, or result in a breach of, or create a state of facts which after notice or lapse of time or both results or may result in 
a breach of, any of the terms, conditions or provisions of its constating documents or the constating documents of any of its 
subsidiaries or any material agreement, instrument, licence, permit, undertaking, commitment or understanding to which it or 
any of its subsidiaries is a party or by which it is bound; or 

  

  (ii)   violate any provision of law or administrative regulation or any judicial or administrative award, judgment or decree applicable 
and known to it (after due inquiry), the breach of which would have a material adverse effect on it. 

3.2   Representations and Warranties of Mass 
  

    Mass hereby represents and warrants that it has the executive staff and expertise to provide the Services, and in consideration of the 
compensation payable to it pursuant to this Agreement, Mass shall carry out the Services with due diligence and care. 

4.1   Co-operation, Consents and Approvals 
  

    Each party shall, and shall cause its subsidiaries to, co-operate and use their respective reasonable commercial efforts to obtain all 
authorizations, waivers, exemptions, consents, orders and other approvals from domestic or foreign courts, governmental or regulatory 
agencies, boards, commissions or other authorities, shareholders and third parties as are necessary for the consummation of the 
transactions contemplated by this Agreement. 

  

4.2   Compliance With and Changes in Law 

   (a)   Each party will comply with all applicable laws, regulations and statutory requirements, and advise the other of changes in laws that 
concern the conduct of its business and affect performance of the Services. 

  

   (b)   KHD shall be responsible for promptly identifying and notifying Mass of any changes in law relating to any banking regulatory 
requirements applicable to MFC Merchant Bank that may relate to Mass’s delivery or KHD’s receipt of or use of the Services. The 
parties shall work together to identify the impact of such changes on how KHD receives and uses, and Mass delivers, the Services. 
KHD shall be responsible for any fines and penalties arising from any noncompliance 
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      by KHD or Mass with any such changes in law relating to the Services; provided, however, that Mass shall be responsible for any 
fines and penalties arising from any noncompliance by Mass to the extent KHD has notified Mass of a change in law and Mass failed 
to comply with such change in law even though it had a reasonable period of time after notification from KHD in which to comply 
with such change in law. 

4.3   Cooperation with Third Parties 
  

    Mass shall cooperate with any independent third party service providers of KHD; provided, however, that (i) such cooperation does not 
impact the Services or Mass’s ability to meet the Standard and (ii) Mass shall not be required to disclose any of its Confidential 
Information to such third party service provider unless such third party executes a confidentiality agreement and such thirty party’s use of 
such Confidential Information is solely for the benefit of KHD. 

4.4   Public Announcements 
  

    No news release or other public announcement concerning this Agreement shall be made by any party hereto without the prior consent of 
the other, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld; provided, however, that any party may without such consent make such 
disclosure as may be required by any stock exchange on which its securities are listed or by any securities legislation or any regulatory 
authority having jurisdiction over such party and, if such disclosure is required, the party making the disclosure shall use reasonable 
efforts to give prior oral or written notice to the other party and an opportunity to allow the other party to comment on the disclosure. 

  

4.5   Confidential Information 

   (a)   Mass and KHD each agree not to use any Confidential Information disclosed to it by the other party for its own use or for any 
purpose other than to fulfil their respective obligations related to this Agreement. Neither party will disclose or permit disclosure of 
any Confidential Information of the other party to third parties. Each party will ensure that the Confidential Information of the other 
party is disclosed only to the extent required to fulfil their respective obligations hereunder and only to: (i) those of its directors, 
officers, employees consultants or agents who need to have the information in order to fulfil their obligations in relation to this 
Agreement and (ii) who have executed written agreements obligating them to protect the Confidential Information of the disclosing 
party in a manner materially similar to the terms of this Section. Each party will exercise a standard of care to protect the secrecy of, 
and avoid the disclosure or unauthorized use of, the Confidential Information of the disclosing party that is not less than a reasonable 
standard of care. Each party will notify the other party in writing as soon as possible of any actual or suspected misuse, 
misappropriation or unauthorized disclosure of Confidential Information and the notifying party will take all reasonable steps to 
reduce or prevent such disclosure. 
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ARTICLE 5  
INDEMNITY  

  (b)   Each party shall return all Confidential Information of the other party in its possession or under its control immediately upon 
demand, except where retention of that Confidential Information is required by applicable law. 

4.6   Unauthorized Acts 
  

    Each party shall: (i) promptly notify the other party of any unauthorized possession, use or knowledge, or attempt thereof, of the other 
party’s Confidential Information by any person or entity that may become known to such party, including any incidents involving a breach 
of security and any incidents that might indicate or lead to a threat to, or weakness in, security; (ii) promptly furnish to the other party full 
details of the unauthorized possession, use or knowledge, or attempt thereof, and assist the other party in investigating or preventing the 
recurrence of any unauthorized possession, use or knowledge, or attempt thereof, of Confidential Information; (iii) cooperate with the 
other party in any litigation and investigation against third parties deemed necessary by the other party to protect its proprietary rights; and 
(iv) promptly use commercially reasonable efforts to prevent a recurrence of any such unauthorized possession, use or knowledge, or 
attempt thereof, of Confidential Information. 

  

4.7   Injunction 
  

    Each party recognizes that its disclosure or inappropriate use of Confidential Information of the other party may give rise to irreparable 
injury to such party and acknowledges that remedies other than injunctive relief may not be adequate. Accordingly, each party has the 
right to equitable and injunctive relief to prevent the unauthorized possession, use, disclosure or knowledge of any Confidential 
Information, as well as to such damages or other relief as is occasioned by such unauthorized possession, use, disclosure or knowledge. 

  

4.8   Personal Information 
  

    In the event the Services require the access to or use of personal data, each party shall be responsible for taking all necessary steps 
required by applicable law to ensure the protection of the privacy of such personal data to be accessed or used. In the event that applicable 
law requires registration with or consents of a governmental authority, KHD shall register, or cause such registration, with such 
governmental authority, or obtain such consents, unless applicable law otherwise requires. 

5.1   Indemnity by Mass 
  

    Mass hereby agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless KHD from and against any and all claims, demands, losses, liabilities, 
actions, lawsuits and other proceedings, judgments and awards, and costs and expenses (including reasonable legal fees on a solicitor and 
his own client full indemnity basis), arising directly or indirectly, in whole 
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or in part, out of the gross negligence or any wilful act or omission of Mass, or of any of its officers, directors, agents or employees, in 
connection with this Agreement or the Services.  

5.2   Indemnity by KHD 
  

    KHD hereby agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless Mass and its officers, directors and employees, from and against any and all 
claims, demands, losses, liabilities, actions, lawsuits and other proceedings, judgments and awards, and costs and expenses (including 
reasonable legal fees on a solicitor and his own client full indemnity basis), arising directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, out of 
obligations or liabilities incurred by Mass as agent for KHD or out of the gross negligence or any wilful act or omission of KHD in 
connection with this Agreement. 

  

5.3   Indemnification Procedures 
  

    If any third party claim is commenced against a party who is entitled to indemnification under this Agreement (an “Indemnified Party”), 
notice thereof shall be given to the other party (the “Indemnifying Party”) as promptly as practicable. If, after such notice, the 
Indemnifying Party shall acknowledge that this Section 5.3 applies with respect to such claim, then the Indemnifying Party shall be 
entitled, if it so elects, in a notice promptly delivered to the Indemnified Party, but in no event less than ten (10) days prior to the date on 
which a response to such claim is due, to immediately take control of the defense and investigation of such claim and to employ and 
engage attorneys reasonably acceptable to the Indemnified Party to handle and defend the same, at the Indemnifying Party’s sole cost and 
expense. Where conflicting interests so require, the Indemnified Party shall have separate counsel, at the Indemnifying Party’s expense. 
The Indemnified Party shall cooperate, at the cost of the Indemnifying Party, in all reasonable respects with the Indemnifying Party and its 
attorneys in the investigation, trial and defense of such claim and any appeal arising therefrom; provided, however, that the Indemnified 
Party may, at its own cost and expense, participate, through its attorneys or otherwise, in such investigation, trial and defense of such 
claim and any appeal arising therefrom. No settlement of a claim pursuant to this Section 5.3 that involves a remedy other than the 
payment of money by the Indemnifying Party shall be entered into without the consent of the Indemnified Party, which consent shall not 
be unreasonably withheld. After notice by the Indemnifying Party to the Indemnified Party of its election to assume full control of the 
defense of any such claim, the Indemnifying Party shall not be liable to the Indemnified Party for any legal expenses incurred thereafter by 
such Indemnified Party in connection with the defense of that claim. If the Indemnifying Party does not assume full control over the 
defense of a claim subject to such defense as provided in this Section 5.3, the Indemnifying Party may participate in such defense, at its 
sole cost and expense, and the Indemnified Party shall have the right to defend the claim in such manner as it may deem appropriate, at the 
cost and expense of the Indemnifying Party. 
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ARTICLE 6  
RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL  

6.1   If KHD receives a bona fide offer from a third party (the “Offeror”) to purchase all or substantially all of the assets (the “Bank Assets”) of 
MFC Merchant Bank or to purchase 50% or more of the outstanding shares (the “Bank Shares”) of MFC Merchant Bank, KHD shall grant 
to Mass a right of first refusal with respect to the Bank Assets or the Bank Shares, as the case may be, on the terms and conditions as 
follows (the “Right of First Refusal” ): 

   (a)   KHD shall: 

    (i)   deliver to Mass a written notice (the “Notice”) stating its intention to sell or otherwise transfer the Bank Assets or the Bank 
Shares (as the case may be), the name of the Offeror, a list of the assets to be transferred to the Offeror or the class and number 
of shares to be transferred to the Offeror, the cash price or other consideration for which KHD proposes to transfer the Bank 
Assets or the Bank Shares (the “Offered Price”) and the material terms and conditions of the proposed transfer (the “Offer 
Terms”); and 

  

    (ii)   offer the Bank Assets or Bank Shares at the Offered Price and on the Offer Terms to Mass or its assignee or grant to Mass the 
right to assist in the sale or transfer of the Bank Assets or Bank Shares, as the case may be. 

   (b)   At any time within ten (10) Business Days after receipt of the Notice, Mass and/or its assignee(s) may: 

    (i)   by giving written notice to KHD, elect to purchase all, but not less than all, of the Bank Assets or Bank Shares proposed to be 
transferred to the Offeror at the purchase price and on the terms determined in accordance with this Section; or 

  

    (ii)   by giving written notice to KHD, elect to assist with the sale of the Bank Assets or the Bank Shares, and as consideration for 
such assistance earn five per cent (5%) of the Offered Price as commission. 

   (c)   The purchase price (the “Purchase Price”) for the Bank Assets or the Bank Shares purchased by Mass or its assignee under this 
Section shall be the Offered Price, and the terms and conditions of the transfer shall be identical in all material respects to the Offer 
Terms. If the Offered Price includes consideration other than cash, the cash equivalent value of the non-cash consideration shall be 
determined by the Board of Directors of Mass in good faith. 

  

   (d)   Payment of the Purchase Price shall be made, at the option of Mass or its assignee, in cash, by cancellation of all or a portion of any 
outstanding indebtedness, or by any combination thereof, in any case in accordance with the Offer Terms, within twenty 
(20) Business Days after delivery of the written notice by KHD as set forth in this Section, provided that such period shall be 
extended as 
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ARTICLE 7  
TERM, RENEWAL, TERMINATION AND AMENDMENT  

7.1  Term, Renewal and Termination  

      necessary to seek and obtain all necessary approvals of any governmental or regulatory authorities. 

  (e)   If all of the Bank Assets or the Bank Shares proposed in the Notice to be transferred to the Offeror are not purchased by Mass and/or 
its assignee as provided in this Section, then subject to Subsection 6.1(b)(ii), KHD may sell or otherwise transfer such Bank Assets or 
Bank Shares to the Offeror at the Offered Price or at a higher price and on the Offer Terms, provided that such sale or other transfer 
is consummated within thirty (30) Business Days after the date of the Notice, or such longer period as is required to seek and obtain 
all necessary approvals of any governmental or regulatory authorities and provided further that any such sale or other transfer is 
affected in accordance with all applicable laws. If the Bank Assets or the Bank Shares are not transferred to the Offeror within such 
period, a new Notice shall be given to Mass, and Mass and/or its assignee shall again be offered the Right of First Refusal before any 
Bank Assets or Bank Shares may be sold or otherwise transferred by KHD. 

  

  (f)   Completion of any transfer of the Bank Assets and Bank Shares pursuant to Section 6.1(d) or 6.1(e) shall be subject to receipt of the 
necessary approvals from the applicable banking regulatory authorities. 

  (a)   The initial term of this Agreement shall commence on the date of this Agreement and, subject to earlier termination or renewal as 
provided in this Agreement, shall terminate on the third anniversary of the date of this Agreement (the “ Initial Term”). 

  

  (b)   Upon expiration of the Initial Term, this Agreement shall automatically renew for a one (1) year renewal period (each, a “Renewal 
Term”). 

  

  (c)   Unless this Agreement is earlier terminated, KHD shall notify Mass at least three (3) months prior to the expiry of the Initial Term or, 
if in a Renewal Term, three (3) months prior to the expiry of any such Renewal Term of KHD’s desire not to renew this Agreement, 
otherwise this Agreement shall be automatically renewed on and subject to the same conditions set forth herein. 

  

  (d)   This Agreement may be terminated at any time by agreement in writing executed by KHD and Mass. 
  

  (e)   In the event of any material breach or default by Mass in regard to the Services, KHD may terminate this Agreement, provided that 
KHD shall give notice to Mass specifying the material breach or default, and a reasonable period to cure and remedy the default. 
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  (f)   In the event of any material breach or default of this Agreement by KHD, Mass may terminate this Agreement, provided that Mass 
shall give notice to KHD specifying the material breach or default, and a reasonable period to cure and remedy the default. 

  

  (g)   In the event of the termination of this Agreement prior to the expiry of the Initial Term or a Renewal Term, as applicable, the 
compensation payable to Mass shall be pro-rated to the end of the month of the notice period, and no compensation will be payable 
from and after the end of the notice period. 

  

  (h)   In the event that either KHD or Mass: (i) shall admit in writing its inability to, or be generally unable to, pay its debts as such debts 
become due; or (ii) shall (1) apply for or consent to the appointment of, or the taking of possession by, a receiver, custodian, trustee, 
examiner or liquidator of itself or of all or a substantial part of its property or assets, (2) make a general assignment for the benefit of 
its creditors, (3) file a petition seeking to take advantage of any other law relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, 
liquidation, dissolution, arrangement or winding-up, or composition or readjustment of debts, (4) fail to controvert in a timely and 
appropriate manner, or acquiesce in writing to, any petition filed against it in an involuntary case under any bankruptcy or insolvency 
legislation, or (5) take any corporate action for the purpose of effecting any of the foregoing; then the other party may, by giving 
notice thereof to such party, terminate this Agreement effective as of the date specified in such termination notice. 

  

  (i)   Upon termination of this Agreement, Mass shall upon receipt of all sums due and owing, promptly deliver the following in 
accordance with the directions of KHD: 

    (i)   a final accounting, reflecting the balance of expenses incurred on behalf of KHD as of the date of termination; and 
  

    (ii)   all documents pertaining to KHD or this Agreement, including but not limited to, all books of account, correspondence and 
contracts, provided that Mass shall be entitled thereafter to inspect, examine and copy all of the documents which it delivers in 
accordance with this provision at all reasonable times upon three (3) days’  notice to KHD. 

7.2   Effect of Termination 
  

    In the event of any termination of this Agreement, the provisions hereof will become void and no party will have any liability to any other 
party in respect of this Agreement, except in respect of any breach of this Agreement, which occurred on or before the termination of this 
Agreement. 

  

7.3   Force Majeure 
  

    Mass shall not be responsible or liable in any way for any delays in or suspension of performance of its obligations under this Agreement 
caused by: (i) acts of God; (ii) 
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ARTICLE 8  
GENERAL PROVISIONS  

     restrictions, regulations or orders of any governmental authority or agency or subdivision thereof or delays caused by such authorities or  
 agencies; (iii) strikes or labour disputes; (iv) fires or other loss of facilities; (v) utility, communication or transportation delays or failures  
 that materially affects Mass’s ability to deliver the Services; (vi) acts of war (whether declared or undeclared), terrorism, sabotage or the  
 like; or (vii) any other causes beyond the reasonable control, and not the result of the fault or neglect, of Mass that materially affects  
 Mass’s ability to deliver the Services. 

7.4   Amendment 
  

    Subject as hereinafter provided, this Agreement may, at any time and from time to time, be amended by written agreement of KHD and 
Mass (or, in the case of a waiver, by written instrument of the party giving the waiver) without, subject to applicable law, notice to or 
authorization on the part of the shareholders of KHD or Mass. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, any such amendment may: 

     (a)   change the time for performance of any of the obligations or acts of the parties hereto; 
  

     (b)   waive any inaccuracies or modify any representation or warranty contained herein or in any document to be delivered pursuant hereto; 
or 

  

     (c)   waive compliance with or modify any of the covenants herein contained or waive or modify performance of any of the obligations of 
the parties hereto. 

     Notwithstanding the foregoing, the terms of this Agreement shall not be amended in a manner prejudicial to KHD or Mass without the  
 approval of KHD or Mass, as the case may be. 

8.1   Assignment 
  

    Mass shall not assign this Agreement or any portion of this Agreement either voluntarily, involuntarily or by operation of law, without 
KHD’s prior written approval. 

  

8.2   Notices 
  

    All notices and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be delivered by hand to the parties at the following addresses 
or sent by telecopy at the following telecopier numbers or at such other addresses or telecopier numbers as shall be specified by the parties 
by like notice: 
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Unit 803  
8/F Dina House  
Ruttonjee Centre  
11 Duddell Street, Central  
Hong Kong SAR  
China  

Attention: Jim Busche  
Telecopy: 852-2537-3689  

Unit 803  
8/F Dina House  
Ruttonjee Centre  
11 Duddell Street, Central  
Hong Kong SAR  
China  

Attention: Michael J. Smith  
Telecopy: 852-2537-3689  

  (a)   if to KHD: 

  (b)   if to Mass: 

    The date of receipt of any such notice shall be deemed to be the date of delivery thereof or, in the case of notice sent by telecopy, the date 
of successful transmission thereof (unless transmission is received after normal business hours, in which case the date of receipt shall be 
deemed to be the next Business Day). 

  

8.3   Survival of Representations, Warranties and Covenants 
  

    The respective representations, warranties and covenants of KHD and Mass contained herein shall expire with, and be terminated and 
extinguished upon, the completion or termination of this Agreement, except for the provisions of Section 4.5, 4.6, 4.7, 4.8, Article 5 and 
Section 8.3 which shall survive as continuing covenants following the completion or termination of this Agreement. 

  

8.4   Solicitation 
  

    During the Initial Term and any Renewal Term, neither party shall directly solicit any employees of the other party without such party’s 
consent. 

  

8.5   Applicable Law 
  

    This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the Province of British Columbia and the federal laws 
of Canada applicable therein and shall be treated in all respects as a British Columbia contract. 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF each of the parties hereto has executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.  

KHD HUMBOLDT WEDAG INTERNATIONAL LTD.  

MASS FINANCIAL CORP.  

8.6   Binding Effect and Assignment 
  

    This Agreement and all the provisions hereof shall be binding upon and enure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective 
successors and permitted assigns. Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights hereunder or under the Restructuring Agreement shall be 
assigned by any of the parties hereto without the prior written consent of the other party hereto. 

  

8.7   Time of Essence 
  

    Time shall be of the essence of this Agreement. 
  

8.8   Counterparts 
  

    This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, and each signed copy sent by electronic 
facsimile transmission shall be deemed to be an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. 

  

8.9   Further Assurances 
  

    Each party shall make, do and execute, or cause to be made, done and executed all such further acts, deeds, agreements, transfers, 
assurances, instruments or documents as may be reasonably required in order to implement this Agreement. 

      
Per:   /s/ Michael J. Smith 
     Authorized Signatory 

      
Per:   /s/ Michael J. Smith 
     Authorized Signatory 



   

   

SCHEDULE A  

BANK SERVICES  

KHD’s and Mass’s respective functions and responsibilities include those (i) described in this Schedule, (ii) identified by charts or 
responsibility matrices, and (iii) not specifically described in this Schedule but required for proper performance and inherent in or necessary 
sub-tasks for the functions described (unless specifically excluded).  

The Bank Services shall include the following:  

(a)   advising KHD on investment strategies; 
  

(b)   identification of potential business opportunities for merchant bank activities; 
  

(c)   advising KHD on the financing structure for MFC Merchant Bank; 
  

(d)   providing support to MFC Merchant Bank, upon request of KHD, with the implementation of merchant bank transactions; 
  

(e)   analyzing business propositions submitted to KHD by MFC Merchant Bank; 
  

(f)   identification of co-financing partners for KHD and, upon request, for MFC Merchant Bank; 
  

(g)   offering to KHD and, upon request, to MFC Merchant Bank, general advisory capacities related to financial services; and 
  

(h)   such other services as may be agreed to by the parties from time to time. 



   

   

SCHEDULE B  

COMPENSATION  

   

 

1.   As compensation for providing the Bank Services, KHD shall pay to Mass, on the terms and conditions set out in the Agreement and 
amended by KHD and Mass from time to time, fifteen percent (15%) of the after tax profits (calculated accordingly to applicable banking 
laws of Switzerland). 

  

2.   As compensation for providing the Royalty Services, KHD shall pay to Mass, on the terms and conditions set out in the Agreement and 
amended by KHD and Mass from time to time, eight percent (8%) of the royalty income (net of all mining and related taxes) that Cade 
receives in connection with the Wabush Mine. 

  

3.   All compensation and reimbursements payable by KHD to Mass under this Agreement shall be paid by KHD to Mass within sixty (60) days 
of Mass rendering to KHD an invoice for such amounts. 





   

EXHIBIT 12.1 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO  
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

I, Michael J. Smith, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary of KHD Humboldt Wedag International Ltd., certify that:  

Date: March 31, 2006  

/s/ Michael J. Smith  
Michael J. Smith  
Chief Financial Officer and Secretary  
(Principal Financial Officer)  

 

1.   I have reviewed this annual report on Form 20-F of KHD Humboldt Wedag International Ltd.; 
  

2.   Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report; 

  

3.   Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the company as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

  

4.   The company’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the company and have: 

  (a)   Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to 
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

  

  (b)   Evaluated the effectiveness of the company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about 
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and 

  

  (c)   Disclosed in this report any change in the company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period 
covered by the annual report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the company’s internal control 
over financial reporting; and 

5.   The company’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the company’s auditors and the audit committee of the company’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions): 

  (a)   All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

  

  (b)   Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the company’s 
internal control over financial reporting. 





   

EXHIBIT 12.2 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO  
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

I, James B. Busche, President and Chief Executive Officer of KHD Humboldt Wedag International Ltd., certify that:  

Date: March 31, 2006  

/s/ James B. Busche  
James B. Busche  
President and Chief Executive Officer  
(Principal Executive Officer)  

 

1.   I have reviewed this annual report on Form 20-F of KHD Humboldt Wedag International Ltd.; 
  

2.   Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report; 

  

3.   Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the company as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

  

4.   The company’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the company and have: 

  (a)   Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to 
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

  

  (b)   Evaluated the effectiveness of the company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about 
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and 

  

  (c)   Disclosed in this report any change in the company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period 
covered by the annual report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the company’s internal control 
over financial reporting; and 

5.   The company’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the company’s auditors and the audit committee of the company’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions): 

  (a)   All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

  

  (b)   Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the company’s 
internal control over financial reporting. 





   

EXHIBIT 13.1 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO  
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO  

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

The undersigned, Michael J. Smith, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary of KHD Humboldt Wedag International Ltd., hereby certifies, 
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:  

Dated: March 31, 2006  

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting 
the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to 
KHD Humboldt Wedag International Ltd. and will be retained by KHD Humboldt Wedag International Ltd. and furnished to the Securities and 
Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.  

 

(1)   the annual report on Form 20-F of KHD Humboldt Wedag International Ltd. for the year ended December 31, 2005 (the “Report”) fully 
complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

  

(2)   the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of KHD 
Humboldt Wedag International Ltd. 

      
     /s/ Michael J. Smith 
     Michael J. Smith 
     Chief Financial Officer and Secretary 
     (Principal Financial Officer) 





   

EXHIBIT 13.2 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO  
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO  

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

The undersigned, James B. Busche, President and Chief Executive Officer of KHD Humboldt Wedag International Ltd., hereby certifies, 
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:  

Dated: March 31, 2006  

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting 
the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to 
KHD Humboldt Wedag International Ltd. and will be retained by KHD Humboldt Wedag International Ltd. and furnished to the Securities and 
Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.  

 

(1)   the annual report on Form 20-F of KHD Humboldt Wedag International Ltd. for the year ended December 31, 2005 (the “Report”) fully 
complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

  

(2)   the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of KHD 
Humboldt Wedag International Ltd. 

      
     /s/ James B. Busche 
     James B. Busche 
     President and Chief Executive Officer 
     (Principal Executive Officer) 





   

EXHIBIT 99.1 

KHD HUMBOLDT WEDAG INTERNATIONAL LTD.  
AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER  

The purpose of the Audit Committee (the “Committee”) is to:  

The Committee will primarily fulfill these responsibilities by carrying out the activities enumerated in Section VII below of this Charter.  

While the Committee has the responsibilities and powers set forth in this Charter, it is not the duty of the Committee to plan or conduct audits, 
or to determine that the Corporation’s financial statements are complete and accurate or are in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles, accounting standards, or applicable laws and regulations. This is the responsibility of management of the Corporation, the 
Corporation’s internal auditing department and the Corporation’s independent accountants. Because the primary function of the Committee is 
oversight, the Committee shall be entitled to rely on the expertise, skills and knowledge of management, the internal auditing department, and 
the Corporation’s independent accountants and the integrity and accuracy of information provided to the Committee by such persons in 
carrying out its oversight responsibilities. Nothing in this Charter is intended to change the responsibilities of management and the independent 
accountants.  

I.   Purpose of Audit Committee of KHD Humboldt Wedag International Ltd. (the “ Corporation” ) 

  1.   Assist the Board of Directors of the Corporation (the “Board” ) in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities relating to: 

  (a)   the quality and integrity of the Corporation’s financial statements, financial reporting process and systems of internal controls 
and disclosure controls regarding risk management, finance, accounting, and legal and regulatory compliance; 

  

  (b)   the independence and qualifications of the Corporation’s independent accountants and review of the audit efforts of the 
Corporation’s independent accountants and internal auditing department; and 

  

  (c)   the development and implementation of policies and processes regarding corporate governance matters. 

  2.   Provide an open avenue of communication between the internal auditing department, the independent accountants, the Corporation’s 
financial and senior management and the Board. 

  

  3.   Prepare the report required to be prepared by the Committee pursuant to the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the 
“SEC”) for inclusion in the Corporation’s annual proxy statement. 
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The Committee shall be composed of at least three directors, each of whom shall, in the judgment of the Board, meet (i) the independence 
requirements of Rule 10A-3 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “1934 Act”) and any other rules and regulations promulgated by the 
SEC thereunder; and (ii) the independence requirements of the rules of the Nasdaq Stock Market (the “Nasdaq Rules”) for audit committee 
members as in effect from time to time. One or more members of the Committee shall be, in the judgment of the Board, an “audit committee 
financial expert,” as such term is defined in Rule 309 of the 1934 Act and the rules and regulations promulgated by the SEC thereunder, and be 
able to read and understand fundamental financial statements, including the Corporation’s balance sheet, income statement, and cash flow 
statement as required by the Nasdaq rules.  

The Committee shall have the authority to (i) retain (at the Corporation’s expense) its own legal counsel, accountants and other consultants that 
the Committee believes, in its sole discretion, are needed to carry out its duties and responsibilities; (ii) conduct investigations that it believes, 
in its sole discretion, are necessary to carry out its responsibilities; and (iii) take whatever actions that it deems appropriate to foster an internal 
culture that is committed to maintaining quality financial reporting, sound business risk practices and ethical behaviour within the Corporation. 
In addition, the Committee shall have the authority to request any officer, director or employee of the Corporation, the Corporation’s outside 
legal counsel and the independent accountants to meet with the Committee and any of its advisors and to respond to their inquiries. The 
Committee shall have full access to the books, records and facilities of the Corporation in carrying out its responsibilities. Finally, the Board 
shall adopt resolutions which provide for appropriate funding, as determined by the Committee, for (i) services provided by the independent 
accountants in rendering or issuing an audit report, (ii) services provided by any adviser employed by the Committee which it believes, in its 
sole discretion, are needed to carry out its duties and responsibilities, or (iii) ordinary administrative expenses of the Committee that are 
necessary or appropriate in carrying out its duties and responsibilities.  

The Committee, in its capacity as a committee of the Board, is directly responsible for the appointment, compensation, retention and oversight 
of the work of the independent accountants engaged (including resolution of disagreements between the Corporation’s management and the 
independent accountants regarding financial reporting) for the purpose of preparing and issuing an audit report or performing other audit, 
review or attestation services for the Corporation.  

The independent accountants shall submit to the Corporation annually a formal written statement delineating all relationships between the 
independent accountants and the Corporation and its subsidiaries (the ''Statement as to Independence’’), addressing the non-audit services 
provided to the Corporation or its subsidiaries and the matters set forth in Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1.  

The independent accountants shall submit to the Corporation annually a formal written statement of the fees billed for each of the following 
categories of services rendered by the independent accountants: (i) the audit of the Corporation’s annual financial statements for the most 
recent  

II.   Composition 

III.   Authority 
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fiscal year and any reviews of the financial statements; (ii) information technology consulting services for the most recent fiscal year, in the 
aggregate and by each service (and separately identifying fees for such services relating to financial information systems design and 
implementation); and (iii) all other services rendered by the independent accountants for the most recent fiscal years, in the aggregate and by 
each service.  

The members of the Committee shall be appointed or re-appointed by the Board on an annual basis. Each member of the Committee shall 
continue to be a member thereof until such member’s successor is appointed, unless such member shall resign or be removed by the Board or 
such member shall cease to be a director of the Corporation. Where a vacancy occurs at any time in the membership of the Committee, it may 
be filled by the Board and shall be filled by the Board if the membership of the Committee is less than three directors as a result of the vacancy 
or the Committee no longer has a member who is an “audit committee financial expert” as a result of the vacancy.  

The Board, or in the event of its failure to do so, the members of the Committee, must appoint a Chairperson from the members of the 
Committee. If the Chairperson of the Committee is not present at any meeting of the Committee, an acting Chairperson for the meeting shall be 
chosen by majority vote of the Committee from among the members present. In the case of a deadlock on any matter or vote, the Chairperson 
shall refer the matter to the Board. The Committee shall also appoint a Secretary who need not be a director. All requests for information from 
the Corporation or the independent accountants shall be made through the Chairperson.  

The time and place of meetings of the Committee and the procedure at such meetings shall be determined from time to time by the members 
thereof provided that:  

While the Committee is expected to communicate regularly with management, the Committee shall exercise a high degree of independence in 
establishing its meeting agenda and in carrying out its responsibilities. The Committee shall submit the minutes of all meetings of the 
Committee to, or discuss the matters discussed at each Committee meeting with, the Board.  

IV.   Appointing Members 

V.   Chairperson 

VI.   Meetings 

  1.   A quorum for meetings shall be two members, present in person or by telephone or other telecommunication device that permit all 
persons participating in the meeting to speak and hear each other. 

  

  2.   The Committee shall meet at least quarterly (or more frequently as circumstances dictate). 
  

  3.   Notice of the time and place of every meeting shall be given in writing or facsimile communication to each member of the 
Committee and the external auditors of the Corporation at least 48 hours prior to the time of such meeting. 
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In meeting its responsibilities, the Committee is expected to:  

VII.   Specific Duties 

  1.   Select the independent accountants, considering independence and effectiveness, approve all audit and non-audit services in 
advance of the provision of such services and the fees and other compensation to be paid to the independent accountants, and 
oversee the services rendered by the independent accountants (including the resolution of disagreements between management and 
the independent accountants regarding preparation of financial statements) for the purpose of preparing or issuing an audit report or 
related work, and the independent accountants shall report directly to the Committee. 

  

  2.   Review the performance of the independent accountants, including the lead partner of the independent accountants, and, in its sole 
discretion, approve any proposed discharge of the independent accountants when circumstances warrant, and appoint any new 
independent accountants. 

  

  3.   Periodically review and discuss with the independent accountants all significant relationships the independent accountants have 
with the Corporation to determine the independence of the independent accountants, including a review of service fees for audit and 
non-audit services. 

  

  4.   Inquire of management, the internal auditing department and the independent accountants and evaluate the effectiveness of the 
Corporation’s process for assessing significant risks or exposures and the steps management has taken to monitor, control and 
minimize such risks to the Corporation. Obtain annually, in writing, the letters of the independent accountants as to the adequacy of 
such controls. 

  

  5.   Consider, in consultation with the independent accountants and the internal auditing department, the audit scope and plan of the 
independent accountants and internal auditing department. 

  

  6.   Review with the independent accountants the coordination of audit effort to assure completeness of coverage, and the effective use 
of audit resources. 

  

  7.   Consider and review with the independent accountants and internal auditing department, out of the presence of management: 

  (a)   the adequacy of the Corporation’s internal controls and disclosure controls including the adequacy of computerized 
information systems and security; 

  

  (b)   the truthfulness and accuracy of the Corporation’s financial statements; and 
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  (c)   any related significant findings and recommendations of the independent accountants and internal auditing department 
together with management’s responses thereto. 

  8.   Following completion of the annual audit, review with management, the independent accountants and the internal auditing 
department: 

  (a)   the Corporation’s annual financial statements and related footnotes; 
  

  (b)   the independent accountants’  audit of the financial statements and the report thereon; 
  

  (c)   any significant changes required in the independent accountants’  audit plan; and 
  

  (d)   other matters related to the conduct of the audit which are to be communicated to the committee under generally accepted 
auditing standards. 

  9.   Following completion of the annual audit, review separately with each of management, the independent accountants and the internal 
auditing department any significant difficulties encountered during the course of the audit, including any restrictions on the scope of 
work or access to required information. 

  

  10.   Establish regular and separate systems of reporting to the Committee by each of management, the independent accountants and 
internal auditing department regarding any significant judgments made in management’s preparation of the financial statements and 
the view of each as to appropriateness of such judgments. 

  

  11.   In consultation with the independent accountants, review any significant disagreement among management and the independent 
accountants in connection with the preparation of the financial statements, including management’s responses. 

  

  12.   Consider and review with management and the internal auditing department: 

  (a)   significant findings during the year and management’s responses thereto; 
  

  (b)   any changes required in the planned scope of their audit plan; 
  

  (c)   the internal auditing department budget and staffing; and 
  

  (d)   internal auditor’s compliance with the appropriate internal auditing standards. 

  13.   Review filings with the SEC and other published documents containing the Corporation’s financial statements, including any 
certification, report, opinion or review rendered by the independent accountants, or any press releases announcing 



   

- 6 -  

      earnings (especially the use of “pro forma” or “adjusted” information not prepared in compliance with generally accepted 
accounting principles) and all financial information and earnings guidance intended to be provided to analysts and the public or to 
rating agencies, and consider whether the information contained in these documents is consistent with the information contained in 
the financial statements. 

  

  14.   Review the regular internal reports to management prepared by the internal auditing department and management’s response. 
  

  15.   Prepare and include in the Corporation’s annual proxy statement or other filings of the SEC any report from the Committee or other 
disclosures as required by applicable laws and regulations. 

  

  16.   Review with management the adequacy of the insurance and fidelity bond coverages, reported contingent liabilities, and 
management’s assessment of contingency planning. Review management’s plans regarding any changes in accounting practices or 
policies and the financial impact of such changes, any major areas in management’s judgment that have a significant effect upon the 
financial statements of the Corporation, and any litigation or claim, including tax assessments, that could have a material effect 
upon the financial position or operating results of the Corporation. 

  

  17.   Review with management, the internal auditing department and the independent accountants, each annual, quarterly and other 
periodic report prior to its filing with the SEC or other regulators or prior to the release of earnings. 

  

  18.   Review policies and procedures with respect to officers’ expense accounts and prerequisites, including their use of corporate assets, 
and consider the results of any review of these areas by the internal auditing department and the independent accountants. 

  

  19.   Establish, review and update periodically a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for employees, officers and directors of the 
Corporation and ensure that management has established a system to enforce this Code of Business Conduct and Ethics. 

  

  20.   Review management’s monitoring of the Corporation’s compliance with the Corporation’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics. 
  

  21.   Review, with the Corporation’s counsel, any legal, tax or regulatory matter that may have a material impact on the Corporation’s 
financial statements, operations, related Corporation compliance policies, and programs and reports received from regulators. 

  

  22.   Evaluate and review with management the Corporation’s guidelines and policies governing the process of risk assessment and risk 
management. 
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  23.   Consider questions of possible conflicts of interest of Board members and of the corporate officers and approve in advance all 
related party transactions. 

  

  24.   Provide advice on changes in Board compensation. 
  

  25.   Meet with the independent accountants, internal auditing department and management in separate executive sessions to discuss any 
matters that the Committee or these groups believe should be discussed privately with the Committee. 

  

  26.   Report Committee actions to the Board with such recommendations as the Committee may deem appropriate. 
  

  27.   Maintain, review and update the procedures for (i) the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by the Corporation 
regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters and (ii) the confidential, anonymous submission by 
employees of the Corporation of concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters, as set forth in Annex A attached 
to this Charter. 

  

  28.   Review and update this Charter periodically and recommend any proposed changes to the Board for approval, in accordance with 
the requirements of the 1934 Act and Nasdaq Rules. 

  

  29.   Perform such other functions consistent with this Charter, the Corporation’s Articles and governing law, as the Committee deems 
necessary or appropriate. 



   

ANNEX A  
PROCEDURES FOR THE SUBMISSION OF  

COMPLAINTS AND CONCERNS REGARDING  
ACCOUNTING, INTERNAL ACCOUNTING CONTROLS OR  

AUDITING MATTERS  

KHD Humboldt Wedag International Ltd.  
c/o Audit Committee  
Attn: Chairperson  
Suite 1620 — 400 Burrard Street  
Vancouver, BC  
Canada V6C 3A6  

   

1.   KHD Humboldt Wedag International Ltd. (the “Corporation”) has designated its Audit Committee of its Board of Directors (the 
“Committee”) to be responsible for administering these procedures for the receipt, retention, and treatment of complaints received by the 
Corporation or the Committee directly regarding accounting, internal accounting controls, or auditing matters. 

  

2.   Any employee of the Corporation may on a confidential and anonymous basis submit concerns regarding questionable accounting 
controls or auditing matters to the Committee by setting forth such concerns in a letter addressed directly to the Committee with a legend 
on the envelope such as “Confidential” or “To be opened by Committee only”. If an employee would like to discuss the matter directly 
with a member of the Committee, the employee should include a return telephone number in his or her submission to the Committee at 
which he or she can be contacted. All submissions by letter to the Committee can be sent to: 

3.   Any complaints received by the Corporation that are submitted as set forth herein will be forwarded directly to the Committee and will be 
treated as confidential if so indicated. 

  

4.   At each meeting of the Committee, or any special meetings called by the Chairperson of the Committee, the members of the Committee 
will review and consider any complaints or concerns submitted by employees as set forth herein and take any action it deems necessary in 
order to respond thereto. 

  

5.   All complaints and concerns submitted as set forth herein will be retained by the Committee for a period of seven (7) years. 


